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PART I

ITEM 1.     BUSINESS
 
General
Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity", "we", "us", "our") is a publicly held Pennsylvania business corporation that has since its incorporation in 1925
served as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Erie Insurance Exchange ("Exchange").  The Exchange, which also commenced
business in 1925, is a Pennsylvania-domiciled reciprocal insurer that writes property and casualty insurance. The Exchange has wholly owned property and
casualty subsidiaries including: Erie Insurance Company, Erie Insurance Company of New York, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company and
Flagship City Insurance Company, and a wholly owned life insurance company, Erie Family Life Insurance Company ("EFL").

Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange. We also act as
attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to all claims handling and investment management services, as well as the service
provider for all claims handling, life insurance, and investment management services for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, collectively referred to as
"administrative services". Acting as attorney-in-fact in these two capacities is done in accordance with a subscriber's agreement (a limited power of
attorney) executed individually by each subscriber (policyholder), which appoints Indemnity as each subscriber's attorney-in-fact to transact certain
business on their behalf.  In accordance with the subscriber’s agreement for acting as attorney-in-fact in these two capacities, we retain a management fee
calculated as a percentage, not to exceed 25%, of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. The management fee rate is set at
least annually by our Board of Directors. The process of setting the management fee rate includes, but is not limited to, the evaluation of current year
operating results compared to both prior year and industry estimated results for both Indemnity and the Exchange, and consideration of several factors for
both entities including, but not limited to: their relative financial strength and capital position; projected revenue, expense and earnings for the subsequent
year; future capital needs; as well as competitive position.

Services
The policy issuance and renewal services we provide on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange are related to the sales, underwriting and issuance of
policies. The sales related services we provide include agent compensation and certain sales and advertising support services. Agent compensation includes
scheduled commissions to agents based upon premiums written as well as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving targeted measures. Agent
compensation comprised approximately 67% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The underwriting services we provide include
underwriting and policy processing and comprised approximately 9% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The remaining services we
provide include customer service and administrative support. We also provide information technology services that support all the functions listed above
that comprised approximately 11% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments
that support these policy issuance and renewal functions.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual
relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with
respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these
services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the
claims process, including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include costs
incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to investment trading activity,
accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support
these administrative functions. The subscriber's agreement and service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to
Indemnity.  Reimbursements are settled at cost. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be
approved in advance by the state insurance department.

Erie Insurance Exchange
As our primary purpose is to manage the affairs at the Exchange for the benefit of the subscribers (policyholders) through the policy issuance and renewal
services and administrative services, the Exchange is our sole customer. Our earnings are largely generated from management fees based on the direct and
affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. We have no direct competition in providing these services to the Exchange.

The Exchange generates revenue by insuring preferred and standard risks, with personal lines comprising 70% of the 2023 direct and affiliated assumed
written premiums and commercial lines comprising the remaining 30%.  The principal personal

3



Table of Contents

lines products are private passenger automobile and homeowners.  The principal commercial lines products are commercial multi-peril, commercial
automobile and workers compensation. Historically, due to policy renewal and sales patterns, the Exchange's direct and affiliated assumed written
premiums tend to be greater in the second and third quarters than in the first and fourth quarters of the calendar year.

The Exchange is represented by independent agencies that serve as its sole distribution channel.  In addition to their principal role as salespersons, the
independent agents play a significant role as underwriting and service providers and are an integral part of the Exchange's success.

Our results of operations are tied to the growth and financial condition of the Exchange. If any events occurred that impaired the Exchange's ability to grow
or sustain its financial condition, including but not limited to reduced financial strength ratings, disruption in the independent agency relationships,
significant catastrophe losses, or products not meeting customer demands, the Exchange could find it more difficult to retain its existing business and
attract new business. A decline in the business of the Exchange almost certainly could have as a consequence a decline in the total premiums paid and a
correspondingly adverse effect on the amount of the management fees we receive. We also have an exposure to a concentration of credit risk related to the
unsecured receivables due from the Exchange for net management fee and other reimbursements. See Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data - Note 15, Concentrations of Credit Risk, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within this report. See the risk factors related to
our dependency on the growth and financial condition of the Exchange in Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained within this report.

Competition
Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange. We also act as
attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to all
administrative services. There are a limited number of companies that provide services under a reciprocal insurance exchange structure. We do not directly
compete against other such companies, given we are appointed by the subscribers at the Exchange to provide these services.

The direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange drive our management fee, which is our primary source of revenue. The property and
casualty insurance industry is highly competitive. Property and casualty insurers generally compete on the basis of customer service, price, consumer
recognition, coverages offered, claims handling, financial stability and geographic coverage. Vigorous competition, particularly in the personal lines
automobile and homeowners lines of business, exists from large, well-capitalized national companies, some of which have broad distribution networks of
employed or captive agents, by smaller regional insurers, and by large companies who market and sell personal lines products directly to consumers.
Innovations by competitors or other market participants may also increase the level of competition in the industry. In addition, because the insurance
products of the Exchange are marketed exclusively through independent insurance agents, the Exchange faces competition within its appointed agencies
based upon ease of doing business, product, price, and service relationships.

Market competition bears directly on the price charged for insurance products and services subject to regulatory limitations. Industry capital levels can also
significantly affect prices charged for coverage. Growth is driven by a company's ability to provide insurance services and competitive prices while
maintaining target profit margins. Growth is a product of a company's ability to retain existing customers and to attract new customers, as well as
movement in the average premium per policy.

The Exchange's business model is designed to provide the advantages of localized marketing and claims servicing with the economies of scale and low cost
of operations from centralized support services. Indemnity, as part of its role managing and conducting the business and affairs of the Exchange, also
carefully selects the independent agencies that represent the Exchange, which seeks to be the lead insurer with its agents in order to enhance the agency
relationship and the likelihood of receiving the most desirable underwriting opportunities from its agents.

The Exchange’s strategic focus as a reciprocal insurer is to employ a disciplined underwriting philosophy and to leverage its strong surplus position to
generate higher risk adjusted investment returns. The goal is to produce acceptable returns, on a long-term basis, through careful risk selection, appropriate
pricing and superior investment returns. This focus allows the Exchange to accomplish its mission of providing as near perfect protection, as near perfect
service as is humanly possible at the lowest possible cost.

See the risk factors related to our dependency on the growth and financial condition of the Exchange in Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained within this
report for further discussion on competition in the insurance industry.
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Human Capital Management
Employee Value Proposition
Our human capital management strategy, including initiatives to shape our workforce and workplace, is designed to attract, retain, and develop talent to
ensure we are well positioned for the future. Our partnership with our employees is one of the cornerstones of our success.

Our employee value proposition includes a culture that focuses on physical, financial, and emotional well-being. In 2023, we were Certified™ by Great
Place To Work® for our positive employee experience. We offer competitive pay with a signature and affordable benefits package including options
designed to meet the unique needs of our employees and their families. Employees have access to an employee assistance plan, emergency child and elder
care providers, adoption assistance, and infertility assistance, among others. We hold a shared responsibility view of retirement planning whereby we
provide tools and resources that employees are expected to use to achieve their retirement goals. We set ourselves apart by offering both a 401(k) savings
plan and a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan. We encourage a work/life balance for all employees and recognize the need for employee
flexibility by offering an allowance of remote work days to use throughout the year.

An engaged workforce is necessary for accomplishing organizational objectives and our portfolio of employee experience initiatives demonstrates our
commitment to provide employees an engaging environment throughout all stages of their careers. We offer professional development opportunities that
are designed to prepare employees for future career growth. Employees have access to skills enhancement training and programs as well as a generous
tuition reimbursement program for higher education. We also grow and develop our employees by offering talent mobility opportunities such as expanded
leadership experience, job shadowing, cross-training, stretch assignments, and formal career development programs.

Our employees also share in our values to give back and make a positive difference in their communities. We offer a volunteer program that provides
employees with an allotment of paid hours annually to volunteer with eligible nonprofit organizations. We also offer a matching gifts program for donations
to eligible nonprofit organizations.

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion
Diversity, equity, and inclusion ("DEI") is integral to our business success. Our DEI efforts are led by a Chief Diversity Officer who reports directly to the
Chief Executive Officer, affirming our commitment to DEI from executive leadership. These efforts are further supported by a dedicated team of
professionals including a Vice President of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion.
We recognize the importance of diverse backgrounds and experiences. Our recruiting strategy includes access to multiple talent channels. We work to
expand our pool of potential talent to include an array of skills, backgrounds, and experiences. We also offer a Future Focus internship program that
provides opportunities for college students to gain relevant and real-world business experience in the insurance industry as well as an apprentice program to
create a bridge for talent from high schools and community colleges into our workforce. We are also intentional about leveraging talent from the neuro
diverse population, engaging individuals to support various enterprise initiatives.
We foster an inclusive workplace through the endorsement of nine affinity networks and five business resource groups. Affinity networks are employee-
driven groups that focus on particular dimensions of diversity and are designed to foster greater awareness and a culture of inclusion. In support of our
recruiting strategy, members of these networks engage with various colleges and universities throughout the country, including Historically Black Colleges
and Universities. Business resource groups address business issues using a DEI lens. Through these groups, we are taking a broader approach to problem-
solving and innovation by aligning cross-functional teams of employees to our business strategy.
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Workforce Metrics
We used the following human capital metrics as part of managing our business for the years ended December 31:

2023 2022 2021
Workforce size

Full-time 6,481  5,970  5,805 
Part-time 24  23  30 
Temporary 51  45  41 

Turnover 9.0 % 11.2 % 8.0 %
Voluntary 4.8 % 6.9 % 4.8 %
Retirements 2.8 % 3.6 % 2.2 %

Average tenure 10.4  11.7  12.6 

(1) Includes 50% of employees who provide claims and life insurance management services exclusively for the Exchange and its subsidiaries for all periods presented. The Exchange and its
subsidiaries reimburse us monthly for the cost of these services.

(2) Temporary employees are hired for short-term work and paid directly by us.
(3) Turnover is calculated using the number of employees who exited, divided by the average headcount of the period and represents the percentage of employees who left voluntarily or

involuntarily, including retirements.
(4) Average tenure is calculated using the total number of years of employment, divided by average headcount of full-time and part-time employees for the period and represents the average

number of years employees have been employed with the organization.

The largest portion of our turnover continues to be voluntary turnover, excluding retirements, and remains lower than industry benchmark data.  We
continue to monitor turnover trends to determine the appropriate actions to ensure we are well positioned for the future.

Government Regulation
Most states have enacted legislation that regulates insurance holding company systems, defined as two or more affiliated persons, one or more of which is
an insurer. Indemnity and the Exchange, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, meet the definition of an insurance holding company system.

Each insurance company in the holding company system is required to register with the insurance supervisory authority of its state of domicile and furnish
information regarding the operations of companies within the holding company system that may materially affect the operations, management, or financial
condition of the insurers within the system.  Pursuant to these laws, the respective insurance departments may examine us and the Exchange and its wholly
owned subsidiaries at any time, and may require disclosure and/or prior approval of certain transactions with the insurers and us, as an insurance holding
company.

All transactions within a holding company system affecting the member insurers of the holding company system must be fair and reasonable and any
charges or fees for services performed must be reasonable.  Approval by the applicable insurance commissioner is required prior to the consummation of
transactions affecting the members within a holding company system. 

Website Access
Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports are available free of
charge on our website at www.erieinsurance.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is filed electronically with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.  Additionally, copies of our annual report on Form 10-K are available free of charge, upon written request, by contacting Investor
Relations, Erie Indemnity Company, 100 Erie Insurance Place, Erie, PA 16530, or calling (800) 458-0811.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
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ITEM 1A.     RISK FACTORS

Our business involves various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to those discussed in this section. The risks and uncertainties described in
the risk factors below, or any additional risk outside of those discussed below, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
operating results, cash flows, or liquidity if they were to develop into actual events. This information should be considered carefully together with the other
information contained in this report and in other reports and materials we file periodically with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our risks have been divided into the following categories:

Risks related to Erie Insurance Exchange – risks related to our dependence on our relationship with the Exchange associated with management fees,
premium growth, and financial condition, as the Exchange is our sole customer and principal source of revenue

Operating risks – risks stemming from events or circumstances that directly or indirectly affect our operations, including our operations as attorney-in-fact
for the subscribers at the Exchange

Market, Capital, and Liquidity risks – risks that may impact the values or results of our investment portfolio, ability to meet financial obligations or
covenants, or obtain capital as necessary

Although we have organized risks generally according to these categories in the discussion below, risks may have impacts in more than one category and
are included where the impact is most significant.

Risks related to Erie Insurance Exchange

If the management fee rate retained by Indemnity is reduced or if there is a significant decrease in the amount of direct and affiliated assumed premiums
written by the Exchange, revenues and profitability could be materially adversely affected.

We are dependent upon management fees we retain, which represent our principal source of revenue. In accordance with the subscriber's agreement with
the subscribers at the Exchange, we may retain up to 25% of all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. Therefore, management
fee revenue from the Exchange is calculated by multiplying the management fee rate by the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the
Exchange. Accordingly, any reduction in direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange and/or the management fee rate could have a
negative effect on our revenues and net income.

The management fee rate is determined by our Board of Directors and may not exceed 25% of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the
Exchange. The Board of Directors sets the management fee rate each December for the following year. At their discretion, the rate can be changed at any
time. The process of setting the management fee rate includes, but is not limited to, the evaluation of current year operating results compared to both prior
year and industry estimated results for both Indemnity and the Exchange, and consideration of several factors for both entities including, but not limited to:
their relative financial strength and capital position; projected revenue, expense and earnings for the subsequent year; future capital needs; as well as
competitive position. The evaluation of these factors could result in a reduction to the management fee rate and our revenues and profitability could be
materially adversely affected.

Serving as the attorney-in-fact for subscribers in the reciprocal insurance exchange structure with the Exchange being our sole customer, the growth of the
Exchange could directly affect our operating revenue, which is largely generated from management fees based on the direct and affiliated assumed
premiums written by the Exchange. If the Exchange's ability to grow or renew policies were adversely impacted, the premium revenue of the Exchange
could be adversely affected, which could reduce our management fee revenue. The circumstances or events that might impair the Exchange's ability to
grow include, but are not limited to, the items discussed below.

Unfavorable changes in macroeconomic conditions for any reason, including declining consumer confidence, inflation, high unemployment, lower demand
for certain services, reduced personal income, and recession, among others, may lead the Exchange's customers to modify coverage, not renew policies, or
even cancel policies, which could adversely affect the premium revenue of the Exchange, and consequently our management fee.

The Exchange faces significant competition from other regional and national insurance companies. The property and casualty insurance industry is highly
competitive on the basis of product, price and service. If the Exchange's competitors offer property and casualty products with more coverage, offer lower
rates, or introduce innovative services in response to evolving customer
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preferences, and the Exchange is unable to implement product or service improvements quickly enough to keep pace, its ability to grow and renew its
business may be adversely impacted. In addition, due to the Exchange's premium concentration in the automobile and homeowners insurance markets, it
may be more sensitive to trends that could affect auto and home insurance coverages and rates over time, for example changing vehicle types or usage,
usage-based methods of determining premiums, ownership and driving patterns such as ride sharing or remote work, advancements in vehicle or home
technology or safety features such as accident and loss prevention technologies, the development of autonomous vehicles, or residential occupancy
patterns, among other factors. Innovations, including the use of artificial intelligence and machine learning to support underwriting or other decisions, by
competitors or other market participants may increase the level of competition in the industry. If the Exchange fails to respond to those innovations on a
timely basis, its competitive position and results may be materially adversely affected.

The Exchange markets and sells its insurance products through independent, non-exclusive insurance agencies. These agencies are not obligated to sell
only the Exchange's insurance products, and generally also sell products of the Exchange's competitors. If agencies do not maintain their current levels of
marketing efforts, bind the Exchange to unacceptable risks, place business with competing insurers, or if the Exchange is unsuccessful in attracting or
retaining agencies in its distribution system or maintaining its relationships with those agencies, the Exchange's ability to grow and renew its business may
be adversely impacted. More broadly, if independent agents face challenges sustaining their own business operations due to unfavorable economic
conditions or staffing constraints, it could result in the sale or closure of their businesses, thereby reducing the agency force of the Exchange. Additionally,
shifting consumer behaviors toward increased digital interactions may cause the insurance industry as a whole to migrate to a delivery system other than
independent agencies.

The Exchange maintains a brand recognized for customer service, which is the result of Indemnity's management of the Exchange in accordance with the
subscriber's agreement. The perceived performance, actions, conduct and behaviors of employees, independent insurance agency representatives, and third-
party service providers may result in reputational harm to the Exchange's brand. Specific incidents which may cause harm include but are not limited to
disputes, long customer wait times, errors in processing a claim, failure to protect sensitive customer data, and negative or inaccurate social media or
traditional media communications. Likewise, an inability to match or exceed the service provided by competitors, who are increasingly relying on digital
delivery and enhanced distribution technology, may impede the Exchange’s ability to maintain and/or grow its customer base. If an extreme catastrophic
event were to occur in a heavily concentrated geographic area of subscribers/policyholders, an extraordinarily high number of claims could have the
potential to strain claims processing and affect the Exchange's ability to service its customers. If third-party service providers fail to perform as anticipated,
the Exchange may experience operational difficulties, increased costs, and reputational damage. Similarly, the Exchange’s brand could be tarnished by
reactions to business practices, adverse financial developments, perceptions of our corporate governance, how we address employee matters and concerns,
environmental, social and governance (ESG) initiatives, or the conduct of our employees, officers and directors. Failure to satisfy expectations in these
areas may result in negative publicity or other adverse outcomes, which could be aggravated as the expectations of consumers, regulators and other
stakeholders evolve and as social media and other forms of modern communication rapidly magnify reactions. Any reputational harm to the Exchange
could have the potential to impair its ability to grow and renew its business.

As the attorney-in-fact for subscribers in the reciprocal insurance exchange structure with the Exchange as our sole customer, we are dependent on the
financial condition of the Exchange. If the Exchange were to fail to maintain acceptable financial strength ratings, its competitive position in the insurance
industry could be adversely affected. If a rating downgrade led to customers not renewing or canceling policies, or impacted the Exchange's ability to
attract new customers, the premium revenue of the Exchange could be adversely affected, which could reduce our management fee revenue. The
circumstances or events that might impair the Exchange's financial condition include, but are not limited to, the items discussed below.

Financial strength ratings are an important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies such as the Exchange. Higher ratings
generally indicate greater financial stability and a stronger ability to meet ongoing obligations to policyholders. The Exchange's A.M. Best rating is
currently A+ ("Superior"). A.M. Best periodically reviews the Exchange’s ratings and changes their rating criteria; therefore, the Exchange's current rating
may not be maintained in the future. A significant downgrade in the A.M. Best rating could reduce the competitive position of the Exchange, making it
more difficult to attract profitable business in the highly competitive property and casualty insurance market and potentially result in reduced sales of its
products and lower premium revenue.

The performance of the Exchange's investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investment risks. The Exchange's investment portfolio is comprised
principally of fixed income securities, equity securities and limited partnerships. The fixed income portfolio is subject to a number of risks including, but
not limited to, interest rate risk, investment credit risk, sector/concentration risk and liquidity risk. The Exchange's common stock and preferred equity
securities have exposure to price risk, the risk of potential loss in estimated fair value resulting from an adverse change in prices. Limited partnerships are
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significantly less liquid and generally involve higher degrees of price risk than publicly traded securities. Limited partnerships, like publicly traded
securities, have exposure to market volatility; but unlike fixed income securities, cash flows and return expectations are less predictable. Additionally, a
portion of the Exchange’s common stock and limited partnership portfolios are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk, or the potential loss in estimated fair
value resulting from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates. If any investments in the Exchange's investment portfolio were to suffer a
substantial decrease in value, the Exchange's financial position could be materially adversely affected through increased unrealized losses or impairments.
A significant decrease in the Exchange's portfolio could also put it, or its subsidiaries, at risk of failing to satisfy regulatory or rating agency minimum
capital requirements.

Property and casualty insurers are subject to extensive regulatory supervision in the states in which they do business. This regulatory oversight includes, by
way of example, matters relating to licensing, examination, rate setting, market conduct, policy forms, limitations on the nature and amount of certain
investments, claims practices, mandated participation in involuntary markets and guaranty funds, reserve adequacy, insurer solvency, restrictions on
underwriting standards, accounting standards, transactions between affiliates, risk management, cybersecurity and data privacy, and ESG practices. Such
regulation and supervision are primarily for the benefit and protection of policyholders. Changes in applicable insurance laws, tax statutes, cyber, privacy,
and other laws and regulations, or changes in the way regulators administer those laws, tax statutes, or regulations could adversely impact the Exchange's
business, cash flows, results of operations, financial condition, or operating environment and increase its exposure to loss or put it at a competitive
disadvantage, which could result in reduced sales of its products and lower premium revenue.

Property and casualty insurers face a significant risk of litigation and state and federal regulatory investigations, inquiries and actions in the ordinary course
of operating their businesses, including the risk of class action lawsuits. The Exchange and its subsidiaries have also been named as defendants in a number
of pandemic-related lawsuits and, therefore, are subject to the risks and uncertainties of such litigation. Plaintiffs in class action and other lawsuits against
the Exchange may seek large or indeterminate amounts of damages, including punitive and treble damages, which may remain unknown for substantial
periods of time.

The uncertainty of risks that emerge upon the occurrence of significant unexpected events, such as pandemics, or unexpected economic or social inflation
caused by supply chain issues, societal trends, or otherwise, may cause additional challenges in the process of estimating loss and loss adjustment expense
reserves or premiums to accommodate future claims and expenses. For example, the behavior of claimants and policyholders and the timing and amounts
of claims settlements may change in unexpected ways. Furthermore, actions taken by governmental bodies, both legislative and regulatory, in reaction to
significant unexpected events, and their related impacts, are hard to predict. Technology advancements, such as electric and autonomous vehicles, could
impact frequency or severity of losses. The models that are used to determine appropriate premium levels, forecast future losses and expenses, estimate loss
and loss adjustment expense reserves, and assess financial strength may be created or deployed in a manner that results in inaccurate predictions. This may
result in changes to the Exchange's estimated level of loss and loss adjustment expense reserves or impact the adequacy of premiums to accommodate
future claims and expenses.

As insurance industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other environmental conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims
and coverage may emerge. In some instances, these emerging issues may not become apparent for some time after the Exchange has issued the affected
insurance policies. As a result, the full extent of liability under the Exchange's insurance policies may not be known for many years after the policies are
issued. These issues may adversely affect the Exchange's business by either extending coverage beyond its underwriting intent or by increasing the number
or size of claims. If there were legislative action in response to a pandemic or other significant unexpected event that retroactively mandated coverage
irrespective of terms, exclusions or other conditions included in policies, such as business interruption, that would otherwise preclude coverage, it could
have a material impact on the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Exchange.

The Exchange's insurance operations are exposed to claims arising out of catastrophes. Common natural catastrophic events include hurricanes,
earthquakes, tornadoes, hail storms, and severe winter weather. The frequency and severity of these catastrophes is inherently unpredictable. Changing
climate conditions have added to the unpredictability of the frequency and severity of natural disasters and have created additional uncertainty as to future
trends and exposures. A single catastrophic occurrence or aggregation of multiple smaller occurrences within the geographical region of the Exchange or its
assumed property reinsurance portfolio could adversely affect the financial condition of the Exchange. Man-made disasters such as terrorist attacks and
riots could also cause losses from insurance claims related to the property and casualty insurance operations, which could adversely affect its financial
condition.
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Operating risks

If the costs of providing services to the Exchange are not controlled, our profitability could be materially adversely affected.

In accordance with the subscriber's agreement, we perform policy issuance and renewal services for the subscribers at the Exchange and we serve as the
attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to administrative services. The most significant costs we incur in providing policy
issuance and renewal services are commissions, employee costs, and technology costs.

Commissions to independent agents are our largest expense. Commissions include scheduled commissions to agents based upon premiums written as well
as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving certain targeted measures. Changes to commission rates or incentive programs may result in
increased future costs and lower profitability. Our agent incentive compensation includes a profitability component. If claims frequency and loss expenses
were to decrease significantly as a result of an unexpected event, such as a pandemic, the profitability component of our agent incentive compensation
would improve, and our agent compensation costs would increase. Our second largest expense is employee costs, including salaries, healthcare, pension,
and other benefit costs. Regulatory developments, provider relationships, pandemics and demographic and economic factors that are beyond our control,
such as inflation, are indicators that employee costs could increase, which could reduce our profitability. The defined benefit pension plan we offer to our
employees is affected by variable factors such as the interest rate used to discount pension liabilities, asset performance, and changes in retirement patterns,
which are beyond our control, and any related future cost increases could reduce our profitability.

Technological development is necessary to facilitate ease of doing business for employees, agents, and customers. Our technological developments are
focused on simplifying and improving the employee, agent, and customer experiences, increasing efficiencies, redesigning products, and addressing other
potentially disruptive changes in the insurance industry, including the use of artificial intelligence. As we continue to develop technology initiatives in
order to remain competitive, our profitability could be negatively impacted as we invest in system development.

If we are unable to attract, develop, and retain talented executives, key managers, and employees our financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

Our success is largely dependent upon our ability to attract and retain talented executives and other key management. Talent is defined as people with the
right skills, knowledge, abilities, character, and motivation. The loss of the services and leadership of certain key officers and the failure to plan for
turnover or retirement or to attract and develop talented new executives and managers could prevent us from successfully communicating, implementing,
and executing business strategies.

Our success also depends on our ability to attract, develop, and retain a talented employee base. The inability to staff all functions of our business with
employees possessing the appropriate talent could have an adverse effect on our business performance. Additionally, failure to recognize, evaluate, and
respond to changing workforce trends including current labor market conditions and new ways of managing in hybrid work environments, or failure to
execute proactive retention and replacement strategies could also have an adverse effect on our business performance. Furthermore, failure to instill
appropriate cultural expectations and behavioral norms within our employees, particularly in a hybrid work environment, could damage our reputation.
Staffing appropriately talented employees for the handling of claims and servicing of customers, rendering of disciplined underwriting, and effective sales
and marketing are critical to the core functions of our business. In addition, talented employees in the actuarial, finance, human resources, information
technology, law, and risk management areas are also essential to support our core functions.

If we are unable to effectively maintain system availability or manage technology initiatives, we may experience adverse financial consequences and/or
may be unable to compete effectively.

Our business is highly dependent upon the effectiveness of our technology and information systems which support key functions of our core business
operations, including processing applications and premium payments, providing customer support, performing actuarial and financial analysis, and
maintaining key data. Additionally, the Exchange relies heavily on technology systems for processing claims. In order to support our business processes
and strategic initiatives in a cost and resource efficient manner, we must maintain the effectiveness of existing technology systems and continue to identify
and develop new, and enhance existing, technology systems. As we invest in the development of our systems, costs and completion times could exceed
original estimates, and/or the project may not deliver the anticipated benefit or perform as expected. If we do not effectively and efficiently manage and
upgrade our technology systems, or attract and retain qualified information technology employees and contract personnel to support those systems, our
ability to serve our customers and implement our strategic initiatives could be adversely impacted.

10



Table of Contents

Additionally, we depend on a large amount of data to price policies appropriately, track exposures, perform financial analysis, report to regulatory bodies,
and ultimately make business decisions. Should this data be inaccurate or insufficient, risk exposure may be underestimated and/or poor business decisions
may be made. This may in turn lead to adverse operational or financial performance and adverse customer or investor confidence.

If we experience difficulties with technology, data and network security, including those that could result from cyber attacks, third-party relationships or
cloud-based relationships, our ability to conduct our business could be adversely impacted.

In the normal course of business, we collect, use, store and where appropriate, disclose data concerning individuals and businesses. We also conduct
business using third parties who may provide software, data storage, cloud-based computing and other technology services. We have on occasion
experienced, and will continue to experience, cyber threats to our data and systems. Cyber threats can create significant risks such as destruction of systems
or data, denial or interruption of service, disruption of transaction execution, loss or exposure of customer data, theft or exposure of our intellectual
property, theft of funds or disruption of other important business functions. Even with appropriate governance and controls, the use of artificial intelligence
may increase our exposure to cyber threats. Our interactions with, and reliance upon, third parties may also expose us to increased risk related to data
security, service disruptions or effectiveness of our control system, particularly as we increase our reliance on cloud-based computing and software-as-a-
service from third parties to operate our business.

In addition, we are subject to numerous federal and state laws relating to the privacy and security of nonpublic personal information and other sensitive
information of our customers, employees and others. The improper access, disclosure, misuse or mishandling of such information could result in legal
liability, regulatory action and reputational damage. Third parties on whom we rely for certain business processing functions are also subject to these risks,
and their failure to adhere to these laws and regulations could negatively impact us.

The number, complexity, and sophistication of cyber threats continue to increase over time. While we maintain cyber liability insurance to mitigate the
financial risk around cyber incidents, such insurance may not cover all costs associated with the consequences of information or systems being
compromised, and such insurance may become prohibitively expensive to maintain. Additionally, while we have dedicated resources with security incident
response capabilities, our response process may not be adequate, may fail to accurately assess the severity of an incident, may not respond quickly enough
or may fail to sufficiently remediate an incident. Similarly, if our third-party service providers experience a cyber incident, they may fail to report, or timely
report, the incident to us. As a result, we may suffer significant legal, reputational, or financial losses, which could adversely affect our business, cash
flows, financial condition or results of operations.

If events occurred causing interruption of our operations, facilities, systems or business functions, it could have a material adverse effect on our operations
and financial results.

We have established business continuity and disaster recovery plans to provide for the continuation of core business operations in the event that normal
business operations could not be performed due to catastrophic or other events, including pandemics. While we continue to test and assess our business
continuity and disaster recovery plans to validate they meet the needs of our core business operations and address multiple business interruption events,
there is no assurance that core business operations could be performed upon the occurrence of such an event. Employee absence, physical premises
damage, systems failures or outages could compromise our ability to perform our business functions in a timely manner, which could harm our ability to
conduct business and hurt our business and customer relationships. Our operational resiliency is also dependent on third-party personnel, infrastructure and
systems on which we rely, including cloud-based technologies and software-as-a-service applications. Our operations and those of our third parties may
become vulnerable to damage or disruption due to circumstances beyond our or their control, such as from catastrophic events, power anomalies or
outages, natural disasters, pandemics, supply chain interruptions, network failures, and cyber attacks. Additionally, we are dependent on internet and
telecommunications access and capabilities. Our workforce is largely concentrated in Erie, Pennsylvania. If a significant event affects the labor force in this
area, it could impact the policy acquisition, underwriting, claims and/or support services provided to the policyholders and/or independent agents of the
Exchange. Disruptions to our workforce or our operations for any reason could result in a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial
condition, or results of operations.

We are subject to applicable insurance laws, tax statutes, and numerous other federal and state laws and regulations, as well as claims and legal
proceedings, which, if determined unfavorably, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

Our activities are subject to extensive regulation under federal and state laws on matters as diverse as internal control over financial reporting and
disclosure controls, securities regulation, data privacy and protection, cybersecurity, taxation, immigration, wage-and-hour standards and employment and
labor relations. These laws and regulations are complex and
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evolving, and compliance with these laws requires significant resources. In some cases, these laws and regulations may increase our costs, negatively
impact revenues, or impose operational limitations on our business. Further, there can be no assurance that we, our third-party service providers and our
independent agents are in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations at all times. Efforts at compliance with all laws and regulations are
further complicated by new and evolving regulations regarding cybersecurity, artificial intelligence and ESG matters.

We face a significant risk of litigation and regulatory investigations and actions in the ordinary course of operating our businesses including the risk of class
action lawsuits. We are, have been, or may become subject to class actions and individual suits alleging breach of fiduciary or other duties, including our
obligations to indemnify directors and officers in connection with certain legal matters. We are also subject to litigation arising out of our general business
activities such as contractual and employment relationships and claims regarding the infringement of the intellectual property of others. Plaintiffs in class
action and other lawsuits against us may seek large or indeterminate amounts of damages, including punitive and treble damages, which may remain
unknown for substantial periods of time. We are also subject to various regulatory inquiries, such as information requests, subpoenas, and books and record
examinations from state and federal regulators and authorities. In addition, changes in the way regulators administer applicable laws, tax statutes, or
regulations could adversely impact our business, cash flows, results of operations, or financial condition. It is also possible that changes in economic
conditions and steps taken by federal, state, and local governments in response to a pandemic or other significant events could cause an increase in taxes at
the federal, state, and local levels, which could adversely impact our results of operations.

Market, Capital, and Liquidity risks

The performance of our investment portfolio is subject to a variety of investment risks, which may in turn have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations or financial condition.

At December 31, 2023, our investment portfolio consisted of approximately 85% fixed maturity securities, with the remaining 15% invested in equity
securities and other investments.

General economic conditions and other factors beyond our control can adversely affect the value of our investments and the realization of net investment
income or result in realized investment losses. In addition, downward economic trends also may have an adverse effect on our investment results by
negatively impacting the business conditions and impairing credit for the issuers of securities held in our respective investment portfolios. This could
reduce fair values of investments and generate significant unrealized losses or impairment charges which may adversely affect our financial results.

The performance of the fixed income portfolio is subject to a number of risks including, but not limited to:

• Interest rate risk - the risk of adverse changes in the value of fixed income securities as a result of increases in market interest rates.

• Investment credit risk - the risk that the value of certain investments may decrease due to the deterioration in financial condition of, or the liquidity
available to, one or more issuers of those securities or, in the case of structured securities, due to the deterioration of the loans or other assets that
underlie the securities, which, in each case, also includes the risk of permanent loss.

• Sector/Concentration risk - the risk that the portfolio may be too heavily concentrated in the securities of one or more issuers, sectors, or
industries. Events or developments that have a negative impact on any particular industry, group of related industries, or geographic region may
have a greater adverse effect on our investment portfolio to the extent that the portfolio is concentrated within those issuers, sectors, or industries.

• Liquidity risk - the risk that we will not be able to convert investment securities into cash on favorable terms and on a timely basis, or that we will
not be able to sell them at all, when desired. Disruptions in the financial markets or a lack of buyers for the specific securities that we are trying to
sell could prevent us from liquidating securities or cause a reduction in prices to levels that are not acceptable to us.

• Reinvestment risk - the possibility that the cash flows produced by an investment will have to be reinvested at a reduced rate of return.
Approximately 36% of our fixed maturity portfolio is expected to mature over the next three years.
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Our equity securities have exposure to price risk. Equity markets, sectors, industries, and individual securities may also be subject to some of the same risks
that affect our fixed income portfolio, as discussed above.

All of our fixed income and equity securities are subject to market volatility. To the extent that future market volatility negatively impacts our investments,
our financial condition will be negatively impacted. We review the fixed income portfolio on a periodic basis to evaluate positions that are in an unrealized
loss position to determine whether impairments are a result of credit loss or other factors. Inherent in management's evaluation of a security are
assumptions and estimates about the operations of the issuer and its future earnings potential. As the process for determining impairments is highly
subjective, changes in our assessments may have a material effect on our operating results and financial condition. See also Part II, Item 7A. "Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk".

Deteriorating capital and credit market conditions or a failure to accurately estimate capital needs may significantly affect our ability to meet liquidity
needs and access capital.

Sufficient liquidity and capital levels are required to pay operating expenses, income taxes, and to provide the necessary resources to fund future growth
opportunities, satisfy certain financial covenants, pay dividends on common stock, and repurchase common stock. Management estimates the appropriate
level of capital necessary based upon current and projected results, which includes evaluating potential risks. Failure to accurately estimate our capital
needs may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition until additional sources of capital can be obtained. Further, a deteriorating financial
condition may create a negative perception of us by third parties, including investors, and financial institutions, which could impact our ability to access
capital in the debt or equity markets. Volatility in the financial markets could also limit our ability to sell certain fixed income securities or cause such
investments to sell at deep discounts.

Our primary sources of liquidity are management fee revenue and cash flows generated from our investment portfolio. In the event these traditional sources
of liquidity are not available, we may have to seek additional financing. Our access to funds will depend upon a number of factors including current market
conditions, the availability of credit, market liquidity, and the timing of obtaining credit ratings. In deteriorating market conditions, there can be no
assurance that we will obtain additional financing, or, if available, that the cost of financing will not substantially increase and affect our overall
profitability.

ITEM 1B.     UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 
None.

ITEM 1C.     CYBERSECURITY

Cybersecurity Risk Management
Our Privacy and Information Security Committee, comprised of officers and senior leaders, is responsible for overseeing the development and maintenance
of information privacy and security policies and effective operation of our corporate information security and cybersecurity program in compliance with
applicable state insurance regulations and other legal and regulatory requirements. This committee is sponsored by and reports directly to our Executive
Council, which includes our Chief Executive Officer and executive vice presidents.

As part of our overall Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") program, we employ a cybersecurity program of technical, administrative, and physical
controls intended to reduce the risk of cyber threats and protect our information, as well as documented processes to determine and make appropriate
disclosures regarding potential material threats and incidents. Our cybersecurity philosophy and approach align to the National Institute of Standards and
Technology Cybersecurity Framework and its core elements to identify, protect, detect, respond, and recover from the various forms of cyber threats. Our
practices include, but are not limited to, cybersecurity protocols and controls, system monitoring and detection, communication of incidents to appropriate
management, third-party risk management, including assessments of emerging threats and vulnerabilities, and ongoing privacy and cybersecurity training
for employees and contractors concerning cyber risk. A foundational element of our cybersecurity risk management processes is the annual Cybersecurity
and Information Security Risk Assessment (CSRA), which includes an analysis of cybersecurity risks facing us and associated recommendations and action
items to mitigate identified risks. We periodically utilize third parties to assess the effectiveness of our cybersecurity efforts through independent
validations, verifications, and security assessments.

Our Board of Directors has a process in place to monitor management’s oversight of cybersecurity. This is done primarily through regular reports to its
Risk Committee as well as the full Board of Directors. Management provides reports on our
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cybersecurity risk management program, including our risk evaluation, the results of independent third-party security assessments, and our efforts to
manage cyber related risks.

We have a core incident response team (Core Team) consisting of dedicated, skilled leadership representatives from our Information Security, Privacy and
Law teams, responsible for analyzing and assessing cyber incidents and leading response efforts. Our Chief Information Security Officer (CISO),
responsible for overseeing and managing information security incidents, has over 25 years of experience in information technology (IT), including over 20
years dedicated to practicing or leading cybersecurity functions. Our CISO is also a Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP). Our
Privacy leader, responsible for managing privacy incidents, has over 20 years of experience in IT risk management, including over 10 years in IT risk and
control functions and the remaining time focused on privacy and cybersecurity related functions and holds several information privacy and risk
certifications. Our Legal leader, responsible for providing guidance on legal and other regulatory obligations in the areas of privacy, cybersecurity,
technology, data use and third-party risk management, holds a Juris Doctor degree, is licensed to practice law, and has over 20 years of legal experience,
including 10 years focused on privacy and cybersecurity and holds several information security and privacy certifications, including the CISSP. The Core
Team leaders are members of various organizations that support cybersecurity or privacy intelligence, education, information sharing and networking,
including among others the Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center (FS-ISAC), Domestic Security Alliance Council (DSAC),
InfraGard, and International Association of Privacy Professionals (IAPP).

The Core Team members are augmented as needed by representatives from other internal groups, including subject matter experts from Information
Security, Privacy, Finance and Law, as well as certain third parties that may need to participate in the incident response process. Depending on the severity
and impact of the incident, third parties engaged may include outside counsel, forensics investigators, public relation firms, data breach resolution
providers, and cyber insurance brokers and carriers. In conjunction with legal counsel, the Core Team evaluates notification requirements and as necessary
will notify stakeholders depending on the nature and severity of the incident, including law enforcement, state attorneys general, regulators, external
auditors, third party providers, and impacted individuals.

The Core Team is informed of cyber incidents from diverse sources, including for example, internal monitoring systems, information sharing organizations,
employees, and other external information sources. Depending upon the levels of access to our information and/or information systems, third party service
providers are contractually obligated to report cybersecurity incidents within their environments. The Core Team performs incident analysis and triage to
determine scope, severity, prioritization and required response plans to address an incident in a manner that is intended to minimize the impact to us, our
assets, and our operations. In accordance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, this analysis and triage step includes an assessment of the
potential for material impact to us from a cybersecurity incident or a series of individually immaterial related incidents that are material when aggregated.

To date, we are not aware of any cybersecurity breach or other incident with respect to our systems or data that would have a material impact to our
business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. Additionally, we are not aware of any cybersecurity breach or other incident experienced by
anyone with whom we have a third-party relationship that has had a material impact on our systems or data. However, there can be no guarantee that we
will not experience any such incidents in the future. See Item 1A. "Risk Factors" for a discussion of cybersecurity risks.

ITEM 2.     PROPERTIES
 
Indemnity and the Exchange share a corporate home office campus in Erie, Pennsylvania, which comprises approximately 996,000 square feet.
Additionally, we lease two office buildings and one warehouse facility from third parties and are charged rent for the related square footage we occupy.

Indemnity and the Exchange also own or lease 25 field offices in 12 states used to primarily support claims-related activities. The Exchange owns seven
field offices and leases another 16 from third parties. Indemnity owns one field office and leases another from a third party. Commitments for properties
leased from third parties expire periodically through 2029. We expect that most leases will be renewed or replaced upon expiration. Rental costs of shared
facilities are allocated based upon square footage occupied.
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ITEM 3.     LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity") was named as a defendant in a complaint filed on August 24, 2021, by alleged subscribers of the Erie Insurance
Exchange (the "Exchange") in the Court of Common Pleas Civil Division of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania captioned TROY STEPHENSON,
CHRISTINA STEPHENSON, SUSAN RUBEL, and STEVEN BARNETT, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated (Plaintiffs) v. Erie
Indemnity Company (Defendant).

The complaint seeks relief for alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by Indemnity in connection with the setting of the management fee it receives, in
accordance with the terms of the Subscribers Agreement executed between Indemnity and all policyholders of the Exchange, as compensation for acting as
the attorney-in-fact in the management of the Exchange. The relief sought is for the period beginning two years prior to the date of the filing of the
complaint and continuing through 2021.

The complaint seeks (i) a finding that Indemnity has breached its fiduciary duties; (ii) an award of damages in an amount to be determined at trial; and (iii)
such other relief, including disgorgement of profits or other injunctive relief, that the Court deems just and proper.

Service of the complaint was effectuated on September 20, 2021. A Notice of Removal to the United States District Court for the Western District of
Pennsylvania was filed on October 20, 2021. On November 2, 2021, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal. As a result, the action was dismissed
without prejudice.

On December 6, 2021, another Complaint was filed in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania captioned ERIE INSURANCE
EXCHANGE, an unincorporated association, by TROY STEPHENSON, CHRISTINA STEPHENSON, and STEVEN BARNETT, trustees ad litem, and
alternatively, ERIE INSURANCE EXCHANGE, by TROY STEPHENSON, CHRISTINA STEPHENSON, and STEVEN BARNETT, (Plaintiff), v. ERIE
INDEMNITY COMPANY, (Defendant).

This most recent complaint has the same allegation of breach of fiduciary duty by Indemnity in connection with the setting of the management fee it
receives, in accordance with the terms of the Subscribers Agreement executed between Indemnity and all policyholders of the Exchange, as compensation
for acting as the attorney-in-fact in the management of the Exchange.

This most recent complaint seeks the same relief, specifically, (i) a finding that Indemnity has breached its fiduciary duties; (ii) an award of damages in an
amount to be determined at trial; and (iii) such other relief, including disgorgement of profits or other injunctive relief, that the Court deems just and proper.

A Notice of Removal to the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania was filed on January 27, 2022. Indemnity intends to
vigorously defend against all of the allegations and requests for relief in the complaint.

By Memorandum Opinion and Order dated September 28, 2022, the Court granted the Motion for Remand and directed the case be remanded to the Court
of Common Pleas of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania. On September 30, 2022, Indemnity filed a Motion to Stay the Remand Order pending an appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit. On October 3, 2022, the Court granted the Stay. On October 11, 2022, Indemnity filed a Petition
for Permission to Appeal the Remand Order with the Third Circuit. By Order dated November 7, 2022, a three judge panel of the Court denied the Petition
to Appeal.

On November 21, 2022, Indemnity filed a Petition for Rehearing requesting that the Third Circuit permit the appeal. By Order dated January 9, 2023, the
Court granted the petition for rehearing and vacated the prior Order of October 7, 2022, denying permission to appeal. On April 20, 2023, argument was
held before a three-judge panel of the Third Circuit. By Opinion dated May 22, 2023, the Court affirmed the decision of the District Court finding that there
was no basis for federal court jurisdiction and that the matter had been properly remanded to state court. On June 5, 2023, Indemnity filed a Petition for
Panel Rehearing or Rehearing En Banc. By Order dated June 22, 2023, the Court denied the Petition. The United States District Court thereafter extended
its stay of the issuance of the remand order through the conclusion of any proceedings in the United States Supreme Court challenging the decision of the
United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit that no federal jurisdiction exists in this case.

On October 20, 2023, Indemnity filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Supreme Court of the United States. The Petition seeks a determination from
the Court that the lower courts improperly denied federal jurisdiction. The Petition is currently pending before the Court.
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Indemnity intends to vigorously defend against all of the allegations and requests for relief in the complaint.

Separately, Indemnity filed a Complaint in Federal Court to invoke certain provisions of the "All Writs Act" and the "Anti-Injunction Act." By filing this
complaint, Indemnity seeks to protect the federal court’s prior binding, final judgments in favor of Indemnity and thereby foreclose further litigation of the
claims and issues pertaining to the compensation practices that were the subject of the prior judgments.

For additional information on contingencies, see Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 16, Commitment and Contingencies,
of Notes to Financial Statements".

ITEM 4.     MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II 

ITEM 5.     MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends
Our Class A, non-voting common stock trades on The NASDAQ Stock Market  LLC under the symbol "ERIE".  No established trading market exists for
the Class B voting common stock.  Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. serves as our transfer agent and registrar.  As of February 20, 2024, there
were approximately 504 shareholders of record for the Class A non-voting common stock and 8 shareholders of record for the Class B voting common
stock.

Historically, we have declared and paid cash dividends on a quarterly basis at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  The payment and amount of future
dividends on the common stock will be determined by the Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, our operating results, financial
condition, cash requirements, and general business conditions at the time such payment is considered.

Stock Performance
The following graph depicts the cumulative total shareholder return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, for the periods indicated for our Class A common
stock compared to the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index and the Standard & Poor's Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index.  The Standard &
Poor's Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index is made up of 56 constituent members represented by property and casualty insurers, insurance
brokers, and life insurers, and is a capitalization weighted index.

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Erie Indemnity Company Class A common stock $ 100  $ 127  $ 194  $ 155  $ 205  $ 281 
Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index 100  131  156  200  164  207 
Standard & Poor's Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index 100  128  127  163  178  196 

(1)      Assumes $100 invested at the close of trading, including reinvestment of dividends, on the last trading day preceding the first day of the fifth preceding fiscal year, in our Class A
common stock, the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index, and the Standard & Poor's Supercomposite Insurance Industry Group Index.

SM

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We may purchase shares, from time-to-time, in the open market, through trading plans entered into with one or more brokerage firms pursuant to Rule
10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or through privately negotiated transactions. The purchase of shares is dependent upon prevailing
market conditions and alternate uses of capital, and at times and in a manner that is deemed appropriate.

Our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program effective January 1, 1999, allowing the repurchase of our outstanding Class A nonvoting
common stock.  Various approvals for continuation of this program have since been authorized, with the most recent occurring in 2011 for $150 million,
which was authorized with no time limitation. 

The following table presents the number and average price of our outstanding Class A nonvoting common stock shares purchased during the quarter ending
December 31, 2023:

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Period
Total number of shares

purchased
Average price paid per

share

Total number of shares
purchased as part of publicly

announced program

Dollar value of shares that
may yet be purchased under

the program

October 1–31, 2023 — $ —  — $ 17,754 
November 1–30, 2023 1,258 277.03 — 17,754 
December 1–31, 2023 — —  — 17,754 
Total 1,258 277.03  —

(1) Represents shares purchased on the open market to fund the rabbi trust for the outside director deferred stock compensation plan.

See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 10, Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans, of Notes to Financial Statements"
contained within this report for additional information on shares purchased outside of this program.

ITEM 6.     SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable.

(1)
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ITEM 7.     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following discussion of financial condition and results of operations highlights significant factors influencing Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity",
"we", "us", "our"). This discussion should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes and all other items contained
within this Annual Report on Form 10-K as these contain important information helpful in evaluating our financial condition and results of operations.

INDEX
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
 
"Safe Harbor" Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:
Statements contained herein that are not historical fact are forward-looking statements and, as such, are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual events and results to differ, perhaps materially, from those discussed herein.  Forward-looking statements relate to future trends, events or results and
include, without limitation, statements and assumptions on which such statements are based that are related to our plans, strategies, objectives,
expectations, intentions, and adequacy of resources.  Examples of forward-looking statements are discussions relating to premium and investment income,
expenses, operating results, and compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements.  Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict.  Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is
expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements.  Among the risks and uncertainties, in addition to those set forth in our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, that could cause actual results and future events to differ from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking
statements include the following:

• dependence upon our relationship with the Erie Insurance Exchange ("Exchange") and the management fee under the agreement with the
subscribers at the Exchange;

• dependence upon our relationship with the Exchange and the growth of the Exchange, including:
◦ general business and economic conditions;
◦ factors affecting insurance industry competition, including technological innovations;
◦ dependence upon the independent agency system; and
◦ ability to maintain our brand, including our reputation for customer service;

• dependence upon our relationship with the Exchange and the financial condition of the Exchange, including:
◦ the Exchange's ability to maintain acceptable financial strength ratings;
◦ factors affecting the quality and liquidity of the Exchange's investment portfolio;
◦ changes in government regulation of the insurance industry;
◦ litigation and regulatory actions;
◦ emergence of significant unexpected events, including pandemics and economic or social inflation;
◦ emerging claims and coverage issues in the industry; and
◦ severe weather conditions or other catastrophic losses, including terrorism;

• costs of providing policy issuance and renewal services to the subscribers at the Exchange under the subscriber's agreement;
• ability to attract and retain talented management and employees;
• ability to ensure system availability and effectively manage technology initiatives;
• difficulties with technology or data security breaches, including cyber attacks;
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• ability to maintain uninterrupted business operations;
• compliance with complex and evolving laws and regulations and outcome of pending and potential litigation;
• factors affecting the quality and liquidity of our investment portfolio; and
• ability to meet liquidity needs and access capital.

A forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made and reflects our analysis only as of that date.  We undertake no obligation to
publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in assumptions, or otherwise.

RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
 
See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within
this report for a discussion of recently issued accounting standards and the impact on our financial statements if known.

OPERATING OVERVIEW

Overview
We are a Pennsylvania business corporation that since 1925 has been the managing attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange, a
reciprocal insurer that writes property and casualty insurance. Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services
on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange. We also act as attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for
the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to all administrative services.

The Exchange is a reciprocal insurance exchange, which is an unincorporated association of individuals, partnerships and corporations that agree to insure
one another. Each applicant for insurance (a subscriber) to the Exchange signs a subscriber's agreement, which contains an appointment of Indemnity as
their attorney-in-fact to transact the business of the Exchange on their behalf.

In accordance with the subscriber’s agreement for acting as attorney-in-fact in these two capacities, we retain a management fee. Management fee revenue
is based upon all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange and the management fee rate, which is not to exceed 25%. Our Board of
Directors establishes the management fee rate at least annually, generally in December for the following year.  The process of setting the management fee
rate includes, but is not limited to, the evaluation of current year operating results compared to both prior year and industry estimated results for both
Indemnity and the Exchange, and consideration of several factors for both entities including, but not limited to: their relative financial strength and capital
position; projected revenue, expense and earnings for the subsequent year; future capital needs; as well as competitive position. The management fee rate
was set at 25% for 2023, 2022 and 2021.  Based on analysis of the foregoing factors, our Board of Directors set the 2024 management fee rate again at
25%.

Our earnings are primarily driven by the management fee revenue generated for the services we provide on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange.  The
policy issuance and renewal services we provide are related to the sales, underwriting and issuance of policies. The sales related services we provide
include agent compensation and certain sales and advertising support services. Agent compensation includes scheduled commissions to agents based upon
premiums written as well as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving targeted measures. Agent compensation comprised approximately 67%
of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The underwriting services we provide include underwriting and policy processing and comprised
approximately 9% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The remaining services we provide include customer service and administrative
support. We also provide information technology services that support all the functions listed above that comprised approximately 11% of our 2023 policy
issuance and renewal expenses. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support these policy issuance and renewal
functions.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual
relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with
respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these
services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the
claims process, including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include costs
incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to
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investment trading activity, accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. In 2023, approximately 71% of the administrative
services expenses were entirely attributable to the respective administrative functions (claims handling, life insurance management and investment
management), while the remaining 29% of these expenses were allocations of costs for departments that support these administrative functions. The
expenses we incur and related reimbursements we receive for administrative services are presented gross in our Statements of Operations. The subscriber's
agreement and service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled at cost on a
monthly basis. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be approved in advance by the state
insurance department.

Our results of operations are tied to the growth and financial condition of the Exchange as the Exchange is our sole customer, and our earnings are largely
generated from management fees based on the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. The Exchange generates revenue by
insuring preferred and standard risks, with personal lines comprising 70% of the 2023 direct and affiliated assumed written premiums and commercial lines
comprising the remaining 30%.  The principal personal lines products are private passenger automobile and homeowners.  The principal commercial lines
products are commercial multi-peril, commercial automobile and workers compensation.

We generate investment income from our fixed maturity and equity security portfolios. Our portfolio is managed with the objective of maximizing after-tax
returns on a risk-adjusted basis. We actively evaluate the fixed maturity portfolios for securities in an unrealized loss position and record impairment write-
downs on investments in instances where we have the intent to sell or it's more likely than not that we would be required to sell the security. Impairments
resulting from a credit loss are recognized in earnings with a corresponding allowance on the Statement of Financial Position.

Financial Overview

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021

Operating income $ 520,256  38.3  % $ 376,214  18.3  % $ 318,097 
Total investment income 28,968  NM 632  (99.1) 67,332 
Interest expense, net —  NM 2,009  (51.4) 4,132 
Other income (expense) 12,712  NM 1,615  NM (4,893)

Income before income taxes 561,936  49.3  376,452  0.0  376,404 
Income tax expense 115,875  48.8  77,883  (0.8) 78,544 

Net income $ 446,061  49.4  % $ 298,569  0.2  % $ 297,860 

Net income per share - diluted $ 8.53  49.4  % $ 5.71  0.3  % $ 5.69 

NM = not meaningful

Operating income increased in 2023 compared to 2022 as growth in operating revenue outpaced the growth in operating expenses. Management fee
revenue is based upon the management fee rate we charge and the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange.  The management fee
rate was 25% for 2023, 2022, and 2021.  The direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange increased 17.0% to $10.1 billion in 2023 and
9.2% to $8.6 billion in 2022. 

Cost of operations for policy issuance and renewal services increased 12.0% to $2.0 billion in 2023 primarily due to higher scheduled commissions driven
by direct and affiliated assumed written premium growth, as well as increased employee compensation and technology costs. Cost of operations for policy
issuance and renewal services increased 7.0% to $1.8 billion in 2022 primarily due to higher scheduled commissions driven by direct and affiliated
assumed written premium growth, as well as increased professional fees and technology costs. Increases in the cost of operations for policy issuance and
renewal services in both periods were partially offset by decreased agent incentive compensation driven by higher claims severity and related loss costs
experienced by the Exchange.

Management fee revenue for administrative services increased 9.2% to $63.7 million in 2023 compared to an increase of 0.1% in 2022. The administrative
services reimbursement revenue and corresponding cost of operations increased both total operating revenue and total operating expenses by $737.1 million
in 2023 and $668.3 million in 2022, but had no net impact on operating income.

Total investment income increased $28.3 million in 2023 primarily due to lower net realized and unrealized investment losses and an increase in net
investment income compared to 2022. Total investment income decreased $66.7 million in 2022
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primarily due to a decrease in net investment income as well as net realized and unrealized investment losses in 2022 compared to net gains in 2021.

General Conditions and Trends Affecting Our Business
Economic conditions
Unfavorable changes in economic conditions, including declining consumer confidence, inflation, high unemployment, and the threat of recession, among
others, may lead the Exchange’s customers to modify coverage, not renew policies, or even cancel policies, which could adversely affect the premium
revenue of the Exchange, and consequently our management fee revenue.  Inflation remained elevated from historical levels during 2023. Continued
elevated inflation or supply chain disruptions could impact the Exchange's operations and our management fees. In particular, unanticipated increased
inflation costs including medical cost inflation, building material cost inflation, auto repair and replacement cost inflation, and social inflation may impact
adequacy of estimated loss reserves and future premium rates of the Exchange. The extent and duration of the impacts to economic conditions remain
uncertain. If any of these items impacted the financial condition or operations of the Exchange, it could have an impact on our financial results. See
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources, and Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained within this report for a discussion of potential impacts
to our operations or those of the Exchange.
 
Financial market volatility
Our portfolio of fixed maturity and equity security investments is subject to market volatility especially in periods of instability in the worldwide financial
markets. Over time, net investment income could also be impacted by volatility and by the general level of interest rates, which impact reinvested cash flow
from the portfolio and business operations. Depending upon market conditions, considerable fluctuation could occur in the fair value of our investment
portfolio and reported total investment income, which could have an adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
Various ongoing geopolitical events, the uncertain inflationary and interest rate environments, and a potential economic slowdown could have a significant
impact on the global financial markets with the potential for future losses and/or impairments on our investment portfolio.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The financial statements include amounts based upon estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period and related disclosures. We consider
an accounting estimate to be critical if 1) it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made, and 2) different
estimates that could have been used, or changes in the estimate that are likely to occur from period-to-period, could have a material impact on our
Statements of Operations or Financial Position.

The following presents a discussion of those accounting policies surrounding estimates that we believe are the most critical to our reported amounts and
require the most subjective and complex judgment. If actual events differ significantly from the underlying assumptions, there could be material
adjustments to prior estimates that could potentially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. The estimates and the
estimating methods used are reviewed continually, and any adjustments considered necessary are reflected in current earnings.

Investment Valuation
Fair Value Measurements
We make estimates concerning the fair value of our investments using valuation techniques to derive the fair value of the fixed maturity and equity
investments we hold. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between willing market participants at the
measurement date.

Fair value measurements are based upon observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources,
while unobservable inputs reflect our view of market assumptions in the absence of observable market information. We utilize valuation techniques that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Our investments are categorized into a three-level fair value hierarchy
which assigns a Level 1 for highly observable inputs and a Level 3 to unobservable inputs. We continually assess whether or not an active market exists for
all of our investments and as of each reporting date we re-evaluate their classification in the fair value hierarchy.

As of each reporting period, financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The presence of at least one unobservable input that has significant impact to the fair value measurement would result in classification
as a Level 3 instrument. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and considers factors
specific to the asset, such as the relative impact on
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the fair value as a result of including a particular input and market conditions. While estimates of the fair values of our investment portfolio are obtained
from outside pricing services, we ultimately determine whether the inputs used are observable or unobservable.

As of December 31, 2023, substantially all of the securities measured at fair value in our investment portfolio are classified as Level 2. Level 2 securities
are valued using industry-standard models that consider various inputs, such as the interest rate and credit spread for the underlying financial instruments.
All significant inputs are observable, or derived from observable information in the marketplace, or are supported by observable levels at which
transactions are executed in the marketplace. At December 31, 2023, our investments classified as Level 3 were not significant.

See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 5, Fair Value, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within this report for
additional details on the fair value measurement of our investments.

Impairments
Our fixed maturity portfolio experienced unrealized losses in 2023 and 2022 as a result of the higher interest rate environment compared to prior years. We
regularly monitor our fixed maturity and equity security portfolios for price changes and perform detailed reviews of securities in an unrealized loss
position that may indicate that credit-related or other impairments exist. As of December 31, 2023, our intent to sell and credit-related impairments were
not material to our financial condition or results of operations.

See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within
this report for additional details on impairments.

Retirement Benefit Plans for Employees
Our pension plans consist of a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees and an unfunded supplemental employee
retirement plan ("SERP") for certain members of executive and senior management. Although we are the sponsor of these postretirement plans and record
the funded status of these plans, there are reimbursements between us and the Exchange and its subsidiaries for their allocated share of pension income or
cost. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 9, Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within this
report for additional details on these reimbursements.

Our pension obligation is developed from actuarial estimates.  Several statistical and other factors, which attempt to anticipate future events, are used in
calculating the expense and liability related to the plans.  Key factors include assumptions about the discount rates and expected rates of return on plan
assets.  We review these assumptions annually and modify them considering historical experience, current market conditions, including changes in
investment returns and interest rates, and expected future trends.

Accumulated and projected benefit obligations are expressed as the present value of future cash payments.  We discount those cash payments based upon a
yield curve developed from corporate bond yield information with maturities that correspond to the payment of benefits.  Lower discount rates increase
present values and subsequent year pension expense, while higher discount rates decrease present values and subsequent year pension expense.  The
construction of the yield curve is based upon yields of corporate bonds rated AA or equivalent quality.  Target yields are developed from bonds at various
maturity points and a curve is fitted to those targets.  Spot rates (zero coupon bond yields) are developed from the yield curve and used to discount benefit
payment amounts associated with each future year.  The present value of plan benefits is calculated by applying the spot/discount rates to projected benefit
cash flows.  A single discount rate is then developed to produce the same present value. The cash flows from the yield curve were matched against our
projected benefit payments in the pension plan, which have a duration of about 15 years.  This yield curve supported the selection of a 5.34% discount rate
for the projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2023 and for the 2024 pension income.  The same methodology was used to develop the 5.67% and
3.16% discount rates used to determine the projected benefit obligation for 2022 and 2021, respectively, and the pension income for 2023 and expense for
2022, respectively.  A 25 basis point decrease in the discount rate assumption, with other assumptions held constant, would increase pension cost in the
following year by $4.1 million, of which our share would be approximately $1.6 million, and would increase the pension benefit obligation by $37.2
million.

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses arise from several factors, including experience and assumption changes in the obligations and from the difference
between expected returns and actual returns on plan assets.  These unrecognized gains and losses are recorded in the pension plan obligation and
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). These amounts are systematically recognized to net periodic pension expense in future periods, with gains
decreasing and losses increasing future pension expense. If actuarial net gains or losses exceed 5% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation and the
market-
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related value of plan assets, the excess is recognized through the net periodic pension expense equally over the estimated service period of the employee
group, which is currently 14 years.

The expected long-term rate of return for the pension plan represents the average rate of return to be earned on plan assets over the period the benefits
included in the benefit obligation are to be paid.  To determine the expected long-term rate of return assumption, we utilized models based upon rigorous
historical analysis and forward-looking views of the financial markets based upon key factors such as historical returns for the asset class' applicable
indices, the correlations of the asset classes under various market conditions and consensus views on future real economic growth and inflation.  The
expected future return for each asset class is then combined by considering correlations between asset classes and the volatilities of each asset class to
produce a reasonable range of asset return results within which our expected long-term rate of return assumption falls. While the expected long-term rate of
return is generally less susceptible to annual revisions as there are typically no significant changes in the asset mix, we increased the expected return on
asset assumption from 6.50% to 7.00% in 2024 based on the current asset allocation and considering a review of the key factors and expectations of future
performance as well as the current market environment. A change of 25 basis points in the expected long-term rate of return assumption, with other
assumptions held constant, would have an estimated $2.9 million impact on net pension benefit cost in the following year, of which our share would be
approximately $1.2 million.

We use a four-year averaging method to determine the market-related value of plan assets, which is used to determine the expected return component of
pension expense.  Under this methodology, asset gains or losses that result from returns that differ from our long-term rate of return assumption are
recognized in the market-related value of assets on a level basis over a four-year period.  The market-related asset experience during 2023 that related to the
actual investment return being different from that assumed during the prior year was a gain of $36.8 million. Recognition of this gain will be deferred and
recognized over a four-year period, consistent with the market-related asset value methodology. Once factored into the market-related asset value, these
experience gains and losses will be amortized over a period of 14 years, which is the remaining service period of the employee group.

In 2023, we recognized net pension benefit income of $3.8 million primarily driven by higher discount rates and expected return on assets, partially offset
by lower than expected returns during 2022. We continue to project net pension benefit income in 2024 as opposed to expense. While our discount rate
assumptions decreased for 2024, the estimated increase in net pension benefit income to $4.3 million in 2024 is primarily due to an anticipated one-time
SERP settlement credit of $1.0 million. Our share of the net pension benefit income after reimbursements was $0.9 million in 2023. We expect our share of
the net pension benefit income to be approximately $1.4 million in 2024, of which expense of $13.0 million will be recorded in operating expense and
income of $14.4 million will be recorded in other income.

The actuarial assumptions we used in determining our pension obligation may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic
conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates, or longer or shorter life spans of participants.  While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate,
differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may materially affect our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. See Item 8.
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 9, Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within this report for
additional details on the pension plans.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Management fee revenue
We have two performance obligations in the subscriber’s agreement, providing policy issuance and renewal services and acting as attorney-in-fact for the
subscribers at the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to all administrative services. We retain
management fees for acting as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange in these two capacities and allocate our revenues between our
performance obligations.

The management fee is calculated by multiplying all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange by the management fee rate, which is
determined by our Board of Directors at least annually.  The management fee rate was set at 25% for 2023, 2022 and 2021.  Changes in the management
fee rate can affect our revenue and net income significantly. The transaction price, including management fee revenue and administrative services
reimbursement revenue, includes variable consideration and is allocated based on the estimated standalone selling prices developed using industry
information and other available information for similar services. We update the transaction price and the related allocation at least annually based upon the
most recent information available or more frequently if there have been significant changes in any components considered in the transaction price.

The following table presents the allocation and disaggregation of revenue for our two performance obligations: 

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021

Policy issuance and renewal services
Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the

Exchange $ 10,056,484  17.0  % $ 8,595,960  9.2  % $ 7,868,311 
Management fee rate 24.30 % 24.30 % 24.30 %
Management fee revenue 2,443,726  17.0  2,088,818  9.2  1,912,000 
Change in estimate for management fee returned on

cancelled policies (1,653) (70.0) (972) NM 1,166 
Management fee revenue - policy issuance and renewal

services $ 2,442,073  17.0  % $ 2,087,846  9.1  % $ 1,913,166 

Administrative services
Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the

Exchange $ 10,056,484  17.0  % $ 8,595,960  9.2  % $ 7,868,311 
Management fee rate 0.70 % 0.70 % 0.70 %
Management fee revenue 70,395  17.0  60,172  9.2  55,078 
Change in contract liability (6,690) NM (1,865) NM 3,195 
Change in estimate for management fee returned on

cancelled policies (36) NM 16  24.7  13 
Management fee revenue - administrative services 63,669  9.2  58,323  0.1  58,286 
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 737,139  10.3  668,268  4.7  638,483 
Total revenue from administrative services $ 800,808  10.2  % $ 726,591  4.3  % $ 696,769 

NM = not meaningful

(1)    A constraining estimate of variable consideration exists related to the potential for management fees to be returned if a policy were to be cancelled mid-term. Management fees are
returned to the Exchange when policies are cancelled mid-term and unearned premiums are refunded.

(2)    Management fee revenue - administrative services is recognized over time as the services are provided. See Item 8. "Financial Statements - Note 3, Revenue, of Notes to Financial
Statements" contained within this report.

(1)

(2)

(1)
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Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange
Direct and affiliated assumed premiums include premiums written directly by the Exchange and premiums assumed from its wholly owned property and
casualty subsidiaries. Direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange increased 17.0% to $10.1 billion in 2023, from $8.6 billion in 2022,
primarily driven by increased personal lines and commercial multi-peril premiums written.  Year-over-year policies in force for all lines of business
increased 6.9% in 2023 as the result of continuing strong policyholder retention and an increase in new policies written, compared to 3.6% in 2022.  The
year-over-year average premium per policy for all lines of business increased 9.4% at December 31, 2023, compared to 5.4% at December 31, 2022.

Premiums generated from new business increased 37.9% to $1.5 billion in 2023. Contributing to this change was a 23.7% increase in new business policies
written and a 11.5% increase in year-over-year average premium per policy on new business at December 31, 2023. Premiums generated from new
business increased 14.5% to $1.1 billion in 2022. Year-over-year average premium per policy on new business increased 10.4% at December 31, 2022 and
new business policies written increased 3.7% in 2022.

Premiums generated from renewal business increased 13.9% to $8.5 billion in 2023, and increased 8.5% to $7.5 billion, in 2022.  Underlying the trend in
renewal business premiums in both periods were increases in year-over-year average premium per policy of 9.0% at December 31, 2023 and 4.7% at
December 31, 2022, as well as an increase in year-over-year policies in force of 4.5% and 3.6% in 2023 and 2022, respectively, driven by a slight increase
in policy retention ratios.

The Exchange implements rate changes in order to meet loss cost expectations. In response to reduced driving conditions in 2020 resulting from the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Exchange implemented $200 million in personal and commercial auto rate reductions on policies written between July 1, 2020
and June 30, 2021, which negatively impacted Exchange's written premium in 2021 by approximately $110 million. The Exchange began implementing
rate increases in 2021 primarily due to increased claims frequency as driving activity returned to near pre-pandemic levels and continued to implement rate
increases in 2022 and 2023 primarily as a result of inflation-driven severity increases.

As the Exchange writes policies with annual terms only, rate actions take 12 months to be fully recognized in written premium and 24 months to be
recognized in earned premiums. Since rate changes are realized at renewal, it takes 12 months to implement a rate change to all policyholders and another
12 months to earn the increased or decreased premiums in full. As a result, certain rate changes approved in 2022 were reflected in 2023, and a portion of
the rate actions approved in 2023 will be reflected in 2024. Furthermore, the Exchange writes certain personal auto policies with a rate locking feature,
which generally extends the amount of time it takes for rate actions to be recognized. The Exchange continuously evaluates pricing and product offerings to
meet consumer demands.

Personal lines – Total personal lines premiums written increased 18.7% to $7.1 billion in 2023, from $6.0 billion in 2022, driven by a 10.5% increase in
total personal lines year-over-year average premium per policy and a 7.4% increase in total personal lines policies in force. Total personal lines year-over-
year average premium per policy increased 4.4% at December 31, 2022 and policies in force increased 3.9% in 2022.

Commercial lines – Total commercial lines premiums written increased 13.0% to $3.0 billion in 2023, compared to 2022, driven by a 9.5% increase in the
total commercial lines year-over-year average premium per policy and a 3.2% increase in total commercial lines policies in force. Total commercial lines
premiums written increased 11.2% in 2022, compared to 2021, driven by a 9.0% increase in the total commercial lines year-over-year average premium per
policy and a 2.0% increase in total commercial lines policies in force.

Future trends-premium revenue – Through a careful agency selection and monitoring process, the Exchange plans to continue efforts to utilize its agency
force to increase market penetration in existing operating territories to contribute to future growth.

Changes in premium levels attributable to the growth in policies in force directly affect the profitability of the Exchange and have a direct bearing on our
management fee. Our continued focus on underwriting discipline and the maturing of pricing sophistication models have contributed to the Exchange's
steady policy retention ratios. The continued growth of its policy base is dependent upon the Exchange's ability to retain existing and attract new
subscribers/policyholders. A lack of new policy growth or the inability to retain existing customers could have an adverse effect on the Exchange's
premium level growth, and consequently our management fee.

Changes in premium levels attributable to rate changes also directly affect the profitability of the Exchange and have a direct bearing on our management
fee. Pricing actions contemplated or taken by the Exchange are subject to various regulatory requirements of the states in which it operates. The pricing
actions already implemented, or to be implemented, have an effect on the market competitiveness of the Exchange's insurance products. Such pricing
actions, and those of the Exchange's
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competitors, could affect the ability of the Exchange's agents to retain and attract new business. We expect the Exchange's pricing actions in 2023 to result
in an increase in direct written premiums in 2024; however, exposure reductions and/or changes in mix of business as a result of economic conditions could
impact the average direct and affiliated assumed premium written by the Exchange, as customers may reduce coverages.

Policy issuance and renewal services

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021

Management fee revenue - policy issuance and renewal
services $ 2,442,073  17.0  % $ 2,087,846  9.1  % $ 1,913,166 

Service agreement revenue 26,059  1.4  25,687  6.8  24,042 
2,468,132  16.8  2,113,533  9.1  1,937,208 

Cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal services 2,011,545  12.0  1,795,642  7.0  1,677,397 
Operating income - policy issuance and renewal services $ 456,587  43.6  % $ 317,891  22.4  % $ 259,811 

Policy issuance and renewal services
The management fee revenue allocated for providing policy issuance and renewal services was 24.30% of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums
written by the Exchange for 2023, 2022, and 2021. This portion of the management fee is recognized as revenue when the policy is issued or renewed
because it is at that time that the services we provide are substantially complete and the executed insurance policy is transferred to the customer. The
increase in management fee revenue for policy issuance and renewal services was driven by the increase in the direct and affiliated assumed premiums
written by the Exchange discussed previously.

Service agreement revenue
Service agreement revenue primarily consists of service charges we collect from subscribers/policyholders for providing multiple payment plans on
policies written by the Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries and also includes late payment and policy reinstatement fees.  The service
charges are fixed dollar amounts per billed installment. Service agreement revenue also includes fees received from the Exchange for the use of shared
office space. The increase in service agreement revenue in 2023 and 2022 is primarily due to an increase in shared office space revenue.

Cost of policy issuance and renewal services

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021

Commissions:
Total commissions $ 1,348,530  14.3  % $ 1,179,569  6.4  % $ 1,108,426 

Non-commission expense:
Underwriting and policy processing $ 181,003  5.5  % $ 171,625  3.9  % $ 165,183 
Information technology 216,746  9.4  198,157  7.1  185,096 
Sales and advertising 58,905  (1.8) 60,000  14.3  52,511 
Customer service 34,391  0.2  34,333  (6.5) 36,720 
Administrative and other 171,970  13.2  151,958  17.4  129,461 
Total non-commission expense 663,015  7.6  616,073  8.3  568,971 
Total cost of policy issuance and renewal services $ 2,011,545  12.0  % $ 1,795,642  7.0  % $ 1,677,397 

Commissions – Commissions increased $169.0 million in 2023 compared to 2022, primarily driven by the growth in direct and affiliated assumed written
premium, partially offset by a decrease in agent incentive compensation. The profitability component of agent incentive compensation decreased due to
higher claims severity and related loss costs in the three-year period ended 2023 compared to the three-year period ended 2022. Commissions increased
$71.1 million in 2022 compared to 2021, primarily driven by the growth in direct and affiliated assumed written premium, partially offset by a decrease in
agent
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incentive compensation. The profitability component of agent incentive compensation decreased due to higher claims severity and related loss costs
experienced primarily in 2022.

Non-commission expense – Non-commission expense increased $46.9 million in 2023 compared to 2022. Underwriting and policy processing costs
increased $9.4 million primarily due to policies in force growth. Information technology costs increased $18.6 million primarily due to increased
professional fees, personnel costs, and hardware and software costs. Administrative and other expenses increased $20.0 million primarily due to an increase
in personnel costs. Personnel costs in 2023 were impacted by increased compensation including higher estimated costs for incentive plan awards, partially
offset by lower pension costs due to an increase in the discount rate compared to 2022. Increases in incentive plan costs were driven by improved direct
written premium and policies in force growth and Indemnity's higher stock price at year-end 2023 compared to 2022.

In 2022, non-commission expense increased $47.1 million compared to 2021. Underwriting and policy processing costs increased $6.4 million primarily
due to increased underwriting report, printing, and personnel costs. Information technology costs increased $13.1 million primarily due to increased
hardware and software costs and professional fees, partially offset by decreased personnel costs. Sales and advertising costs increased $7.5 million
primarily due to increased advertising and agent-related expenses. Administrative and other expenses increased $22.5 million primarily due to an increase
in personnel costs related to compensation and increased professional fees.

Administrative services

Years ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021

Management fee revenue - administrative services $ 63,669  9.2  % $ 58,323  0.1  % $ 58,286 
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 737,139  10.3  668,268  4.7  638,483 
Total revenue allocated to administrative services 800,808  10.2  726,591  4.3  696,769 
Administrative services expenses

Claims handling services 635,043  10.1  576,799  5.5  546,962 
Investment management services 34,958  (5.0) 36,795  (5.3) 38,862 
Life management services 67,138  22.8  54,674  3.8  52,659 

Operating income - administrative services $ 63,669  9.2  % $ 58,323  0.1  % $ 58,286 

Administrative services
The management fee revenue allocated to administrative services was 0.70% of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange for
2023, 2022, and 2021. This portion of the management fee is recognized as revenue over a four-year period representing the time over which the services
are provided. We also report reimbursed costs as revenues, which are recognized monthly as services are provided. The administrative services expenses
we incur and the related reimbursements we receive are recorded gross in the Statements of Operations.

Cost of administrative services
Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual
relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with
respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these
services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. The subscriber's agreement and service agreements
provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements due from the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries are
recorded as a receivable and settled at cost.
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Total investment income
A summary of the results of our investment operations is as follows for the years ended December 31:
 

(dollars in thousands) 2023 % Change 2022 % Change 2021
Net investment income $ 44,572  55.9  % $ 28,585  (54.0) % $ 62,177 
Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains (5,838) 78.6  (27,286) NM 4,946 
Net impairment (losses) recoveries recognized in earnings (9,766) NM (667) NM 209 

Total investment income $ 28,968  NM % $ 632  (99.1) % $ 67,332 

NM = not meaningful

Net investment income
Net investment income includes interest and dividends on our fixed maturity and equity security portfolios and the results of our limited partnership
investments, net of investment expenses. Net investment income increased $16.0 million in 2023, compared to 2022, primarily due to an increase in bond
and cash and cash equivalent income as a result of higher yields and increased rates. Net investment income decreased $33.6 million in 2022, compared to
2021, primarily due to equity in (losses) earnings of limited partnerships. Net investment income includes equity in losses of limited partnerships of $11.3
million and $10.4 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively, and equity in earnings of limited partnerships of $31.7 million in 2021.
Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains
A breakdown of our net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains is as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Securities sold:

Available-for-sale securities $ (6,719) $ (14,050) $ 5,131 
Equity securities (2,328) (1,866) (76)

Change in fair value on remaining equity securities 3,199  (11,372) (110)
Miscellaneous 10  2  1 

Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains $ (5,838) $ (27,286) $ 4,946 

Net realized and unrealized losses of $5.8 million in 2023 were primarily due to disposals of available-for-sale and equity securities, partially offset by
market value adjustment gains on equity securities. Net realized and unrealized losses of $27.3 million in 2022 were primarily due to disposals of available-
for-sale securities and market value adjustments on equity securities, while gains of $4.9 million in 2021 were primarily due to disposals of available-for-
sale securities.

Net impairment (losses) recoveries recognized in earnings
Net impairment losses of $9.8 million in 2023 include $7.3 million of current expected credit losses recognized on loans receivable related to real estate
development projects supporting the revitalization efforts in our community. See "Other assets" in Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data -
Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional information. Impairment losses in 2023 also include $2.4 million
related to available-for-sale securities, including $1.8 million of securities in an unrealized loss position where we had intent to sell prior to recovery of our
amortized cost basis and $0.7 million of credit impairment losses. Net impairment losses of $0.7 million in 2022 were related to available-for-sale
securities and include $0.5 million of credit impairment losses and $0.2 million of securities in an unrealized loss position where we had intent to sell prior
to recovery of our amortized cost basis. Net impairment recoveries of $0.2 million in 2021 were primarily the result of a change in the current expected
credit loss allowance related to our agent loans.
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Financial Condition of Erie Insurance Exchange
Serving in the capacity of attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange, we are dependent on the growth and financial condition of the Exchange,
who is our sole customer. The strength of the Exchange and its wholly owned subsidiaries is rated annually by A.M. Best through assessing its financial
stability and ability to pay claims. The ratings are generally based upon factors relevant to policyholders and are not directed toward return to investors.
The Exchange and each of its property and casualty subsidiaries are rated A+ "Superior", the second highest financial strength rating, which is assigned to
companies that have achieved superior overall performance when compared to the standards established by A.M. Best and have a superior ability to meet
obligations to policyholders over the long term. On August 10, 2023, the outlook for the financial strength rating was affirmed as stable. As of
December 31, 2023, only approximately 12% of insurance groups, in which the Exchange is included, are rated A+ or higher.

The financial statements of the Exchange are prepared in accordance with statutory accounting principles prescribed by the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania. Financial statements prepared under statutory accounting principles focus on the solvency of the insurer and generally provide a more
conservative approach than under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Statutory direct written premiums of the Exchange and its wholly owned
property and casualty subsidiaries grew 17.0% to $10.1 billion in 2023 from $8.6 billion in 2022. These premiums, along with investment income, are the
major sources of cash that support the operations of the Exchange. Policyholders' surplus, determined under statutory accounting principles, was $9.3
billion and $10.1 billion at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Exchange and its wholly owned property and casualty subsidiaries' year-over-
year policy retention ratio continues to be high at 91.2% at December 31, 2023 and 90.5% at December 31, 2022.

We have prepared our financial statements considering the financial strength of the Exchange based on its A.M. Best rating and strong level of surplus. See
Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" for possible outcomes that could impact that determination.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

Investments
Our investment portfolio is managed with the objective of maximizing after-tax returns on a risk-adjusted basis. The following table presents the carrying
value of our investments as of December 31:
 

(dollars in thousands) 2023 % to total 2022 % to total
Fixed maturities $ 961,241  85 % $ 894,661  84 %
Equity securities 84,253  7  72,560  7 
Agent loans 67,787  6  69,476  7 
Other investments 23,026  2  30,511  2 

 Total investments $ 1,136,307  100 % $ 1,067,208  100 %

(1) The current portion of agent loans is included in the line item "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" in the Statements of Financial Position.
(2) The current and long-term portions of other investments are included in the line items "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and "Other assets, net", respectively, in the

Statements of Financial Position.

We continually review our investment portfolio for impairment and determine whether the impairment is a result of credit loss or other factors. We analyze
all positions with an emphasis on those in a significant unrealized loss position. If we have the intent to sell or it's more likely than not that we would be
required to sell the security before recovery of the amortized cost basis, the entire impairment is recognized in earnings. Factors considered in the
evaluation of credit loss include the extent to which fair value is less than cost and fundamental factors specific to the issuer such as financial condition,
changes in credit ratings, near and long-term business prospects and other factors, as well as the likelihood of recovery of the amortized cost of the security.
Impairment resulting from credit loss is recognized in earnings with a corresponding allowance on the Statement of Financial Position. We believe our
investment valuation philosophy and accounting practices result in appropriate and timely measurement of fair value and recognition of impairment.

Fixed maturities
Under our investment strategy, we maintain a fixed maturity portfolio that is of high quality and well diversified within each market sector. This investment
strategy also achieves a balanced maturity schedule. Our fixed maturity portfolio is managed with the goal of achieving reasonable returns while limiting
exposure to risk.

Fixed maturities are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred taxes, included in shareholders' equity. Net unrealized losses on
fixed maturities, net of deferred taxes, totaled $24.7 million at December 31, 2023, compared to $52.5 million at December 31, 2022. Our evaluation of
deferred tax assets and the need for a valuation allowance included available tax planning strategies that could be implemented, if necessary, to support the
realizability of deferred tax assets. We believe those tax strategies are feasible and prudent.

The following table presents a breakdown of the fair value of our fixed maturity portfolio by industry sector and rating as of December 31, 2023: 

(in thousands) AAA AA A BBB

Non-
investment


grade
Fair


value
Basic materials $ 0  $ 0  $ 954  $ 4,345  $ 5,814  $ 11,113 
Communications 0  2,905  13,845  11,474  15,466  43,690 
Consumer 0  1,989  21,874  66,538  37,449  127,850 
Diversified 0  0  0  0  204  204 
Energy 0  0  3,860  21,854  9,239  34,953 
Financial 0  2,066  98,091  123,301  13,799  237,257 
Industrial 0  0  7,856  19,281  26,907  54,044 
Structured securities 137,058  190,550  27,517  16,464  117  371,706 
Technology 1,909  0  2,971  21,464  13,686  40,030 
Utilities 0  0  1,730  33,641  5,023  40,394 

Total $ 138,967  $ 197,510  $ 178,698  $ 318,362  $ 127,704  $ 961,241 

(1)     Ratings are supplied by S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch. The table is based upon the lowest rating for each security.
(2)    Structured securities include residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities, collateralized debt obligations, and asset-backed securities.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2) 
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Equity securities
Equity securities primarily include nonredeemable preferred stocks and are carried at fair value in the Statements of Financial Position with all changes in
unrealized gains and losses reflected in the Statements of Operations.

The following table presents an analysis of the fair value of our equity securities by sector as of December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Financial services $ 69,900  $ 61,084 
Utilities 5,810  5,708 
Energy 3,901  3,576 
Consumer 3,915  1,854 
Technology 500  0 
Industrial 180  0 
Communications 47  338 

Total $ 84,253  $ 72,560 

Shareholders' Equity
Postretirement benefit plans
The funded status of our postretirement benefit plans is recognized in the Statements of Financial Position, with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax. At December 31, 2023, shareholders' equity amounts related to these postretirement plans decreased by
$33.8 million, net of tax, of which $11.0 million represents amortization of the prior service cost and net actuarial gain and $22.8 million represents the
current period actuarial loss.  The 2023 actuarial loss was driven primarily by the lower discount rate used to measure the future benefit obligations,
partially offset by higher than expected return on plan assets. At December 31, 2022, shareholders' equity amounts related to these postretirement plans
increased by $76.5 million, net of tax, of which $6.9 million represents amortization of the prior service cost and net actuarial loss and $69.6 million
represents the current period actuarial gain.  The 2022 actuarial gain was driven by the higher discount rate, offset by lower than expected return on plan
assets. Although we are the sponsor of these postretirement plans and record the funded status of these plans, there are reimbursements between us and the
Exchange and its subsidiaries for their allocated share of pension income or cost. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 9,
Postretirement Benefits, of Notes to Financial Statements" contained within this report for additional details on these reimbursements.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We continue to monitor the sufficiency of our liquidity and capital resources given the potential impact of current economic
conditions, including the uncertain inflationary and interest rate environment. While we did not see a significant impact on our sources or uses of cash in
2023, future disruptions in the markets could occur which may affect our liquidity position. If our normal operating and investing cash activities were to
become insufficient to meet future funding requirements, we believe we have sufficient access to liquidity through our cash position, diverse liquid
marketable securities, and our $100 million bank revolving line of credit that does not expire until October 2026. See broader discussions of potential risks
to our operations in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained within this report.

Sources and Uses of Cash
Liquidity is a measure of a company's ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the short- and long-term cash requirements of its business operations
and growth needs.  Our liquidity requirements have been met primarily by funds generated from management fee revenue and income from investments. 
Cash provided from these sources is used primarily to fund the costs of our management operations including commissions, salaries and wages, pension
plans, share repurchases, dividends to shareholders, the purchase and development of information technology, and other capital expenditures.  We expect
that our operating cash needs will be met by funds generated from operations. Cash in excess of our operating needs is primarily invested in investment
grade fixed maturities. As part of our liquidity review, we regularly evaluate our capital needs based on current and projected results and consider the
potential impacts to our liquidity, borrowing capacity, financial covenants and capital availability.

We have certain obligations and commitments to make future payments under various agreements. Cash requirements within the next twelve months
include accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other current obligations.

Our long-term cash requirements under various contractual obligations and commitments include:

• Pension – We have a funded noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees and an unfunded SERP for certain
members of executive and senior management. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 9, Postretirement Benefits, of
Notes to Financial Statements" for the funding policy and related contributions for our defined benefit pension plan, and accumulated benefit
obligation for our unfunded SERP.

• Deferred compensation – We have two deferred compensation plans for our executives, senior vice presidents, and other selected officers and two
deferred compensation plans for our outside directors. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 10, Incentive and Deferred
Compensation Plans, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional details of these obligations and estimated future payments.

• Home office renovations – We have an agreement with an external contracting firm for renovations to an office building that is part of our principal
headquarters. Remaining commitments related to the underlying contracts due in the next 12 months totaled $30.8 million at December 31, 2023.
Additional contracts will be executed as we begin each new phase of the overall renovation project and will be funded using our working capital.
See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 7, Fixed Assets, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional details on
construction in progress costs and expected completion date.

• Other commitments – We have commitments for approximately $531 million which include agreements for various services, including information
technology, support and maintenance obligations, operating leases for equipment, vehicles and real estate, and other obligations in the ordinary
course of business. We expect to make future cash payments according to the contract terms. These agreements are enforceable and legally binding
and specify fixed amounts or minimum quantities to be purchased. Some agreements may contain cancellation provisions, some of which may
require us to pay a termination fee. Over half of these commitments are due in the next 12 months. We are reimbursed from the Exchange and its
subsidiaries for the portion of these costs related to administrative services.

We maintain relationships and cash balances at diversified and well-capitalized financial institutions and have established processes to monitor them. We
believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our current and
future cash requirements.

Volatility in the financial markets presents challenges to us as we occasionally access our investment portfolio as a source of cash.  Some of our fixed
income investments, despite being publicly traded, may be illiquid.  Volatility in these markets could impair our ability to sell certain fixed income
securities or cause such securities to sell at deep discounts.  We believe we have sufficient liquidity to meet our needs from sources other than the
liquidation of securities.
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Cash flow activities
The following table provides condensed cash flow information for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 381,205  $ 366,152  $ 402,794 
Net cash used in investing activities (157,565) (106,922) (185,490)
Net cash used in financing activities (221,675) (300,842) (194,842)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 1,965  $ (41,612) $ 22,462 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $381.2 million in 2023, compared to $366.2 million in 2022 and $402.8 million in 2021.  Increased cash
provided by operating activities in 2023, compared to 2022, was primarily due to an increase in management fees received of $319.2 million driven by
growth in direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. This was partially offset by increases in cash paid for agent commissions of
$157.9 million driven by premium growth, pension and employee benefits paid of $101.3 million primarily due to a $95.0 million pension contribution in
2023, and general operating expenses paid of $30.3 million primarily driven by higher information technology-related professional fees and hardware and
software costs. Decreased cash provided by operating activities in 2022, compared to 2021, was primarily due to increases in cash paid for agent
commissions of $75.9 million driven by premium growth, administrative services expenses paid of $35.0 million and a pension contribution of $25.0
million. Partially offsetting this decrease in cash provided by operating activities was an increase in management fees received of $118.9 million driven by
growth in direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $157.6 million in 2023, compared to $106.9 million in 2022 and $185.5 million in 2021. In 2023 and 2022, net
cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by fixed asset purchases of $92.6 million and $67.2 million, respectively, mostly related to software
and home office renovations. Additionally, purchases of investments exceeded proceeds generated from sales and maturities/calls of investments in both
periods, while 2023 also included $13.6 million in loans issued to fund real estate development projects supporting revitalization efforts in our community.
In 2021, net cash used in investing activities was mainly driven by fixed asset purchases of $148.8 million, which included the purchase of the home office
from the Exchange. To a lesser extent, purchases of investments exceeded proceeds generated from sales and maturities/calls of investments.

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $221.7 million in 2023, compared to $300.8 million in 2022 and $194.8 million in 2021. Changes in cash
related to financing activities were primarily due to the repayment of the remaining $93.2 million balance on the term loan in 2022.

Capital Outlook
We regularly prepare forecasts evaluating the current and future cash requirements for both normal and extreme risk events, including under current
inflationary conditions and a higher interest rate environment.  Should an extreme risk event result in a cash requirement exceeding normal cash flows, we
have the ability to meet our future funding requirements through various alternatives available to us.

Outside of our normal operating and investing cash activities, future funding requirements could be met through: 1) unrestricted and unpledged cash and
cash equivalents, which total approximately $128.7 million at December 31, 2023, 2) $100 million available bank revolving line of credit, and 3)
liquidation of unpledged assets held in our investment portfolio, including equity securities and investment grade bonds which totaled approximately
$799.0 million at December 31, 2023.  Volatility in the financial markets could impair our ability to sell certain fixed income securities or cause such
securities to sell at deep discounts.  Additionally, we have the ability to curtail or modify discretionary cash outlays such as those related to shareholder
dividends and share repurchase activities.

As of December 31, 2023, we have access to a $100 million bank revolving line of credit. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data -
Note 8, Bank Line of Credit, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional information.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have entered into certain contingent obligations for guarantees. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 16, Commitments
and Contingencies, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional information. We do not believe that these obligations will have a material current or
future effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Enterprise Risk Management
The role of our Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") function is to ensure that all significant risks are clearly identified, understood, proactively managed
and consistently monitored to achieve strategic objectives for all stakeholders. Our ERM program views risk holistically across our entire group of
companies. It ensures implementation of risk responses to mitigate potential impacts. See Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" contained in this report for a list
of risk factors.

Our ERM process is founded on a governance framework that includes oversight at multiple levels of our organization, including our Board of Directors
and executive management. Accountability to identify, manage, and mitigate risk is embedded within all functions and areas of our business. We have
defined risk tolerances to monitor and manage significant risks within acceptable levels. In addition to identifying, evaluating, prioritizing, monitoring, and
mitigating significant risks, our ERM process includes extreme event analyses and scenario testing. Given our defined tolerance for risk, risk model output
is used to quantify the potential variability of future performance and the sufficiency of capital and liquidity levels.

TRANSACTIONS/AGREEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Board Oversight
Our Board of Directors has a broad oversight responsibility over our intercompany relationships with the Exchange.  Thus, our Board of Directors may be
required to make decisions or take actions that may benefit subscribers at the Exchange and the overall health of the Exchange. These actions may
ultimately benefit our shareholders.

Insurance Holding Company System
Most states have enacted legislation that regulates insurance holding company systems, defined as two or more affiliated persons, one or more of which is
an insurer. The Exchange has the following wholly owned property and casualty subsidiaries: Erie Insurance Company, Erie Insurance Company of New
York, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company and Flagship City Insurance Company, and a wholly owned life insurance company, Erie Family Life
Insurance Company. Indemnity and the Exchange, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, meet the definition of an insurance holding company system.

Transactions within a holding company system affecting the member insurers of the holding company system must be fair and reasonable and any charges
or fees for services performed must be reasonable.  Approval by the applicable insurance commissioner is required prior to the consummation of certain
transactions affecting the members within a holding company system.

Intercompany Agreements
Subscriber's and services agreements
We serve as attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange, a reciprocal insurance exchange.  Each applicant for insurance to a reciprocal insurance
exchange (a subscriber) signs a subscriber's agreement that contains an appointment of an attorney-in-fact.  Through the designation of attorney-in-fact, we
are required to provide policy issuance and renewal services and act as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to all
administrative services, as discussed previously.  In accordance with the subscriber's agreement, we retain a management fee for these services calculated
as a percentage of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the
Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. The
Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for all administrative services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the
subsidiaries and Indemnity. The subscriber's agreement and service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to
Indemnity.  Reimbursements are settled at cost on a monthly basis. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any
material amendments be approved in advance by the state insurance department.

Shared facilities
The Exchange and its subsidiaries have a service agreement with Indemnity to use space in Indemnity-owned properties. See Item 8. "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data - Note 14, Related Party, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional details.

Cost Allocation
The allocation of costs affects our financial condition and that of the Exchange and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Management's role is to determine that
allocations are consistently made in accordance with the subscriber's agreement with the subscribers at the Exchange, intercompany service agreements,
and applicable insurance laws and regulations. Allocation of costs under these various agreements requires judgment and interpretation by Indemnity, and
such allocations are performed using a consistent methodology, which is intended to adhere to the terms and intentions of the underlying agreements.
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Intercompany Receivables
We have significant receivables from the Exchange and its affiliates that result in a concentration of credit risk. Net receivables from the Exchange and
other affiliates were $625.3 million, or 25.3% of total assets, at December 31, 2023 and $524.9 million, or 23.4% of total assets, at December 31, 2022.
These receivables include management fees due for policy issuance and renewal services performed by us under the subscriber's agreement, and certain
costs we incur acting as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance
subsidiaries with respect to all administrative services, as discussed previously. These receivables from the Exchange and other affiliates are settled
monthly. We continually monitor the financial strength of the Exchange.

Other Loans Receivable
In December 2023, we issued two senior secured loans totaling $13.6 million to fund a real estate development project supporting revitalization efforts in
our community. Ownership in the project includes related party and unrelated investors. See Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note
14,  Related Party, of Notes to Financial Statements" for additional details.

ITEM 7A.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates, credit spreads, equity prices, or foreign exchange rates, as well as other relevant
market rate or price changes. The volatility and liquidity in the markets in which the underlying assets are traded directly influence market risk. The
following is a discussion of our primary risk exposures, including interest rate risk, investment credit risk, concentration risk, liquidity risk, and equity price
risk, and how those exposures are currently managed as of December 31, 2023.
 
Interest Rate Risk
We invest primarily in fixed maturity investments, which comprised 85% of our invested assets at December 31, 2023. The value of the fixed maturity
portfolio is subject to interest rate risk. As market interest rates decrease, the value of the portfolio increases with the opposite holding true in rising interest
rate environments. We do not hedge our exposure to interest rate risk. A common measure of the interest sensitivity of fixed maturity assets is effective
duration, a calculation that utilizes maturity, coupon rate, yield, and call terms to calculate an expected change in fair value given a change in interest rates.
The longer the duration, the more sensitive the asset is to market interest rate fluctuations. Duration is analyzed at least quarterly to ensure that it remains in
the targeted range.
 
A sensitivity analysis is used to measure the potential loss in future earnings, fair values, or cash flows of interest-sensitive instruments resulting from one
or more selected hypothetical changes in interest rates and other market rates or prices over a selected period. The following pro forma information is
presented assuming a 100-basis point parallel increase in interest rates across the yield curve at December 31 of each year and reflects the estimated effect
on the fair value of our fixed maturity portfolio. 

Fixed maturities interest-rate sensitivity analysis
 

(dollars in thousands) At December 31,
2023 2022

Fair value of fixed maturity portfolio $ 961,241  $ 894,661 
Fair value assuming 100-basis point rise in interest rates $ 935,444  $ 868,919 
Effective duration (as a percentage) 2.7 2.9
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While the fixed maturity portfolio is sensitive to interest rates, the future principal cash flows that will be received by contractual maturity date are
presented below at December 31, 2023 and 2022. Actual cash flows may differ from those stated as a result of calls, prepayments, or defaults.

Contractual repayments of principal by maturity date

(in thousands)

Fixed maturities: December 31, 2023
2024 $ 81,072 
2025 96,519 
2026 79,385 
2027 116,418 
2028 137,065 
Thereafter 481,895 
Total $ 992,354 
Fair value $ 961,241 

(in thousands)

Fixed maturities: December 31, 2022
2023 $ 24,561 
2024 104,164 
2025 125,785 
2026 79,745 
2027 116,571 
Thereafter 500,905 
Total $ 951,731 
Fair value $ 894,661 

 

Investment Credit Risk
Our objective is to earn competitive returns by investing in a diversified portfolio of securities. Our portfolios of fixed maturity securities, equity securities
and, to a lesser extent, short-term investments are subject to credit risk. This risk is defined as the potential loss in fair value resulting from adverse changes
in the borrower's ability to repay the debt. We manage this risk by performing upfront underwriting analysis and ongoing reviews of credit quality by
position and for the portfolio in total. We do not hedge the credit risk inherent in our fixed maturity and equity securities investments.

Generally, the fixed maturities in our portfolio are rated by external rating agencies. If not externally rated, we rate them internally on a basis consistent
with that used by the rating agencies. We classify all fixed maturities as available-for-sale securities, allowing us to meet our liquidity needs and provide
greater flexibility to appropriately respond to changes in market conditions.
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The following tables show our fixed maturity investments by rating :

At December 31, 2023
(dollars in thousands) Amortized cost Fair value Percent of total
AAA, AA, A $ 537,751  $ 515,175  54 %
BBB 324,538  318,362  33 

Total investment grade 862,289  833,537  87 
BB 51,564  50,170  5 
B 65,453  65,251  7 
CCC, CC, C, and below 13,247  12,283  1 

Total non-investment grade 130,264  127,704  13 
Total $ 992,553  $ 961,241  100 %

At December 31, 2022
(dollars in thousands) Amortized cost Fair value Percent of total
AAA, AA, A $ 518,088  $ 479,413  54 %
BBB 318,801  300,900  33 

Total investment grade 836,889  780,313  87 
BB 45,784  41,978  5 
B 66,574  62,530  7 
CCC, CC, C, and below 11,888  9,840  1 

Total non-investment grade 124,246  114,348  13 
Total $ 961,135  $ 894,661  100 %

 (1)          Ratings are supplied by S&P, Moody's, and Fitch. The table is based upon the lowest rating for each security.

We are also exposed to a concentration of credit risk with the Exchange.  See the "Transactions/Agreements with Related Parties, Intercompany
Receivables" section of Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" contained within this report for
further discussion of this risk.
 
Concentration Risk
While our portfolio is well diversified within each market sector, there is an inherent risk of concentration in a particular industry or sector. We continually
monitor our level of exposure to individual issuers as well as our allocation to each industry and market sector against internally established policies. See
the "Financial Condition" section of Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" contained within
this report for details of investment holdings by sector.

Liquidity Risk
Periods of volatility in the financial markets can create conditions where fixed maturity investments, despite being publicly traded, can become illiquid.
However, we actively manage the maturity profile of our fixed maturity portfolio such that scheduled repayments of principal occur on a regular basis. 

Equity Price Risk
Our portfolio of equity securities, which primarily includes nonredeemable preferred stock, is carried on the Statements of Financial Position at estimated
fair value. Equity securities are exposed to the risk of potential loss in estimated fair value resulting from an adverse change in prices ("price risk"). We do
not hedge our exposure to price risk inherent in our equity investments.

(1)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Erie Indemnity Company

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Erie Indemnity Company (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
related statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 26, 2024 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion
on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical
audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Proportional Cost Allocation 

Description of the

Matter
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company’s administrative services reimbursement revenue totaled
$737.1 million. The Company’s primary function, as attorney-in-fact, is to perform certain services on behalf of the
subscribers at the Erie Insurance Exchange (Exchange) and its insurance subsidiaries, in accordance with the
subscriber’s agreement and the service agreements with each of the Exchange’s insurance subsidiaries. As
explained in Note 2 of the financial statements, in accordance with the approved subscriber’s agreement and service
agreements, administrative services, which include costs associated with claims handling services, life insurance
related operating activities, investment management, and operating overhead incurred by the Company on behalf of
the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries, are reimbursed to the Company at cost and recorded as administrative
services reimbursement revenue, based on the nature of the cost or relevant utilization statistic.


Auditing management’s proportional cost allocations was complex due to the multiple costs that are allocated, the
extensiveness of the allocation process, and the degree of auditor judgement needed to design the nature and extent
of audit procedures required to address the matter.







How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the
Company’s proportional cost allocations process. This included, among others, testing management’s review
controls over the determination of the utilization statistics and ultimate allocation of costs to the Exchange and its
insurance subsidiaries.


To test the Company’s proportional cost allocations, our procedures included, among others, evaluating that the
costs included in the allocations are in accordance with the subscriber’s agreement and the service agreements with
each of the Exchange’s insurance subsidiaries. We tested the completeness and accuracy of the costs subjected to
allocation through testing the reconciliation of the costs recorded in the source systems to the costs that are
allocated, testing a sample of cost allocations, and testing the reconciliation of the cost allocation output to the
general ledger. We evaluated the allocation of costs to the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries with the costs
allocated in prior periods.







/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2003.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 26, 2024
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2023 2022 2021
Operating revenue

Management fee revenue - policy issuance and renewal services $ 2,442,073  $ 2,087,846  $ 1,913,166 
Management fee revenue - administrative services 63,669  58,323  58,286 
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 737,139  668,268  638,483 
Service agreement revenue 26,059  25,687  24,042 
Total operating revenue 3,268,940  2,840,124  2,633,977 

Operating expenses
Cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal services 2,011,545  1,795,642  1,677,397 
Cost of operations - administrative services 737,139  668,268  638,483 
Total operating expenses 2,748,684  2,463,910  2,315,880 

Operating income 520,256  376,214  318,097 

Investment income
Net investment income 44,572  28,585  62,177 
Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains (5,838) (27,286) 4,946 
Net impairment (losses) recoveries recognized in earnings (9,766) (667) 209 

Total investment income 28,968  632  67,332 

Interest expense, net —  2,009  4,132 
Other income (expense) 12,712  1,615  (4,893)
Income before income taxes 561,936  376,452  376,404 
Income tax expense 115,875  77,883  78,544 

Net income $ 446,061  $ 298,569  $ 297,860 

Earnings Per Share
Net income per share

Class A common stock – basic $ 9.58  $ 6.41  $ 6.40 
Class A common stock – diluted $ 8.53  $ 5.71  $ 5.69 
Class B common stock – basic and diluted $ 1,437  $ 962  $ 959 

Weighted average shares outstanding – Basic
Class A common stock 46,188,981  46,188,916  46,188,806 
Class B common stock 2,542  2,542  2,542 

Weighted average shares outstanding – Diluted
Class A common stock 52,299,411  52,297,990  52,307,302 
Class B common stock 2,542  2,542  2,542 

See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. See Note 13, "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)", for amounts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into the Statements of Operations. 
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Net income $ 446,061  $ 298,569  $ 297,860 

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
     

Change in unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities 27,784  (58,692) (17,112)
Pension and other postretirement plans (33,770) 76,566  69,967 

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (5,986) 17,874  52,855 
Comprehensive income $ 440,075  $ 316,443  $ 350,715 

See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. See Note 13, "Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)", for amounts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into the Statements of Operations. 
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2023 2022
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (includes restricted cash of $12,542 and $11,932, respectively) $ 144,055  $ 142,090 
Available-for-sale securities 82,017  24,267 
Receivables from Erie Insurance Exchange and affiliates, net 625,338  524,937 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 69,321  79,201 
Accrued investment income 9,458  8,301 

Total current assets 930,189  778,796 

Available-for-sale securities, net 879,224  870,394 
Equity securities 84,253  72,560 
Fixed assets, net 442,610  413,874 
Agent loans, net 58,434  60,537 
Defined benefit pension plan 34,320  0 
Other assets, net 42,934  43,295 

Total assets $ 2,471,964  $ 2,239,456 

Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Commissions payable $ 353,709  $ 300,028 
Agent incentive compensation 68,077  95,166 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 175,622  165,915 
Dividends payable 59,377  55,419 
Contract liability 41,210  36,547 
Deferred executive compensation 10,982  12,036 

Total current liabilities 708,977  665,111 

Defined benefit pension plans 26,260  51,224 
Contract liability 19,910  17,895 
Deferred executive compensation 20,936  13,724 
Deferred income taxes, net 11,481  14,075 
Other long-term liabilities 21,565  29,019 

Total liabilities 809,129  791,048 

Shareholders' equity
Class A common stock, stated value $0.0292 per share; 74,996,930 shares authorized; 68,299,200 shares

issued; 46,189,068 shares outstanding 1,992  1,992 
Class B common stock, convertible at a rate of 2,400 Class A shares for one Class B share, stated value $70

per share; 3,070 shares authorized; 2,542 shares issued and outstanding 178  178 
Additional paid-in-capital 16,466  16,481 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (13,400) (7,414)
Retained earnings 2,803,689  2,583,261 

Total contributed capital and retained earnings 2,808,925  2,594,498 
Treasury stock, at cost; 22,110,132 shares held (1,169,165) (1,168,949)
Deferred compensation 23,075  22,859 

Total shareholders' equity 1,662,835  1,448,408 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 2,471,964  $ 2,239,456 

See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. 
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Class A
common stock

Class B
common stock

Additional
paid-in-capital

Accumulated other
comprehensive
(loss) income Retained earnings Treasury stock

Deferred
compensation

Total shareholders'
equity

Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 1,992  $ 178  $ 16,487  $ (78,143) $ 2,393,624  $ (1,163,670) $ 17,580  $ 1,188,048 
Net income 297,860  297,860 
Other comprehensive income 52,855  52,855 
Dividends declared:

Class A $4.215 per share (194,687) (194,687)
Class B $632.25 per share (1,607) (1,607)

Net purchase of treasury stock 9  0  9 
Deferred compensation (5,131) 5,131  0 
Rabbi trust distribution 973  (973) 0 
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 1,992  $ 178  $ 16,496  $ (25,288) $ 2,495,190  $ (1,167,828) $ 21,738  $ 1,342,478 
Net income 298,569  298,569 
Other comprehensive income 17,874  17,874 
Dividends declared:

Class A $4.52 per share (208,775) (208,775)
Class B $678.00 per share (1,723) (1,723)

Net purchase of treasury stock (15) 0  (15)
Deferred compensation (2,975) 2,975  0 
Rabbi trust distribution 1,854  (1,854) 0 
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 1,992  $ 178  $ 16,481  $ (7,414) $ 2,583,261  $ (1,168,949) $ 22,859  $ 1,448,408 
Net income 446,061  446,061 
Other comprehensive loss (5,986) (5,986)
Dividends declared:

Class A $4.845 per share (223,786) (223,786)
Class B $726.75 per share (1,847) (1,847)

Net purchase of treasury stock (15) 0  (15)
Deferred compensation (2,228) 2,228  0 
Rabbi trust distribution 2,012  (2,012) 0 
Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 1,992  $ 178  $ 16,466  $ (13,400) $ 2,803,689  $ (1,169,165) $ 23,075  $ 1,662,835 

(1) Net purchases of treasury stock in 2021, 2022 and 2023 include the repurchase of our Class A common stock in the open market that were subsequently distributed to satisfy stock-based compensation awards. See Note
10, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans".

(2) Distributions of our Class A shares were made from the rabbi trust to a retired director and an incentive compensation deferral plan participant in 2021, four incentive compensation deferral plan participants in 2022,
and five incentive compensation plan deferral plan participants in 2023 . See Note 10, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans".

See accompanying notes to Financial Statements.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities

Management fee received $ 2,420,192  $ 2,100,989  $ 1,982,092 
Administrative services reimbursements received 721,928  668,857  634,300 
Service agreement revenue received 26,018  25,515  24,014 
Net investment income received 57,448  40,161  45,830 
Commissions paid to agents (1,200,014) (1,042,158) (966,285)
Incentive compensation paid to agents (120,211) (136,403) (123,583)
Salaries and wages paid (226,036) (208,575) (204,279)
Pension contribution and employee benefits paid (169,762) (68,433) (32,836)
General operating expenses paid (293,857) (263,524) (235,294)
Administrative services expenses paid (730,129) (667,524) (632,530)
Income taxes paid (104,372) (80,619) (84,494)
Interest paid —  (2,134) (4,141)

Net cash provided by operating activities 381,205  366,152  402,794 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments:

Available-for-sale securities (279,999) (465,071) (380,017)
Equity securities (35,480) (18,929) (58,191)
Other investments (88) (157) (1,646)

Proceeds from investments:
Available-for-sale securities sales 160,614  295,996  150,153 
Available-for-sale securities maturities/calls 76,617  130,401  184,820 
Equity securities 24,458  20,456  64,118 
Other investments 871  429  1,076 

Purchase of fixed assets (92,647) (67,204) (148,800)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets —  265  — 
Loans to agents and other (20,525) (11,631) (6,382)
Collections on agent and other loans 8,614  8,523  9,379 

Net cash used in investing activities (157,565) (106,922) (185,490)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders (221,675) (206,772) (192,801)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings —  55,000  — 
Payments on short-term borrowings —  (55,000) — 
Payments on long-term borrowings —  (94,070) (2,041)

Net cash used in financing activities (221,675) (300,842) (194,842)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 1,965  (41,612) 22,462 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year 142,090  183,702  161,240 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year $ 144,055  $ 142,090  $ 183,702 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash transactions
Liability incurred to purchase fixed assets $ —  $ 26,386  $ 12,802 
Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities $ 5,866  $ 7,650  $ 3,447 

See accompanying notes to Financial Statements. See Note 17, "Supplementary Data on Cash Flows", for additional supplemental cash flow information.
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ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.  Nature of Operations

Erie Indemnity Company ("Indemnity", "we", "us", "our") is a publicly held Pennsylvania business corporation that has since its incorporation in 1925
served as the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Erie Insurance Exchange ("Exchange").  The Exchange, which also commenced
business in 1925, is a Pennsylvania-domiciled reciprocal insurer that writes property and casualty insurance.

Our primary function as attorney-in-fact is to perform policy issuance and renewal services on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange. We also act as
attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with respect to all claims handling and investment management services, as well as the service
provider for all claims handling, life insurance, and investment management services for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, collectively referred to as
"administrative services". Acting as attorney-in-fact in these two capacities is done in accordance with a subscriber's agreement (a limited power of
attorney) executed individually by each subscriber (policyholder), which appoints Indemnity as each subscriber's attorney-in-fact to transact certain
business on their behalf.  In accordance with the subscriber's agreement for acting as attorney-in-fact in these two capacities, we retain a management fee
calculated as a percentage of the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange.

The policy issuance and renewal services we provide on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange are related to the sales, underwriting and issuance of
policies. The sales related services we provide include agent compensation and certain sales and advertising support services. Agent compensation includes
scheduled commissions to agents based upon premiums written as well as incentive compensation, which is earned by achieving targeted measures. Agent
compensation comprised approximately 67% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The underwriting services we provide include
underwriting and policy processing and comprised approximately 9% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. The remaining services we
provide include customer service and administrative support. We also provide information technology services that support all the functions listed above
that comprised approximately 11% of our 2023 policy issuance and renewal expenses. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments
that support these policy issuance and renewal functions.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual
relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with
respect to administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these
services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the
claims process, including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include costs
incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to investment trading activity,
accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. Included in these expenses are allocations of costs for departments that support
these administrative functions. The subscriber's agreement and service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to
Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled at cost. State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be
approved in advance by the state insurance department.

Our results of operations are tied to the growth and financial condition of the Exchange. If any events occurred that impaired the Exchange’s ability to grow
or sustain its financial condition, including but not limited to reduced financial strength ratings, disruption in the independent agency relationships,
significant catastrophe losses, or products not meeting customer demands, the Exchange could find it more difficult to retain its existing business and
attract new business. A decline in the business of the Exchange almost certainly could have as a consequence a decline in the total premiums paid and a
correspondingly adverse effect on the amount of the management fees we receive. We also have an exposure to a concentration of credit risk related to the
unsecured receivables due from the Exchange for net management fee and other reimbursements. See Note 15, "Concentrations of Credit Risk".
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Note 2.  Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently issued accounting standards
In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-07, "Segment Reporting
(Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures", which requires entities to disclose significant segment expenses that are regularly provided
to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported period of profit or loss, and requires entities with a single reporting segment to
provide all disclosures required by Topic 280. The amendments in this ASU are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023,
and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The update is required to be applied retrospectively
to prior periods presented in the financial statements, based on the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption.
This will have no impact on our financial statements. We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures", which requires entities to
disclose specific categories in an effective tax rate reconciliation, additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, and certain
information about income taxes paid. The amendments in this ASU are required to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early
adoption is permitted. The amendments can be applied on either a prospective or retrospective basis. This will have no impact on our financial statements.
We are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our disclosures.

Cash and cash equivalents – Cash, money market accounts and other short-term, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the
date of purchase, are considered cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted cash – Restricted cash represents deposits held for the benefit of third parties related primarily to our agent loan participation program. These
restricted funds are invested in bank deposits, contractually restricted as to withdrawal or usage, and included with "Cash and cash equivalents" in our
Statements of Financial Position.

Investments
Available-for-sale securities – Fixed maturity debt securities and redeemable preferred stock are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value
with unrealized investment gains and losses, net of income taxes, recognized in other comprehensive income. Available-for-sale securities with a remaining
maturity of 12 months or less and any security that we intend to sell as of the reporting date are classified as current assets.

Available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position are evaluated to determine whether the impairment is a result of credit loss or other factors. If we
have the intent to sell or it's more likely than not that we would be required to sell the security before recovery of the amortized cost basis, the entire
impairment is recognized in earnings. Securities that have experienced a decline in fair value that we do not intend to sell, and that we will not be required
to sell before recovery, are evaluated to determine if the decline in fair value is credit related. Impairment resulting from a credit loss is recognized in
earnings with a corresponding allowance on the Statement of Financial Position. Future recoveries of credit loss result in an adjustment to the allowance
and earnings in the period the credit conditions improve. Factors considered in the evaluation of credit loss include the extent to which fair value is less
than cost and fundamental factors specific to the issuer such as financial condition, changes in credit ratings, near and long-term business prospects and
other factors, as well as the likelihood of recovery of the amortized cost of the security. If the qualitative review indicates credit impairment, the allowance
for credit loss is measured as the amount that the security’s amortized cost exceeds the present value of cash flows expected to be collected and is limited to
the amount that fair value is below amortized cost.

Equity securities – Equity securities primarily include non-redeemable preferred stocks that are reported at fair value with changes in the fair value
recognized in net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses). Securities that we intend to sell as of the reporting date are classified as current assets.
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Realized gains and losses and investment income – Realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale and equity securities are recognized in income
based upon the specific identification method and reported in net realized and unrealized investment gains (losses). Interest income is recognized as earned
and includes amortization of premium and accretion of discount. Income is recognized based on the constant effective yield method, which includes
periodically updated prepayment assumptions obtained from third party data sources on our prepaying securities. The effective yield for prepaying
securities is recalculated on a retrospective basis.  Dividend income is recognized at the ex-dividend date. Interest and dividend income and the results of
our limited partnership investments are reported as net investment income. We do not record an allowance for credit losses on accrued investment income
on our available-for-sale securities as any amount deemed uncollectible is reversed from interest income in the period the expected payment defaults.

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts in the
financial statements, using the statutory tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to settle or be realized.  The effect on deferred
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period that includes the enactment date under the law.  The
need for valuation allowances on deferred tax assets are estimated based upon our assessment of the realizability of such amounts.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Fixed assets are primarily comprised of software, which includes internally
used capitalized software and development costs, as well as building and building improvements, equipment, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold
improvements. Assets in use are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life except for leasehold improvements, which are
depreciated over the shorter of their economic useful life or the lease term. Software is depreciated over periods ranging from 3-7 years, buildings and
building improvements are depreciated over 20-45 years, equipment is depreciated over 3-10 years, and furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 7 years.
We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Under these
circumstances, if the fair value were less than the carrying amount of the asset, we would recognize a loss for the difference.

Agent loans
Agent loans, the majority of which are senior secured, are carried at unpaid principal balance net of a current expected credit loss allowance with interest
recorded in investment income as earned. The allowance is estimated using available loss history and/or external loss rates based on comparable loan losses
and considers current market conditions and forecasted information. Changes to the allowance are recognized in earnings as adjustments to net impairment
recoveries (losses). Any current portion of agent loans is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Other assets
Other assets primarily include limited partnership investments, other loans receivable, operating lease assets, and other long-term prepaid assets. Limited
partnership investments are recorded using the equity method of accounting. Other loans receivable include loans issued to fund real estate development
projects supporting revitalization efforts in our community. The loans are carried at unpaid principal balance, including any paid-in-kind interest capitalized
as additional principal, if applicable, net of a current expected credit loss allowance. The allowances are calculated using the estimated value of, and
priority rights to, collateral in the event of default or external loss rates based on comparable loan losses, and considers current market conditions and
forecasted information. Changes to the allowances are recognized in earnings as adjustments to net impairment recoveries (losses) or other income
(expense) depending on the nature of the loan. Interest on these loans is recorded primarily in investment income as earned. Any current portion of other
loans receivable is recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Agent incentive compensation liability
Our more significant agent incentive compensation plan is based upon an individual agency's property and casualty underwriting profitability and also
includes a component for growth in agency property and casualty premiums if the agency's underwriting profitability targets for the book of business are
met.  The estimated liability for this agent incentive compensation plan is based upon the performance over 36 months, and is modeled on a monthly basis
using actual underwriting results for the two prior years and current year-to-date actual results and forecasted results for the remainder of the year. Our
second agent incentive compensation plan is based on an agency's one-year underwriting profitability and uses a similar model but considers actual and
forecasted results for a calendar year only. At December 31 of each year, we use actual data available and record an accrual based upon the expected
payment amount.  These costs are included in cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal services.
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Recognition of management fee revenue
We retain management fees from the Exchange under the subscriber’s agreement for services provided. In accordance with the subscriber’s agreement, we
may retain up to 25% of all direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. The management fee rate is set at least annually by our Board
of Directors. The management fee revenue is calculated by multiplying the management fee rate by the direct and affiliated assumed premiums written by
the Exchange and is allocated between the two performance obligations we have under the subscriber's agreement. The first performance obligation is to
provide policy issuance and renewal services. The second performance obligation is acting as the attorney-in-fact with respect to various administrative
services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement.

Management fee revenue allocated to the policy issuance and renewal services is recognized at the time of policy issuance or renewal, because it is at the
time of policy issuance or renewal when the economic benefit of the service we provide (the substantially completed policy issuance or renewal service)
and the control of the promised asset (the executed insurance policy) transfers to the customer.

Management fee revenue allocated to the second performance obligation relates to us acting as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the
Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to the administrative services and is recognized over a
four-year period representing the time over which the economic benefit of the services provided (i.e. management of the administrative services) transfers
to the customer.

Administrative services
Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual
relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with
respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these
services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Claims handling services include costs incurred in the
claims process, including the adjustment, investigation, defense, recording and payment functions. Life insurance management services include costs
incurred in the management and processing of life insurance business. Investment management services are related to investment trading activity,
accounting and all other functions attributable to the investment of funds. Common overhead expenses and certain service department costs incurred by us
on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange and its insurance subsidiaries are reimbursed by the proper entity based upon relevant utilization statistics
specifically measured to accomplish proportional allocations, which we believe are reasonable. In 2023, approximately 71% of the administrative services
expenses were entirely attributable to the respective administrative functions (claims handling, life insurance management and investment management),
while the remaining 29% of these expenses were allocations of costs for departments that support these administrative functions. The expenses we incur
and related reimbursements we receive for administrative services are presented gross in our Statements of Operations. The subscriber's agreement and
service agreements provide for reimbursement of amounts incurred for these services to Indemnity. Reimbursements are settled at cost on a monthly basis.
State insurance regulations require that intercompany service agreements and any material amendments be approved in advance by the state insurance
department.

Recognition of service agreement revenue
Service agreement revenue primarily consists of service charges we collect from policyholders for providing multiple payment plans on policies written by
the Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries.  Service charges, which are fixed dollar charges for each installment billed beyond the first
installment, are recognized as revenue when bills are rendered to the policyholder. Service agreement revenue also includes late payment and policy
reinstatement fees, which are also recognized as revenue when bills are rendered to the policyholder. We also have a service agreement with the Exchange
for the use of shared office space. Revenue related to this agreement is recognized at the time the space is used based on relevant utilization statistics.
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Note 3.  Revenue

The majority of our revenue is derived from the subscriber’s agreement between us and the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange. In accordance with
the subscriber’s agreement, we retain a management fee calculated as a percentage, not to exceed 25%, of all direct and affiliated assumed written
premiums of the Exchange. We allocate a portion of our management fee revenue, currently 25% of the direct and affiliated assumed written premiums of
the Exchange, between the two performance obligations we have under the subscriber’s agreement. The first performance obligation is to provide policy
issuance and renewal services to the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange, and the second is to act as attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at
the Exchange, as well as the service provider for the Exchange's insurance subsidiaries, with respect to all administrative services.

The transaction price, including management fee revenue and administrative services reimbursement revenue, includes variable consideration and is
allocated based on the estimated standalone selling prices developed using industry information and other available information for similar services. A
constraining estimate of variable consideration exists related to the potential for management fees to be returned if a policy were to be cancelled mid-term.
Management fees are returned to the Exchange when policyholders cancel their insurance coverage mid-term and premiums are refunded to them. The
constraining estimate is determined using the expected value method, based on both historical and current information. The estimated transaction price, as
reduced by the constraint, reflects consideration expected for performance of our services. We update the transaction price and the related allocation at least
annually based upon the most recent information available or more frequently if there have been significant changes in any components considered in the
transaction price.

The first performance obligation is to provide policy issuance and renewal services that result in executed insurance policies between the Exchange or one
of its insurance subsidiaries and the subscriber (policyholder). The subscriber (policyholder) receives economic benefits when substantially all the policy
issuance or renewal services are complete and an insurance policy is issued or renewed by the Exchange or one of its insurance subsidiaries. It is at the time
of policy issuance or renewal that the allocated portion of revenue is recognized.

Consistent with its legal structure as a reciprocal insurer, the Exchange does not have any employees or officers. Therefore, it enters into contractual
relationships by and through the subscribers' attorney-in-fact. Indemnity serves as the attorney-in-fact on behalf of the subscribers at the Exchange with
respect to its administrative services as enumerated in the subscriber's agreement. The Exchange's insurance subsidiaries also utilize Indemnity for these
services in accordance with the service agreements between each of the subsidiaries and Indemnity. Collectively, these services represent a second
performance obligation under the subscriber’s agreement and the service agreements. The revenue allocated to this performance obligation is recognized
over a four-year period representing the time over which these services are provided. The portion of revenue not yet earned is recorded as a contract
liability in the Statements of Financial Position. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, we recognized revenue of $36.5 million,
$34.9 million, and $36.9 million, respectively, that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the respective periods. The
administrative services expenses we incur and the related reimbursements we receive are recorded gross in the Statements of Operations.

Indemnity records a receivable from the Exchange for management fee revenue when the premium is written or assumed from affiliates by the Exchange.
Indemnity collects the management fee from the Exchange when the Exchange collects the premiums from the subscribers (policyholders). As the
Exchange issues policies with annual terms only, cash collections generally occur within one year.

The following table disaggregates revenue by our two performance obligations for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Management fee revenue - policy issuance and renewal services $ 2,442,073  $ 2,087,846  $ 1,913,166 

Management fee revenue - administrative services 63,669  58,323  58,286 
Administrative services reimbursement revenue 737,139  668,268  638,483 

Total revenue from administrative services $ 800,808  $ 726,591  $ 696,769 

50



Table of Contents

Note 4.  Earnings Per Share
 
Class A and Class B basic earnings per share and Class B diluted earnings per share are calculated under the two-class method. The two-class method
allocates earnings to each class of stock based upon its dividend rights.  Class B shares are convertible into Class A shares at a conversion ratio of 2,400 to
1. See Note 12, "Capital Stock".

Class A diluted earnings per share are calculated under the if-converted method, which reflects the conversion of Class B shares to Class A shares. Diluted
earnings per share calculations include the dilutive effect of assumed issuance of stock-based awards under compensation plans that have the option to be
paid in stock using the treasury stock method. See Note 10, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans".
 
A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in the basic and diluted per-share computations is presented as follows for each class of common
stock:

(dollars in thousands, except
per share data) For the years ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Allocated net

income
(numerator)

Weighted shares
(denominator)

Per- share
amount

Allocated net
income

(numerator)

Weighted shares
(denominator)

Per- share
amount

Allocated net
income

(numerator)

Weighted shares
(denominator)

Per- share
amount

Class A – Basic EPS:
Income available to  Class A

stockholders $ 442,409  46,188,981  $ 9.58  $ 296,125  46,188,916  $ 6.41  $ 295,421  46,188,806  $ 6.40 
Dilutive effect of stock-based

awards 0  9,630  —  0  8,274  —  0  17,696  — 
Assumed conversion of Class

B shares 3,652  6,100,800  —  2,444  6,100,800  —  2,439  6,100,800  — 
Class A – Diluted EPS:

     

Income available to Class A
stockholders on Class A
equivalent shares $ 446,061  52,299,411  $ 8.53  $ 298,569  52,297,990  $ 5.71  $ 297,860  52,307,302  $ 5.69 

Class B – Basic EPS:
     

Income available to Class B
stockholders $ 3,652  2,542  $ 1,437  $ 2,444  2,542  $ 962  $ 2,439  2,542  $ 959 

Class B – Diluted EPS:
     

Income available to Class B
stockholders $ 3,652  2,542  $ 1,437  $ 2,444  2,542  $ 962  $ 2,438  2,542  $ 959 
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Note 5. Fair Value
 
Financial instruments carried at fair value
Our available-for-sale and equity securities are recorded at fair value, which is the price that would be received to sell the asset in an orderly transaction
between willing market participants as of the measurement date.
 
Valuation techniques used to derive the fair value of our available-for-sale and equity securities are based upon observable and unobservable inputs.
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs reflect our own assumptions regarding fair market value for
these securities. Financial instruments are categorized based upon the following characteristics or inputs to the valuation techniques:
 

• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity can access at the measurement
date.

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
 
Estimates of fair values for our investment portfolio are obtained primarily from a nationally recognized pricing service. Our Level 1 securities are valued
using an exchange traded price provided by the pricing service. Pricing service valuations for Level 2 securities include multiple verifiable, observable
inputs including benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, and
reference data. Pricing service valuations for Level 3 securities are based upon proprietary models and are used when observable inputs are not available or
in illiquid markets.
 
Although virtually all of our prices are obtained from third party sources, we also perform internal pricing reviews, including evaluating the methodology
and inputs used to ensure that we determine the proper classification level of the financial instrument and reviewing securities with price changes that vary
significantly from current market conditions or independent price sources. Price variances are investigated and corroborated by market data and transaction
volumes. We have reviewed the pricing methodologies of our pricing service as well as other observable inputs and believe that the prices adequately
consider market activity in determining fair value. 

In limited circumstances we adjust the price received from the pricing service when, in our judgment, a better reflection of fair value is available based
upon corroborating information and our knowledge and monitoring of market conditions such as a disparity in price of comparable securities and/or non-
binding broker quotes. In other circumstances, certain securities are internally priced because prices are not provided by the pricing service.
 
When a price from the pricing service is not available, values are determined by obtaining broker/dealer quotes and/or market comparables. When
available, we obtain multiple quotes for the same security. The ultimate value for these securities is determined based upon our best estimate of fair value
using corroborating market information. As of December 31, 2023, nearly all of our available-for-sale and equity securities were priced using a third party
pricing service.
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The following tables present our fair value measurements on a recurring basis by asset class and level of input as of:

December 31, 2023
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 588,688  $ 0  $ 584,182  $ 4,506 
Collateralized debt obligations 112,468  0  112,468  0 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 102,720  0  91,726  10,994 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 140,055  0  138,521  1,534 
Other debt securities 17,310  0  17,310  0 

Total available-for-sale securities 961,241  0  944,207  17,034 
Equity securities:

Financial services sector 69,900  816  63,750  5,334 
Utilities sector 5,810  0  5,810  0 
Energy sector 3,901  0  3,901  0 
Consumer sector 3,915  0  2,415  1,500 
Technology sector 500  0  0  500 
Industrial sector 180  0  180  0 
Communications sector 47  47  0  0 

Total equity securities 84,253  863  76,056  7,334 
Total $ 1,045,494  $ 863  $ 1,020,263  $ 24,368 

December 31, 2022
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 553,382  $ 0  $ 549,696  $ 3,686 
Collateralized debt obligations 102,537  0  102,537  0 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 66,054  0  55,144  10,910 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 150,415  0  146,231  4,184 
Other debt securities 22,273  0  22,273  0 

Total available-for-sale securities 894,661  0  875,881  18,780 
Equity securities:

Financial services sector 61,084  0  57,305  3,779 
Utilities sector 5,708  0  5,708  0 
Energy sector 3,576  0  3,576  0 
Consumer sector 1,854  0  1,854  0 
Communications sector 338  0  338  0 

Total equity securities 72,560  0  68,781  3,779 
Total $ 967,221  $ 0  $ 944,662  $ 22,559 
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We review the fair value hierarchy classifications each reporting period. Transfers between hierarchy levels may occur due to changes in available market
observable inputs.

Level 3 Assets – 2023 Year-to-Date Change:

(in thousands)

Beginning
balance at

December 31,
2022

Included in
earnings

Included

in other

comprehensive


income (loss) Purchases Sales

Transfers
into

Level 3

Transfers
out of Level

3

Ending balance at
December 31,

2023
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 3,686  $ 4  $ 314  $ 4,316  $ (1,536) $ 5,611  $ (7,889) $ 4,506 
Commercial mortgage-backed
securities 10,910  (778) 311  2,575  (621) 5,373  (6,776) 10,994 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 4,184  (5) 96  0  (120) 1,567  (4,188) 1,534 

Total available-for-sale securities 18,780  (779) 721  6,891  (2,277) 12,551  (18,853) 17,034 
Equity securities 3,779  47  —  3,458  0  1,857  (1,807) 7,334 
Total Level 3 securities $ 22,559  $ (732) $ 721  $ 10,349  $ (2,277) $ 14,408  $ (20,660) $ 24,368 

Level 3 Assets – 2022 Year-to-Date Change:

(in thousands)

Beginning
balance at

December 31,
2021

Included in

earnings

Included

in other

comprehensive


income (loss) Purchases Sales

Transfers
into

Level 3

Transfers
out of Level

3

Ending balance at
December 31,

2022
Available-for-sale securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 5,256  $ 2  $ (437) $ 6,290  $ (4,810) $ 9,689  $ (12,304) $ 3,686 
Commercial mortgage-backed
securities 15,728  (1,060) (1,132) 0  (3,825) 11,494  (10,295) 10,910 
Residential mortgage-backed
securities 8,814  (693) (1,951) 4,887  (10,229) 39,452  (36,096) 4,184 

Total available-for-sale securities 29,798  (1,751) (3,520) 11,177  (18,864) 60,635  (58,695) 18,780 
Equity securities 2,083  (304) —  2,000  0  0  0  3,779 
Total Level 3 securities $ 31,881  $ (2,055) $ (3,520) $ 13,177  $ (18,864) $ 60,635  $ (58,695) $ 22,559 

(1)    These amounts are reported as net investment income and net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains for each of the periods presented above.
(2)    Transfers into and/or (out) of Level 3 are primarily attributable to the availability of market observable information and the re-evaluation of the observability of pricing inputs.

Financial instruments not carried at fair value
The following table presents the carrying values and fair values of financial instruments categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy that are recorded
at carrying value as of:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(in thousands) Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
Agent loans, net $ 67,787  $ 66,445  $ 69,476  $ 62,954 
Other loans receivable, net 10,713  10,713  5,199  5,199 

(1)    The discount rate used to calculate fair value at December 31, 2023 is reflective of a decrease in the BB+ financial yield curve from December 31, 2022.
(2)    The current and long-term portions of other loans receivable are included in the line items "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and "Other assets, net", respectively, in the

Statements of Financial Position.

(1) (2) (2)

(1) (2) (2)

(1)

(2)
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Note 6.  Investments
 
Available-for-sale securities
See Note 5, "Fair Value" for additional fair value disclosures. The following tables summarize the amortized cost and estimated fair value, net of credit loss
allowance, of our available-for-sale securities as of:

December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Amortized cost Gross unrealized gains
Gross unrealized

losses
Estimated fair

value
Corporate debt securities $ 600,639  $ 4,594  $ 16,545  $ 588,688 
Collateralized debt obligations 114,400  156  2,088  112,468 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 106,019  1,410  4,709  102,720 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 153,633  69  13,647  140,055 
Other debt securities 17,862  136  688  17,310 

Total available-for-sale securities, net $ 992,553  $ 6,365  $ 37,677  $ 961,241 

December 31, 2022

(in thousands) Amortized cost Gross unrealized gains
Gross unrealized

losses
Estimated fair

value
Corporate debt securities $ 588,536  $ 657  $ 35,811  $ 553,382 
Collateralized debt obligations 107,730  11  5,204  102,537 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 73,855  157  7,958  66,054 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 166,412  72  16,069  150,415 
Other debt securities 24,602  0  2,329  22,273 

Total available-for-sale securities, net $ 961,135  $ 897  $ 67,371  $ 894,661 

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2023 are shown below by remaining contractual term to
maturity. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call
or prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2023
Amortized Estimated

(in thousands) cost fair value
Due in one year or less $ 81,196  $ 80,030 
Due after one year through five years 426,547  417,509 
Due after five years through ten years 175,670  173,800 
Due after ten years 309,140  289,902 

Total available-for-sale securities, net $ 992,553  $ 961,241 

(1)    The contractual maturities of our available-for-sale securities are included in the table. However, given our intent to sell certain impaired securities, these securities are classified as
current assets in our Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2023.

(1)
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The below securities have been evaluated and determined to be temporary declines in fair value for which we expect to recover our entire principal plus
interest. The following tables present available-for-sale securities based on length of time in a gross unrealized loss position as of:

December 31, 2023
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

(dollars in thousands)
Fair 


value
Unrealized

losses
Fair 


value
Unrealized

losses
Fair 


value
Unrealized

losses
No. of

holdings
Corporate debt securities $ 50,853  $ 546  $ 338,322  $ 15,999  $ 389,175  $ 16,545  590 
Collateralized debt obligations 3,911  15  87,005  2,073  90,916  2,088  142 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 9,148  157  30,145  4,552  39,293  4,709  108 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 30,271  297  101,761  13,350  132,032  13,647  164 
Other debt securities 2,084  62  7,475  626  9,559  688  32 

Total available-for-sale securities $ 96,267  $ 1,077  $ 564,708  $ 36,600  $ 660,975  $ 37,677  1,036 

Quality breakdown of available-for-sale securities:              
Investment grade $ 87,774  $ 807  $ 517,090  $ 32,511  $ 604,864  $ 33,318  651 
Non-investment grade 8,493  270  47,618  4,089  56,111  4,359  385 

Total available-for-sale securities $ 96,267  $ 1,077  $ 564,708  $ 36,600  $ 660,975  $ 37,677  1,036 

December 31, 2022
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

(dollars in thousands)
Fair 


value
Unrealized

losses
Fair 


value
Unrealized

losses
Fair 


value
Unrealized

losses
No. of

holdings
Corporate debt securities $ 397,511  $ 21,371  $ 121,094  $ 14,440  $ 518,605  $ 35,811  916 
Collateralized debt obligations 44,823  2,529  55,335  2,675  100,158  5,204  159 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 41,139  5,124  15,864  2,834  57,003  7,958  131 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 109,499  9,131  31,465  6,938  140,964  16,069  161 
Other debt securities 15,682  1,323  6,591  1,006  22,273  2,329  46 

Total available-for-sale securities $ 608,654  $ 39,478  $ 230,349  $ 27,893  $ 839,003  $ 67,371  1,413 

Quality breakdown of available-for-sale securities:              
Investment grade $ 525,805  $ 31,904  $ 215,742  $ 25,205  $ 741,547  $ 57,109  761 
Non-investment grade 82,849  7,574  14,607  2,688  97,456  10,262  652 

Total available-for-sale securities $ 608,654  $ 39,478  $ 230,349  $ 27,893  $ 839,003  $ 67,371  1,413 

Credit loss allowances
The following table presents a roll-forward of the allowances for credit losses on available-for-sale securities and financing receivables for the years ended
December 31:
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Available-for-sale securities:

Allowance for credit losses, beginning of year $ 249  $ 21 
Provision and recoveries 670  500 
Sales/collections and write-offs (322) (272)
Allowance for credit losses, end of year $ 597  $ 249 

Other loans receivable:
Allowance for credit losses, beginning of year $ 3,775  $ 3,564 
Provision and recoveries 7,404  211 
Sales/collections and write-offs (98) 0
Allowance for credit losses, end of year $ 11,081  $ 3,775 

Agent loans:
Allowance for credit losses, beginning of year $ 957  $ 957 
Provision and recoveries 0 0
Sales/collections and write-offs 0 0
Allowance for credit losses, end of year $ 957  $ 957 
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Net investment income
Investment income (loss), net of expenses, was generated from the following portfolios for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Available-for-sale securities $ 42,563  $ 31,913  $ 23,795 
Equity securities 4,493  3,904  4,321 
Limited partnerships (11,308) (10,446) 31,701 
Cash equivalents and other 9,179  4,510  3,609 

Total investment income 44,927  29,881  63,426 
Less: investment expenses 355  1,296  1,249 

Net investment income $ 44,572  $ 28,585  $ 62,177 

(1)    Limited partnership losses include both realized gains (losses) and unrealized valuation changes. Our limited partnership investments are included in the line item "Other assets" in
the Statements of Financial Position. We have made no new significant limited partnership commitments since 2006, and the balance of limited partnership investments is expected to
decline over time as additional distributions are received.

Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Available-for-sale securities:

Gross realized gains $ 804  $ 1,169  $ 6,884 
Gross realized losses (7,523) (15,219) (1,753)

Net realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale securities (6,719) (14,050) 5,131 
Equity securities 871  (13,238) (186)
Miscellaneous 10  2  1 

Net realized and unrealized investment (losses) gains $ (5,838) $ (27,286) $ 4,946 

The portion of net unrealized gains (losses) recognized during the reporting period related to equity securities held at the reporting date is calculated as
follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Equity securities:
Net gains (losses) recognized during the period $ 871  $ (13,238) $ (186)
Less: net losses recognized on securities sold (2,328) (1,866) (76)

Net unrealized gains (losses) recognized on securities held at reporting date $ 3,199  $ (11,372) $ (110)

Net impairment (losses) recoveries recognized in earnings
Impairment (losses) recoveries on investments were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Available-for-sale securities:
Intent to sell $ (1,759) $ (167) $ (10)
Credit (impaired) recovered (670) (500) 67 

Total available-for-sale securities (2,429) (667) 57 
Agent loans - expected credit recoveries 0 0 152 
Other loans receivable - expected credit losses (7,337) 0 0
Net impairment (losses) recoveries recognized in earnings $ (9,766) $ (667) $ 209 

(1)
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Note 7.  Fixed Assets

The following table summarizes our fixed assets by category as of December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Software $ 304,452  $ 312,126 
Land, buildings, and building improvements 216,578  213,263 
Equipment 46,588  43,430 
Furniture and fixtures 21,800  21,794 
Leasehold improvements 1,378  1,393 
Construction in progress 22,683  7,266 
Projects in progress 64,585  56,051 

Total fixed assets, gross 678,064  655,323 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (235,454) (241,449)

Fixed assets, net $ 442,610  $ 413,874 

(1) 2022 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

Construction in progress includes ongoing renovations to an office building that is part of our principal headquarters and not yet subject to depreciation.
The building renovation is expected to be completed in phases, starting in 2025, with full completion expected in 2027.

Projects in progress include certain computer software and software development costs for internal use that are not yet subject to amortization.

Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $47.4 million, $45.9 million and $37.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, and is included in cost of operations - policy issuance and renewal services. Accumulated depreciation and amortization decreased due to
disposals of fully depreciated assets, primarily software, partially offset by current year depreciation and amortization expense.

Note 8.  Bank Line of Credit

We have access to a $100 million bank revolving line of credit with a $25 million letter of credit sublimit that expires on October 29, 2026. As of
December 31, 2023, a total of $99.1 million remains available under the facility due to $0.9 million outstanding letters of credit, which reduce the
availability for letters of credit to $24.1 million. We had no borrowings outstanding on our line of credit as of December 31, 2023. Investments with a fair
value of $117.6 million were pledged as collateral on the line of credit at December 31, 2023. These investments have no trading restrictions and are
reported as available-for-sale securities and cash and cash equivalents on our Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2023.  The bank requires
compliance with certain covenants, which include leverage ratios and debt restrictions.  We are in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2023.

(1)

(1)
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Note 9.  Postretirement Benefits

Pension plans
Our pension plans consist of a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees and an unfunded supplemental employee
retirement plan ("SERP") for certain members of executive and senior management. The pension plan provides benefits to covered individuals satisfying
certain age and service requirements. The defined benefit pension plan and SERP each provide benefits through a final average earnings formula.

Although we are the sponsor of these postretirement plans and record the funded status of these plans, there are reimbursements between us and the
Exchange and its subsidiaries for their allocated share of pension income or cost. These reimbursements represent pension benefits for employees
performing administrative services and an allocated share of plan (income) cost for employees in departments that support the administrative functions. In
2023, we reimbursed the Exchange and its subsidiaries for approximately 60% of the annual defined benefit pension income, and the Exchange and its
subsidiaries reimbursed us for approximately 36% of the annual SERP cost. For our funded pension plan, amounts are settled in cash for the portion of
pension (income) cost allocated to the Exchange and its subsidiaries. For our unfunded SERP, we pay the obligations when due and amounts are settled in
cash between entities when there is a payout.

Pension plan (income) cost
Pension plan (income) cost includes the following components for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Service cost for benefits earned $ 28,763  $ 50,242  $ 53,041 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 50,193  39,764  36,824 
Expected return on plan assets (68,869) (54,557) (50,275)
Prior service cost amortization 1,446  1,443  1,428 
Net actuarial (gain) loss amortization (15,331) 7,320  16,106 

Pension plan (income) cost $ (3,798) $ 44,212  $ 57,124 

(1)     Pension plan (income) cost represents total plan (income) cost before reimbursements between Indemnity and the Exchange and its subsidiaries. The components of pension plan
(income) cost other than the service cost components are included in the line item "Other income (expense)" in the Statements of Operations, net of reimbursements between Indemnity
and the Exchange and its subsidiaries.

Actuarial assumptions
The following table describes the weighted-average assumptions used to measure benefit obligations at December 31:

2023 2022
Employee pension plan:

Discount rate 5.34 % 5.67 %
Expected return on assets 6.50  5.50 
Rate of compensation increase 3.25  3.21 

SERP:
Discount rate 5.11 % 5.46 %
Rate of compensation increase 5.00  5.00 

(1)    The rate of compensation increase for the employee plan is age-graded.  An equivalent single compensation increase rate of 3.25% in 2023 and 3.21% in 2022 would produce similar
results.

(1)

(1)
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The following table describes the weighted-average assumptions used to measure net periodic benefit costs for the years ended December 31:

2023 2022 2021
Employee pension plan:

Discount rate 5.67 % 3.16 % 2.96 %
Expected return on assets 6.50  5.50  5.50 
Rate of compensation increase 3.30  3.21  3.21 

SERP:
Discount rate 5.46 % 3.11 % 2.86 %
Rate of compensation increase 5.00  5.00  5.00 

(1)    The rate of compensation increase for the employee plan is age-graded.  An equivalent single compensation increase rate of 3.30% in 2023 and 3.21% in 2022 and 2021 would
produce similar results.

The economic assumptions that have the most impact on the postretirement benefits expense are the discount rate and the long-term rate of return on plan
assets. The discount rate assumption used to determine the benefit obligation for all periods presented was based upon a yield curve developed from
corporate bond yield information.

The pension plan's expected long-term rate of return represents the average rate of return to be earned on plan assets over the period the benefits included in
the benefit obligation are to be paid. To determine the expected long-term rate of return assumption, we utilized models based upon historical analysis and
forward-looking views of the financial markets based upon key factors such as historical returns for the asset class' applicable indices, the correlations of
the asset classes under various market conditions and consensus views on future real economic growth and inflation. The expected future return for each
asset class is then combined by considering correlations between asset classes and the volatilities of each asset class to produce a reasonable range of asset
return results within which our expected long-term rate of return assumption falls.

Funding policy/funded status
Our defined benefit pension plan funding policy is generally to contribute an amount equal to the greater of the target normal cost for the plan year, or the
amount necessary to fund the plan to 100%. Accordingly, we made a $25 million contribution during 2022 and a $95 million contribution during 2023. We
also made a contribution of $33 million in January 2024. The 2023 contribution generated a net benefit asset of $34.3 million and is presented separately
from the unfunded plan as a non-current asset on the Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2023. The following table sets forth the funded status
of the pension plans and the amounts recognized in the Statements of Financial Position at December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Funded status at end of year $ 3,325  $ (53,948)

Pension asset $ 34,320  $ 0 
Pension liabilities – due within one year (4,735) (2,724)
Pension liabilities – due after one year (26,260) (51,224)

Net amount recognized $ 3,325  $ (53,948)

(1)    The current portion of pension liabilities for the unfunded plan is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(1)

(1)
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Benefit obligations
Benefit obligations are described in the following tables. Accumulated and projected benefit obligations represent the obligations of a pension plan for past
service as of the measurement date. The accumulated benefit obligation is the present value of pension benefits earned as of the measurement date based on
employee service and compensation prior to that date. It differs from the projected benefit obligation in that the accumulated benefit obligation includes no
assumptions to reflect expected future compensation. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the projected
benefit obligation, as well as the accumulated benefit obligation at December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 883,814  $ 1,272,654 

Service cost for benefits earned 28,763  50,242 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 50,193  39,764 
Plan amendments 583  1,620 
Actuarial loss (gain) 65,041  (448,330)
Benefits paid (34,840) (32,136)

Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 993,554  $ 883,814 

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year $ 847,143  $ 762,180 

Projected benefit obligations increased $109.7 million at December 31, 2023 compared to December 31, 2022 primarily due to the lower discount rate used
to measure the future benefit obligations. The discount rate for the employee pension plan decreased to 5.34% in 2023 from 5.67% in 2022.

The following table describes plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets at December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Projected benefit obligation $ 30,995  $ 883,814 
Plan assets —  829,866 

At December 31, 2023, the SERP had a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets. At December 31, 2022, both the defined benefit pension plan
and the SERP had projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets.

The SERP had accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets at December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 22,698  $ 21,577 
Plan assets —  — 

Plan assets
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the fair value of plan assets at December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 829,866  $ 1,140,243 

Actual return on plan assets 105,631  (304,005)
Employer contributions 96,222  25,764 
Benefits paid (34,840) (32,136)

Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 996,879  $ 829,866 
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Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net actuarial gain and prior service cost included in accumulated other comprehensive income that were not yet recognized as components of net benefit
costs were as follows at December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Net actuarial gain $ (25,954) $ (69,564)
Prior service cost 11,515  12,378 

Net amount not yet recognized $ (14,439) $ (57,186)

Other comprehensive loss (income)
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss (income) for pension plans were as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Net actuarial loss (gain) arising during the year $ 28,279  $ (89,768) $ (75,091)
Amortization of net actuarial gain (loss) 15,331  (7,320) (16,106)
Amortization of prior service cost (1,446) (1,443) (1,428)
Plan amendments 583  1,620  4,059 

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss (income) $ 42,747  $ (96,911) $ (88,566)

(1)    Plan amendments relate to new SERP participants.

Asset allocation
The employee pension plan utilizes a return seeking and a liability asset matching allocation strategy.  It is based upon the understanding that 1) equity
investments are expected to outperform debt investments over the long-term, 2) the potential volatility of short-term returns from equities is acceptable in
exchange for the larger expected long-term returns, and 3) a portfolio structured across investment styles and markets (both domestic and foreign) reduces
volatility.  As a result, the employee pension plan's investment portfolio utilizes a broadly diversified asset allocation across domestic and foreign equity
and debt markets.  The investment portfolio is composed of commingled pools, an exchange traded fund, and a separate account that are dedicated
exclusively to the management of employee benefit plan assets.

The target and actual asset allocations for the portfolio are as follows for the years ended December 31:

Target asset

allocation

Target asset

allocation

Actual asset

allocation

Actual asset

allocation

Asset allocation: 2023 2022 2023 2022
Equity securities:
U.S. equity securities 27 % 27 % 26 % (1) 27 %
Non-U.S. equity securities 18  18  19  (2) 19 
Total equity securities 45  45  45  46 

Debt securities 54  54  54  (3) 53 
Other 1  1  1  (4) 1 
Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

(1)    U.S. equity securities – 100% seek to achieve excess returns relative to the Russell 3000 Index.
(2)    Non-U.S. equity securities – 11% are allocated to international small cap investments, while another 19% are allocated to international emerging market investments.  The remaining

70% of the Non-U.S. equity securities are allocated to investments seeking to achieve excess returns relative to an international market index.
(3)    Debt securities – 60% are allocated to long U.S. Treasury Strips, 40% are allocated to U.S. corporate bonds with an emphasis on long duration bonds rated A or better.
(4)    Institutional money market fund.

(1)

62



Table of Contents

The following tables present fair value measurements for the pension plan assets by major category and level of input as of:

December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Total 
Level 1


Fair Value
Level 2


Fair Value
Level 3


Fair Value
Net Asset


Value (NAV)

Equity securities:
U.S. equity securities $ 261,400  $ 244,979  $ 0  $ 0  $ 16,421 
Non-U.S. equity securities 183,007  127,143  0  0  55,864 

Total equity securities 444,407  372,122  0  0  72,285 
Debt securities 540,762  0  0  0  540,762 
Other 11,710  11,710  0  0  0 
Total $ 996,879  $ 383,832  $ 0  $ 0  $ 613,047 

December 31, 2022

(in thousands) Total
Level 1


Fair Value
Level 2


Fair Value
Level 3


Fair Value
Net Asset


Value (NAV)
Equity securities:
U.S. equity securities $ 219,410  $ 204,838  $ 0  $ 0  $ 14,572 
Non-U.S. equity securities 160,009  110,799  0  0  49,210 

Total equity securities 379,419  315,637  0  0  63,782 
Debt securities 439,004  0  0  0  439,004 
Other 11,443  11,443  0  0  0 
Total $ 829,866  $ 327,080  $ 0  $ 0  $ 502,786 

Estimates of fair values of the pension plan assets are obtained primarily from the trustee and custodian of our pension plan.  Our Level 1 category includes
a money market mutual fund, an exchange traded fund, and a separate account for which the fair value is determined using an exchange traded price
provided by the trustee and custodian.  Commingled pools are valued based on NAV per share or unit as a practical expedient as reported by the fund
manager, multiplied by the number of shares or units held as of the measurement date. Accordingly, these NAV-based investments have been excluded from
the fair value hierarchy. These investments have minimal redemption notice periods and are redeemable daily at the NAV, less transaction fees, without
significant restrictions. There are no significant unfunded commitments related to these investments.

Estimated future benefit payments
The following table sets forth amounts of benefits expected to be paid over the next 10 years from our pension plans as of:

(in thousands)
Year ending


December 31,
Expected future


benefit payments
2024 $ 39,778 
2025 39,645 
2026 42,098 
2027 45,087 
2028 48,800 

2029 - 2033 294,614 
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Employee savings plan
All full-time and regular part-time employees are eligible to participate in a qualified 401(k) savings plan.  We match 100% of the participant contributions
up to 3% of compensation and 50% of participant contributions over 3% and up to 5% of compensation.  Matching contributions paid to the plan were
$18.4 million in 2023, $16.7 million in 2022, and $16.1 million in 2021.  The Exchange and its subsidiaries reimbursed us for approximately 59% of the
matching contributions. Employees are permitted to invest the employer-matching contributions in our Class A common stock.  Employees, other than
executive and senior officers, may sell the shares at any time without restriction, provided they are in compliance with applicable insider trading laws; sales
by executive and senior officers are subject to additional pre-clearance restrictions imposed by our insider trading policies.  The plan acquires shares in the
open market necessary to meet the obligations of the plan.  Plan participants held 0.1 million shares of our Class A common stock at December 31, 2023
and 2022.

Note 10.  Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans
 
We have two incentive plans and two deferred compensation plans for our executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers, and two deferred
compensation plans for our outside directors. Executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers and key employees are also eligible to receive
awards under an equity compensation plan, subject to the discretion of the Executive Compensation and Development Committee of our Board of Directors
("ECDC") or the chief executive officer.

Annual incentive plan
Our annual incentive plan ("AIP") is a bonus plan that pays cash to our executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers annually. Participants
can elect to defer up to 100% of the award under either the deferred compensation plan or the incentive compensation deferral plan. If the funding qualifier
is met, plan participants are eligible to receive the incentive based upon attainment of corporate and individual performance measures, which can include
various financial measures. The measures are established at the beginning of each year by the ECDC, with ultimate approval by the full Board of Directors.
The corporate performance measures included the reported growth in direct written premium and policies in force, and statutory combined ratio of the
Exchange and its property and casualty subsidiaries for all periods presented.

Long-term incentive plan
Our long-term incentive plan ("LTIP") is a performance based incentive plan designed to reward executives, senior vice presidents and other selected
officers who can have a significant impact on our long-term performance, and to further align the interests of such employees with those of our
shareholders. The LTIP permits grants of performance shares or units, or phantom shares, to be satisfied with shares of our Class A common stock or cash
payment as determined by the ECDC. Participants can elect to defer up to 100% of the award under the incentive compensation deferral plan. The ECDC
determines the form of the award to be granted at the beginning of each performance period, which is generally a three-year period. The number of shares
of our common stock authorized for grant under the LTIP is 1.5 million shares. We repurchase our Class A common stock on the open market to settle
stock awards under the plan. We do not issue new shares of common stock to settle stock awards. LTIP awards are considered vested at the end of each
applicable performance period.

The LTIP provides the recipient the right to earn performance shares or units, or phantom stock, based on the level of achievement of performance goals as
defined by us. Performance measures and a peer group of property and casualty companies to be used for comparison are determined by the ECDC. The
performance measures for all periods presented were the reported growth in direct written premium and statutory combined ratio of the Exchange and its
property and casualty subsidiaries and return on invested assets over a three-year performance period as compared to the results of the peer group over the
same period. Because the award is based upon a comparison to results of a peer group over a three-year period, the award accrual is based upon estimates
of probable results for the remaining performance period. This estimate is subject to variability if our results or the results of the peer group are
substantially different than the results we project.

The fair value of LTIP awards is measured at each reporting date at the current share price of our Class A common stock. A liability is recorded and
compensation expense is recognized ratably over the performance period.
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At December 31, 2023, the plan awards for the 2021-2023 performance period, which will be granted as a cash award, were fully vested. Distributions will
be made in 2024 once peer group financial information becomes available. The total estimated plan award based upon the peer group information as of
September 30, 2023 is $1.9 million. At December 31, 2022, the fully vested plan awards for the 2020-2022 performance period totaled $3.8 million and
were awarded to participants in June 2023. At December 31, 2021, the fully vested plan awards for the 2019-2021 performance period totaled $3.8 million
and were awarded to participants in June 2022. At December 31, 2020, the fully vested plan awards for the 2018-2020 performance period totaled $10.9
million and were awarded to participants in June 2021. The ECDC has determined that the plan awards for the 2022-2024 and 2023-2025 performance
periods will be paid in cash.
 
The Exchange and its subsidiaries reimburse us for compensation costs of employees performing administrative services. Earned compensation costs are
allocated to these entities and reimbursed to us in cash once the payout is made. The total compensation cost charged to operations related to these LTIP
awards, net of forfeitures, was $7.3 million in 2023, $3.4 million in 2022, and $3.0 million in 2021. The related tax benefits recognized in income were
$1.5 million in 2023, $0.7 million in 2022, and $0.6 million in 2021. In 2023, the Exchange and its subsidiaries reimbursed us for approximately 35% of
the annual compensation cost of these plans. At December 31, 2023, there was $12.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost for non-vested LTIP
awards related to open performance periods. Unrecognized compensation is expected to be recognized over a period of two years.

Deferred compensation plan
Our deferred compensation plan allows executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers to elect to defer receipt of a portion of their
compensation and AIP cash awards until a later date. Employer 401(k) matching contributions that are in excess of the annual contribution or compensation
limits are also credited to the participant accounts for those who elected to defer receipt of some portion of their base salary. Participants select hypothetical
investment funds for their deferrals, which are credited with the hypothetical returns generated.

Incentive compensation deferral plan
We have an unfunded, non-qualified incentive compensation deferral plan for participants of the AIP and LTIP. Participants can elect to defer up to 100%
of their annual AIP award and/or up to 100% of their LTIP award for each performance period. Deferred awards will be credited to a deferred stock account
as credits denominated in shares of our Class A common stock until retirement or other separation from service. Participants are 100% vested at date of
deferral. The shares are then held in a rabbi trust, which was established to hold the shares earned under both the incentive compensation deferral plan and
the deferred stock compensation plan for outside directors. The rabbi trust is classified and accounted for as equity in a manner consistent with the
accounting for treasury stock. Dividends received on the shares in the rabbi trust are used to purchase additional shares. Vested share credits will be paid to
participants from the rabbi trust upon separation from service in approximate equal annual installments of Class A shares for a period of three years. In
2023, the rabbi trust purchased 1,608 shares of our common stock in the open market at an average price of $230.71 for $0.4 million to satisfy the liability
for the 2022 AIP and 2020-2022 LTIP performance period awards deferred under the incentive compensation deferral plan, and dividend equivalent credits
on rabbi trust shares. In 2022, the rabbi trust purchased 7,046 shares of our common stock in the open market at an average price of $176.44 for $1.2
million to satisfy the liability for the 2021 AIP and 2019-2021 LTIP performance period awards deferred under the incentive compensation deferral plan,
and dividend equivalent credits on rabbi trust shares. In 2021, the rabbi trust purchased 20,451 shares of our common stock in the open market at an
average price of $196.48 for $4.0 million to satisfy the liability for the 2020 AIP and 2018-2020 LTIP performance period awards deferred under the
incentive compensation deferral plan, and dividend equivalent credits on rabbi trust shares.

Deferred compensation plans for outside directors
We have a deferred compensation plan for our outside directors that allows participants to defer receipt of a portion of their annual compensation until a
later date. Participants select hypothetical investment funds for their deferrals, which are credited with the hypothetical returns generated.

We also have a deferred stock compensation plan for our outside directors to further align the interests of directors with those of our shareholders that
provides for payment of a portion of the directors' annual compensation in shares of our Class A common stock. Each director vests in the grant 25% every
three months over the course of a year. Dividends paid by us are credited to each director's account and vest immediately. We do not issue new shares of
common stock to directors. We repurchase shares of our Class A common stock in the open market to satisfy these awards, which are then held in the rabbi
trust. Effective April 25, 2023, the plan was amended to include a maximum of 250,000 shares that may be issued under the plan, and to stipulate that no
shares may be credited later than ten years from the date our shareholders last approved the plan.

The rabbi trust purchased 5,894 shares of our common stock on the open market at an average price of $238.73 for $1.4 million in 2023, 6,048 shares at an
average price of $201.93 for $1.2 million in 2022, and 5,238 shares at an average price of $212.41
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for $1.1 million in 2021 to satisfy the liability of the stock compensation plan for outside directors, and dividend equivalent credits on rabbi trust shares.
The shares are distributed to the outside director from the rabbi trust upon ending board service. Director compensation charged to operations related to
these awards totaled $0.9 million in 2023 and $0.8 million in both 2022 and 2021.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of our deferred executive compensation liability as of December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Deferred executive compensation, beginning of the year $ 25,760  $ 27,208  $ 32,223 

Annual incentive plan awards 7,401  6,305  6,768 
Long-term incentive plan awards 7,332  3,417  3,471 
Employer match and hypothetical earnings on deferred compensation 2,828  404  3,043 
Total plan awards and earnings 17,561  10,126  13,282 
Total plan awards paid (10,211) (10,413) (16,647)

Compensation deferred 1,809  2,528  4,765 
Distributions from the deferred compensation plans (313) (742) (811)
Forfeitures —  —  (473)
Funding of rabbi trust for deferred stock compensation plan for outside directors (1,407) (1,221) (1,113)
Funding of rabbi trust for incentive compensation deferral plan (1,281) (1,726) (4,018)

Deferred executive compensation, end of the year $ 31,918  $ 25,760  $ 27,208 

(1)    Forfeitures are the result of plan participants who separated from service and are recognized in the year they occur.

(2)    In 2023 and 2022, funding includes $0.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively, representing shares held back to satisfy tax withholding on rabbi trust distributions that reduced
funding requirements for performance award deferrals.

Equity compensation plan
Our equity compensation plan ("ECP") is designed to reward executives, senior vice presidents and other selected officers and key employees who can
have a significant impact on our long-term performance, and to further align the interests of such employees with those of our shareholders. The ECP
permits grants of restricted shares, restricted share units and other share based awards, to be satisfied with shares of our Class A common stock or cash. The
ECDC determines the form of the award to be granted at the beginning of each performance period. The number of shares of our Class A common stock
authorized for grant under the ECP is 100,000 shares, with no one person able to receive more than 10,000 shares in a calendar year. We do not issue new
shares of common stock to satisfy plan awards. Share awards are settled through the repurchase of our Class A common stock on the open market.
Restricted share awards may be entitled to receive dividends payable during the performance period, or, if subject to performance goals, to receive dividend
equivalents payable upon vesting.  Dividend equivalents may provide for the crediting of interest or hypothetical investment experience, payable after
expiration of the performance period. Vesting conditions are determined at the time the award is granted and may include continuation of employment for a
specific period, satisfaction of performance goals within a defined performance period, and the satisfaction of any other terms and conditions as determined
to be appropriate. The ECP expires December 31, 2031, unless earlier amended or terminated by our Board of Directors.

To date, all awards have been satisfied with shares of our Class A common stock. In 2023, we purchased 1,610 Class A shares with an average share price
of $252.32 and a market value of $0.4 million to satisfy the liability for the 2020 plan year. In 2022, we purchased 1,786 Class A shares with an average
share price of $190.68 and a market value of $0.3 million to satisfy the liability for the 2019 plan year. In 2021, we purchased 978 shares with an average
share price of $242.01 and a market value of $0.2 million to satisfy the liability for the 2018 plan year. The total compensation charged to operations
related to ECP awards was $4.0 million in 2023, $0.8 million in 2022, and $0.2 million in 2021. The increases in 2023 and 2022 compared to the respective
prior periods resulted from increases in plan participants and our stock price. The Exchange and its subsidiaries reimburse us for earned compensation costs
of employees performing administrative services, which can fluctuate each year based on the plan participants. The Exchange and its subsidiaries
reimbursed us for approximately 35%, 3%, and 33% of the awards paid in 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively. Unearned compensation expense of $2.9
million is expected to be recognized over a period of two years.

(1)

(2)
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Note 11.  Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Current income tax expense $ 116,877  $ 68,415  $ 80,398 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (1,002) 9,468  (1,854)

Income tax expense $ 115,875  $ 77,883  $ 78,544 

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes, with amounts determined by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax income, is as
follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022 2021
Income tax at statutory rate $ 118,007  $ 79,055  $ 79,045 
Other, net (2,132) (1,172) (501)

Income tax expense $ 115,875  $ 77,883  $ 78,544 

Temporary differences and carry-forwards, which give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities, are as follows as of December 31:

(in thousands)

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Other employee benefits $ 17,781  $ 16,358 
Unrealized losses on investments 7,164  15,403 
Deferred revenue 3,756  3,710 
Allowance for management fee returned on cancelled policies 3,571  3,405 
Current expected credit loss allowance 2,661  1,112 
Other 3,709  2,790 
   Total deferred tax assets 38,642  42,778 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation 31,126  37,682 
Pension and other postretirement benefits 14,738  15,473 
Prepaid expenses 2,001  1,731 
Other 2,258  1,967 
   Total deferred tax liabilities 50,123  56,853 
   Net deferred tax liability $ (11,481) $ (14,075)

(1) 2022 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

If we determine that any of our deferred tax assets will not result in future tax benefits, a valuation allowance must be established for the portion of the
assets that are not expected to be realized. We had no valuation allowance recorded at December 31, 2023 or 2022.

We do not have any unrecognized tax benefit that, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. Any interest
expense related to uncertain tax positions would be recognized in income tax expense.

Tax years ending December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 remain open to IRS examination. We are not currently under IRS audit, nor have we been notified of
an upcoming IRS audit.

We are the attorney-in-fact for the subscribers (policyholders) at the Exchange, a reciprocal insurance exchange.  In that capacity, we provide all services
and facilities necessary to conduct the Exchange's insurance business.  Indemnity and the Exchange together constitute a single insurance business. 
Consequently, we are not subject to state corporate income or franchise taxes in states where the Exchange conducts its business and the states collect
premium tax in lieu of corporate income or franchise tax, as a result of the Exchange's remittance of premium taxes in those states.

(1)

(1)
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Note 12.  Capital Stock
 
Class A and B common stock
We have two classes of common stock: Class A, which has a dividend preference, and Class B, which has voting power and a conversion right.  Each share
of Class A common stock outstanding at the time of the declaration of any dividend upon shares of Class B common stock shall be entitled to a dividend
payable at the same time, at the same record date, and in an amount at least equal to 2/3 of 1.0% of any dividend declared on each share of Class B
common stock.  We may declare and pay a dividend in respect to Class A common stock without any requirement that any dividend be declared and paid in
respect to Class B common stock.  Sole shareholder voting power is vested in Class B common stock except insofar as any applicable law shall permit
Class A common shareholders to vote as a class in regards to any changes in the rights, preferences, and privileges attaching to Class A common stock. 
Holders of Class B shares may, at their option, convert their shares into Class A shares at the rate of 2,400 Class A shares per Class B share.  There were no
shares of Class B common stock converted into Class A common stock in 2023, 2022 or 2021.

Stock repurchases
Our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program effective January 1, 1999 allowing the repurchase of our outstanding Class A nonvoting
common stock. In 2011, our Board of Directors approved a continuation of the current stock repurchase program for a total of $150 million, with no time
limitation.  Treasury shares are recorded in the Statements of Financial Position at total cost based upon trade date.  There were no shares repurchased
under this program during 2023, 2022 or 2021.  We had approximately $17.8 million of repurchase authority remaining under this program at
December 31, 2023, based upon trade date.

We made stock repurchases in 2023, 2022, and 2021 outside of our publicly announced share repurchase program related to stock-based awards. See Note
10, "Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plans" for additional information.
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Note 13.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") (loss) by component, including amounts reclassified to other comprehensive income
("OCI") (loss) and the related line item in the Statements of Operations where net income is presented, are as follows for the year ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Before Tax Income Tax Net Before Tax Income Tax Net Before Tax Income Tax Net

Investment securities:
AOCI (loss), beginning of year $ (66,571) $ (13,980) $ (52,591) $ 7,722  $ 1,621  $ 6,101  $ 29,384  $ 6,171  $ 23,213 
OCI (loss) before reclassifications 26,021  5,464  20,557  (89,010) (18,692) (70,318) (16,474) (3,460) (13,014)
Realized investment losses (gains) 6,719  1,411  5,308  14,050  2,951  11,099  (5,131) (1,078) (4,053)
Impairment losses (recoveries) 2,429  510  1,919  667  140  527  (57) (12) (45)
OCI (loss) 35,169  7,385  27,784  (74,293) (15,601) (58,692) (21,662) (4,550) (17,112)

AOCI (loss), end of year $ (31,402) $ (6,595) $ (24,807) $ (66,571) $ (13,980) $ (52,591) $ 7,722  $ 1,621  $ 6,101 

Pension and other postretirement plans:
AOCI (loss), beginning of year $ 57,186  $ 12,009  $ 45,177  $ (39,734) $ (8,345) $ (31,389) $ (128,300) $ (26,944) $ (101,356)
OCI (loss) before reclassifications (28,862) (6,061) (22,801) 88,148  18,511  69,637  71,032  14,917  56,115 
Amortization of prior service
costs 1,446  304  1,142  1,443  303  1,140  1,428  300  1,128 
Amortization of net actuarial
(gain) loss (15,331) (3,220) (12,111) 7,329  1,540  5,789  16,106  3,382  12,724 
OCI (loss) (42,747) (8,977) (33,770) 96,920  20,354  76,566  88,566  18,599  69,967 

AOCI (loss), end of year $ 14,439  $ 3,032  $ 11,407  $ 57,186  $ 12,009  $ 45,177  $ (39,734) $ (8,345) $ (31,389)

Total
AOCI (loss), beginning of year $ (9,385) $ (1,971) $ (7,414) $ (32,012) $ (6,724) $ (25,288) $ (98,916) $ (20,773) $ (78,143)
Investment securities 35,169  7,385  27,784  (74,293) (15,601) (58,692) (21,662) (4,550) (17,112)
Pension and other postretirement
plans (42,747) (8,977) (33,770) 96,920  20,354  76,566  88,566  18,599  69,967 
OCI (loss) (7,578) (1,592) (5,986) 22,627  4,753  17,874  66,904  14,049  52,855 

AOCI (loss), end of year $ (16,963) $ (3,563) $ (13,400) $ (9,385) $ (1,971) $ (7,414) $ (32,012) $ (6,724) $ (25,288)

(1) These components of AOCI (loss) are included in the computation of net periodic pension (income) cost. See Note 9, "Postretirement Benefits", for additional information.

(1)

(1)
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Note 14.  Related Party

Management fee
A management fee is retained for services we provide under the subscriber's agreement with subscribers at the Exchange. The fee is a percentage of direct
and affiliated assumed premiums written by the Exchange. This percentage rate is determined at least annually by our Board of Directors but cannot exceed
25%. The management fee rate charged the Exchange was 25% in 2023, 2022 and 2021. The Board of Directors elected to maintain the fee at 25%
beginning January 1, 2024.

There is no provision in the subscriber's agreement for termination of our appointment as attorney-in-fact by the subscribers at the Exchange and the
appointment is not affected by a policyholder's disability or incapacity.

Insurance holding company system
Most states have enacted legislation that regulates insurance holding company systems, defined as two or more affiliated persons, one or more of which is
an insurer. The Exchange has the following wholly owned property and casualty subsidiaries: Erie Insurance Company, Erie Insurance Company of New
York, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company and Flagship City Insurance Company, and a wholly owned life insurance company, Erie Family Life
Insurance Company. Indemnity and the Exchange, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, meet the definition of an insurance holding company system.

Transactions within a holding company system affecting the member insurers of the holding company system must be fair and reasonable and any charges
or fees for services performed must be reasonable.  Approval by the applicable insurance commissioner is required prior to the consummation of certain
transactions affecting the members within a holding company system.

Shared facilities
We leased the home office from the Exchange until December 31, 2021, at which time we purchased the home office properties from the Exchange at the
appraised value of $97.5 million to align the ownership interest of these facilities with the functions being performed at the home office campus, which are
mainly Indemnity's management operations. Lease expense totaled $6.1 million in 2021. Operating expenses, including utilities, cleaning, repairs, real
estate taxes, property insurance, and leasehold improvements totaled $15.7 million in 2021. The Exchange and its subsidiaries reimbursed us for rent costs
and related operating expenses of shared facilities used to perform administrative services, which are allocated based upon square footage occupied.
Reimbursements related to the use of this space totaled $4.8 million in 2021.

Effective July 1, 2021, the Exchange and its subsidiaries entered into a service agreement with Indemnity to use space in Indemnity-owned properties. The
home office was added to this agreement effective January 1, 2022. The amount charged is based on rental rates of like property in Erie, Pennsylvania and
the square footage occupied. Income earned from the Exchange and its subsidiaries for the use of space totaled $2.6 million, $2.2 million and $0.2 million
in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Operating expenses for Indemnity-owned properties under this service agreement include utilities, cleaning, repairs,
real estate taxes, property insurance, and leasehold improvements. These expenses totaled $20.0 million, $19.5 million, and $0.8 million in 2023, 2022, and
2021, respectively.  The Exchange and its subsidiaries reimbursed us for operating expenses of shared facilities used to perform administrative services,
which are allocated based upon square footage occupied. Reimbursements related to the use of this space totaled $5.2 million, $4.1 million, and
$0.1 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Other loans receivable
In December 2023, we issued two senior secured loans totaling $13.6 million to fund a real estate development project supporting revitalization efforts in
our community. Ownership in the project consists of related party investors, including affiliate entities and two Indemnity directors, as well as other
unrelated investors. The loans, net of current expected credit loss allowances, are reported in "Other assets" in our Statement of Financial Position, with
changes in credit loss allowances totaling $7.3 million reported in "Net impairment (losses) recoveries recognized in earnings" in our Statement of
Operations.

The first loan issued for $4.6 million accrues paid-in-kind interest at a fixed rate of 5% and matures December 15, 2027, with both principal and accrued
interest due at maturity. The second loan issued for $9.0 million accrues paid-in-kind interest at a fixed rate of 5% and matures December 15, 2033, with
both principal and accrued interest due at maturity.
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Note 15. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments could potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk, including our unsecured receivables from the Exchange. The majority of
our revenue and receivables are from the Exchange and its affiliates. See also Note 1, "Nature of Operations". Net management fee amounts and other
reimbursements due from the Exchange and its affiliates were $625.3 million and $524.9 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which
includes a current expected credit loss allowance of $0.6 million in both periods.

Note 16.  Commitments and Contingencies

We have an agreement with a bank for an agent loan participation program. The maximum amount of loans to be funded through this program is $100
million. We have committed to fund a minimum of 30% of each loan executed through this program. As of December 31, 2023, loans executed under this
agreement totaled $59.1 million, of which our portion of the loans is $20.6 million. Additionally, we have agreed to guarantee a portion of the funding
provided by the other participants in the program in the event of default. As of December 31, 2023, our maximum potential amount of future payments on
the guaranteed portion is $6.7 million. All loan payments under the participation program are current as of December 31, 2023.

We also have contingent obligations for guarantees related to certain real estate development projects supporting revitalization efforts in our community. As
of December 31, 2023, our maximum potential obligation related to the guarantees is $7.0 million.

We are involved in litigation arising in the ordinary course of conducting business.  In accordance with current accounting standards for loss contingencies
and based upon information currently known to us, we establish reserves for litigation when it is probable that a loss associated with a claim or proceeding
has been incurred and the amount of the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated.  When no amount within the range of loss is a better estimate
than any other amount, we accrue the minimum amount of the estimable loss.  To the extent that such litigation against us may have an exposure to a loss in
excess of the amount we have accrued, we believe that such excess would not be material to our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. 
Legal fees are expensed as incurred.  We believe that our accruals for legal proceedings are appropriate and, individually and in the aggregate, are not
expected to be material to our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

We review all litigation on an ongoing basis when making accrual and disclosure decisions.  For certain legal proceedings, we cannot reasonably estimate
losses or a range of loss, if any, particularly for proceedings that are in their early stages of development or where the plaintiffs seek indeterminate
damages.  Various factors, including, but not limited to, the outcome of potentially lengthy discovery and the resolution of important factual questions, may
need to be determined before probability can be established or before a loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated.  If the loss contingency in
question is not both probable and reasonably estimable, we do not establish an accrual and the matter will continue to be monitored for any developments
that would make the loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable.  In the event that a legal proceeding results in a substantial judgment
against, or settlement by, us, there can be no assurance that any resulting liability or financial commitment would not have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Note 17.  Supplementary Data on Cash Flows

A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities as presented in the Statements of Cash Flows is as follows for the years ended
December 31:
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 446,061  $ 298,569  $ 297,860 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 47,415  46,166  37,210 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (1,002) 9,468  (1,854)
Lease amortization expense 6,177  5,554  11,887 
Losses (gains) and impairment losses (recoveries) on investments 15,604  27,953  (2,307)
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets 1,607  172  (13)
Net investment loss (income) 13,772  12,916  (25,944)

Increase (decrease) in deferred compensation 6,143  (1,463) (5,006)
(Increase) decrease in receivables from affiliates (100,401) (45,814) 15,514 
Increase in accrued investment income (1,157) (1,998) (157)
Increase in pension asset (101,250) —  — 
Increase in pension liability —  15,647  52,755 
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets 7,729  (25,843) 12,161 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,237  18,993  (4,823)
Increase in commissions payable 53,681  29,282  8,408 
(Decrease) increase in accrued agent incentive compensation (27,089) (25,271) 10,279 
Increase (decrease) in contract liability 6,678  1,821  (3,176)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 381,205  $ 366,152  $ 402,794 

Note 18.  Subsequent Events
 
No items were identified in this period subsequent to the financial statement date that required adjustment or additional disclosure, other than the disclosure
made in Note 9, "Postretirement Benefits" regarding the January 2024 pension contribution.
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ITEM 9.     CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 
None.

ITEM 9A.     CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
 
As required by the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-15(e), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2023.  Based upon the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting.  Our process for evaluating controls and procedures is continuous and encompasses
constant improvement of the design and effectiveness of established controls and procedures.
 
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting of Erie Indemnity Company, as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act.  Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Erie Indemnity Company's internal control over financial reporting based
upon the framework in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.  Based upon our evaluation under the framework in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued in 2013, management has concluded
that Erie Indemnity Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.
 

/s/ Timothy G. NeCastro
 

/s/ Julie M. Pelkowski
 

/s/ Jorie L. Novacek
 

Timothy G. NeCastro
 

Julie M. Pelkowski
 

Jorie L. Novacek
 

President and
 

Executive Vice President
 

Senior Vice President
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

and Chief Financial Officer
 

and Controller
 

February 26, 2024
 

February 26, 2024
 

February 26, 2024
 

 
Our independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, a registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial
reporting.  This report appears on the following page.

ITEM 9B.     OTHER INFORMATION
 
There was no additional information in the fourth quarter of 2023 that has not already been filed in a Form 8-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Erie Indemnity Company

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Erie Indemnity Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, Erie Indemnity Company (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the statements of
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and our report dated February 26, 2024 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
                    
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana    
February 26, 2024
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PART III

ITEM 10.     DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 
The information with respect to our outside directors, audit committee and audit committee financial experts, Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting
compliance, and insider trading policy is incorporated herein by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.
 
We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our outside directors, officers and employees.  We have previously filed a copy of the Code of
Conduct as Exhibit 14.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 26, 2023. In addition to this, we have
adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers that also applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer
and any other person performing similar functions. We have previously filed a copy of the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers as Exhibit 14.4 to
the Registrant's Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1, 2016. Our Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics for Senior
Financial Officers are also available on our website at www.erieinsurance.com.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name
Age as of

12/31/2023 Principal Occupation and Positions for Past Five Years

President & Chief Executive Officer:    
Timothy G. NeCastro 63 President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since August 2016; Director,

Erie Family Life Insurance Company ("EFL"), Erie Insurance Company ("EIC"),
Flagship City Insurance Company ("Flagship"), Erie Insurance Company of New
York ("ENY") and Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company ("EPC").

Executive Vice Presidents:    
Brian W. Bolash 58 Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since January 2022; Senior

Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel, October 2018 through December
2021; Senior Counsel and Corporate Secretary, January 2016 through September
2018; Director, EFL, EIC, Flagship, ENY and EPC.

Sean D. Dugan 55 Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Corporate Services since January
2023; Senior Vice President, Human Resources, March 2020 through December
2022; Corporate Human Resources Officer, October 2018 through March 2020;
Director, EFL, EIC, Flagship, ENY and EPC.

Lorianne Feltz 54 Executive Vice President, Claims & Customer Service since November 2016.

Julie M. Pelkowski 54 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since May 2023; Senior Vice
President, Enterprise Office, March 2022 through April 2023; Senior Vice President
and Controller, August 2016 through February 2022; Director, EFL, EIC, Flagship,
ENY and EPC.

Douglas E. Smith 49 Executive Vice President, Sales & Products since November 2016.

Parthasarathy Srinivasa 52 Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer since joining the Company
in April 2022. Prior to joining the Company: Senior Vice President and Chief Data
and Insurance Information Officer Verisk Analytics, 2019 through April 2022; Chief
Information and Operations Officer Safe Auto Insurance (now Allstate Corporation),
2016 through 2019.

75

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/922621/000092262123000021/eriecodeofconduct.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/922621/000092262123000021/eriecodeofconduct.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/922621/000092262116000082/ex-14406012016.htm


Table of Contents

ITEM 11.     EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 
The information required by this item with respect to executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

ITEM 12.     SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

 
The information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and securities authorized for issuance under equity
compensation plans, is incorporated by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

ITEM 13.     CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
 

Information with respect to certain relationships with our outside directors is incorporated by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

ITEM 14.     PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information statement on Schedule 14C to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.
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PART IV 

ITEM 15.     EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 
(a)   The following documents are filed as part of this report:
 

1.              Financial Statements
Included in Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" contained in this report.

 
Erie Indemnity Company:
• Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

• Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Financial Statements 

• Statements of Operations for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

• Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

• Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 

• Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

• Statements of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

• Notes to Financial Statements

 
2.              Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are not required, not applicable, or the information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.    

Page
3. Exhibit Index 78

ITEM 16.     FORM 10-K SUMMARY
 
None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

(Pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K)

Exhibit
 

Number Description of Exhibit
   
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Registrant dated April 19, 2011. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit

No. 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on August 2, 2011.
3.2 Erie Indemnity Company Amended and Restated Bylaws dated April 30, 2019. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10

to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the Commission on May 3, 2019.
4.1 Erie Indemnity Company Description of Capital Stock. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form

10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 25, 2021.
10.1 Form of Subscriber’s Agreement whereby policyholders of Erie Insurance Exchange appoint Registrant as their Attorney-in-Fact. Such

exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on November 6,
2002.

10.2 Services Agreement between Erie Indemnity Company and Erie Family Life Insurance Company effective March 31, 2011. Such exhibit
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K that was filed with the Commission on March 31, 2011.

10.3 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Erie Indemnity Company and each Director and Executive Officer of Erie
Indemnity Company. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.108 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 26, 2009.

10.4* Erie Indemnity Company Annual Incentive Plan effective January 1, 2020. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.204
to the Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 27, 2020.

   
10.5* Erie Indemnity Company Long-Term Incentive Plan (Effective as of January 1, 2020). Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to

Appendix A to the Registrant's Information Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed with the Commission on
March 20, 2020.

10.6* Erie Indemnity Company Equity Compensation Plan (As Amended and Restated April 26, 2022), dated June 28, 2022. Such exhibit is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on July 28, 2022.

10.7 Appointment of Administrator to Deferred Compensation Plan of Erie Indemnity Company, Erie Indemnity Company Incentive
Compensation Deferral Plan, and Supplemental Retirement Plan for Certain Members of the Erie Insurance Group Retirement Plan for
Employees, dated December 21, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.224 to the Registrant's Form 10-K that
was filed with the Commission on February 24, 2022.

10.8* Deferred Compensation Plan of Erie Indemnity Company (As Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2009). Such exhibit is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.104 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 26, 2009.

10.9* Appendix B to Deferred Compensation Plan of Erie Indemnity Company (As Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2019).
Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on July 25,
2019.

10.10* Second Amendment to Appendix B to Deferred Compensation Plan of Erie Indemnity Company (As Amended and Restated Effective
as of January 1, 2009), dated December 24, 2020. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.209 to the Registrant’s Form
10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 25, 2021.

10.11* Third Amendment to Deferred Compensation Plan of Erie Indemnity Company (As Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2009), dated
December 21, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.223 to the Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 24, 2022.

10.12* Post-2021 Deferred Compensation Plan of the Erie Indemnity Company, effective January 1, 2022, dated December 9, 2021. Such
exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.218 to the Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 24,
2022.

10.13* Erie Indemnity Company Incentive Compensation Deferral Plan (Effective January 1, 2017), dated December 7, 2016. Such exhibit is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.177 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 23, 2017.
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10.14* First Amendment to Erie Indemnity Company Incentive Compensation Deferral Plan (Effective January 1, 2017), dated July 1, 2019.

Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on July 25,
2019.

10.15* Second Amendment to Erie Indemnity Company Incentive Compensation Deferral Plan (Effective as of January 1, 2017), dated
December 24, 2020. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.207 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 25, 2021.

10.16* Third Amendment to Erie Indemnity Company Incentive Compensation Deferral Plan (Effective as of January 1, 2017), dated
December 21, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.222 to the Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 24, 2022.

10.17* Erie Indemnity Company Deferred Stock Plan for Outside Directors (As Amended and Restated as of April 25, 2023), dated April 25,
2023. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to the Appendix to the Registrant’s Information Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders filed with the Commission on March 24, 2023.

10.18* Erie Indemnity Company Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors (As Amended and Restated as of July 29, 2015), dated
October 20, 2015. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.158 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 25, 2016.

10.19* First Amendment to Erie Indemnity Company Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors (As of July 29, 2015), dated
December 21, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.217 to the Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 24, 2022.

10.20* Erie Insurance Group Retirement Plan for Employees (As Amended and Restated Effective December 31, 2022), dated June 19, 2023.
Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on July 27,
2023.

10.21+* First Amendment to Erie Insurance Group Retirement Plan for Employees (As Amended and Restated Effective December 31, 2022),
dated December 19, 2023.

10.22* Supplemental Retirement Plan for Certain Members of the Erie Insurance Group Retirement Plan for Employees (Amended and
Restated as of January 1, 2023), dated August 15, 2023. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on October 26, 2023.

10.23* Erie Insurance Group Employee Savings Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective as of January 1, 2023), dated June 19, 2023. Such
exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission on July 27, 2023.

10.24 Credit Agreement by and among Erie Indemnity Company and PNC Bank, National Association, dated as of November 7, 2016. Such
exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the Commission on November 14,
2016.

10.25 First Amendment to Credit Agreement by and between Erie Indemnity Company and PNC Bank, National Association, dated as of
December 13, 2016. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the
Commission on January 24, 2018.

10.26 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement by and between Erie Indemnity Company and PNC Bank, National Association, dated as of
January 22, 2018. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the
Commission on January 24, 2018.

10.27 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement by and between Erie Indemnity Company and PNC Bank, National Association, dated as of
November 13, 2018. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the
Commission on November 14, 2018.

10.28 Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement by and between Erie Indemnity Company and PNC Bank, National Association, dated as of
December 28, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.225 to the Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the
Commission on February 24, 2022.

10.29 Pledge Agreement made by Erie Indemnity Company in favor of PNC Bank, National Association, dated as of November 7, 2016. Such
exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the Commission on November 14,
2016.

10.30 Credit Agreement among PNC Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent; the Lenders named therein; and Erie Indemnity
Company, dated October 29, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed
with the Commission on November 4, 2021.
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10.31 Pledge Agreement made by Erie Indemnity Company in favor of PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, for itself and

certain other Lenders, dated October 29, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K
that was filed with the Commission on November 4, 2021.

10.32 Agreement of Lease between Erie Insurance Exchange and Erie Indemnity Company for the Erie Insurance Home Office Campus, dated
July 1, 2021. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q that was filed with the Commission
on October 28, 2021.

10.33 Amendment to Agreement of Lease between Erie Insurance Exchange and Erie Indemnity Company for the Erie Insurance Home Office
Campus, (As of July 1, 2021), dated January 1, 2022. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.226 to the Registrant's
Form 10-K that was filed with the Commission on February 24, 2022.

10.34 Second Amendment to Agreement of Lease between Erie Insurance Exchange and Erie Indemnity Company for the Erie Insurance
Home Office Campus, (As of July 1, 2021), dated January 1, 2023. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the
Registrant's Form 10-K that was filed with the Commission on March 1, 2023.

14.1 Code of Conduct. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K that was filed with the
Commission on October 26, 2023.

14.2 Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers. Such exhibit is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K that
was filed with the Commission on June 1, 2016.

19.1+ Policies with Respect to Securities Trades by Insiders, dated December 5, 2023.
23+ Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1+ Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2+ Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32++ Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
97.1+ Policy on Recoupment of Officer Bonuses in Certain Situations (As Amended and Restated July 25, 2023).
101.INS+ Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104+ Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
*    Indicates management compensatory plan, contract, or arrangement.


+    Filed herewith.

++    Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

February 26, 2024 ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
 

 

(Registrant)
 

     
By:   /s/ Timothy G. NeCastro

 

 

Timothy G. NeCastro, President and CEO
 

 

(Principal Executive Officer)
 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant
and in the capacities and on the date indicated.
 

February 26, 2024 /s/ Timothy G. NeCastro
 

 

Timothy G. NeCastro, President and CEO
 

 

(Principal Executive Officer)
 

     
 

/s/ Julie M. Pelkowski
 

 

Julie M. Pelkowski, Executive Vice President and CFO
 

 

(Principal Financial Officer)
 

     
 

/s/ Jorie L. Novacek
 

 

Jorie L. Novacek, Senior Vice President and Controller
 

 

(Principal Accounting Officer)
 

 
Board of Directors:

 

/s/ J. Ralph Borneman, Jr.
 

/s/ C. Scott Hartz
J. Ralph Borneman, Jr.

 

C. Scott Hartz
   
/s/ Eugene C. Connell

 

/s/ Brian A. Hudson, Sr.
Eugene C. Connell

 

Brian A. Hudson, Sr.
 

/s/ Salvatore Correnti
 

/s/ George R. Lucore
Salvatore Correnti

 

George R. Lucore
 

/s/ LuAnn Datesh
 

/s/ Thomas W. Palmer
LuAnn Datesh

 

Thomas W. Palmer
     
/s/ Jonathan Hirt Hagen

 

Jonathan Hirt Hagen
 

Elizabeth Hirt Vorsheck
     
/s/ Thomas B. Hagen

 

Thomas B. Hagen, Chairman
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Exhibit 10.21

FIRST AMENDMENT TO

ERIE INSURANCE GROUP

RETIREMENT PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES

(As Amended and Restated effective December 31, 2022)

WHEREAS, Erie Indemnity Company (the “Company”) maintains the Erie Insurance Group Retirement Plan for Employees (the

“Plan”) under an amendment and restatement effective December 31, 2022;

WHEREAS, the Plan provides that the Company may amend the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to amend the Plan to reflect the availability of a lump sum option effective December 31, 2023.

NOW, THEREFORE, effective as of December 31, 2023, the Company hereby amends the Plan by adding Section 7.7(g), Limited

Lump Sum Option For Eligible Persons, as set forth in Attachment A.

* * * * * * *

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Amendment to be executed this 19th day of December, 2023.

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
ATTEST:

/s/ Nathaniel Ehrman By: /s/ Brian W. Bolash

Title:
Executive Vice President


Secretary & General Counsel



Attachment A

Section 7.7(g) Limited Lump Sum Option for Eligible Persons

(g) Under the terms of this Section 7.7(g), an Eligible Person may make an EP Window Benefit Election during the EP Window

Election Period to commence payment of the Plan interest maintained on his behalf in the form of a lump sum or an annuity (each as

determined below) as of an EP Window Commencement Date. The provisions of this Section 7.7(g) shall be an alternative method

by which an Eligible Person may receive his Plan interest and does not change or eliminate payment options otherwise available to

an Eligible Person under Plan provisions other than this Section 7.7(g).

(i)    Definitions. For purposes of this Section 7.7(g), the terms set forth below shall have the meanings set forth below.

(A)

(B)    The term “Eligible Person” shall mean an individual on whose behalf a benefit interest is maintained under the Plan

and who satisfies (1), (2) and (3) below, as determined solely in the discretion of the Administrator:

(1) The individual is either:

(aa)    a Participant who has terminated employment with the Company and all Affiliates on or after December

31, 2023;

(bb)    a surviving Spouse of a Participant who experiences his Date of Severance due to death on or after

December 31, 2023 or of a Participant who both has terminated employment with the Company and

all Affiliates for a reason other than death and then dies during his EP Window Election Period; or

(cc)    an alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order (as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code)

that is qualified by the Administrator on or after December 31, 2023 and which assigns, as a

separate interest, all or a portion of the Plan benefit maintained on behalf of a Participant (“Alternate

Payee”); and

(2)    The actuarial equivalent present value of the vested Plan interest maintained on behalf of such individual,

determined under this Section



7.7(g) as of the Present Value Determination Date, is in excess of $5,000 and not in excess of $100,000; and

(3) As of the Present Value Determination Date, or such other date of determination as determined by the

Administrator, the individual’s Plan interest can reasonably be determined based on data available to the

Administrator, the individual can be located by the Administrator after a diligent search and the individual has

not commenced payment of his Plan interest under the provisions of the Plan other than this Section 7.7(g);

provided, however, that an Eligible Person shall not include any individual whose participation in the Payment Option

Window described in this Section 7.7(g) would administratively be impracticable, as the Administrator may advise the

Company.

(C)    The term “EP Window Benefit Election” shall mean the written election made by an Eligible Person, in accordance

with such rules and procedures as the Administrator may apply, to receive or commence to receive his Plan interest

under the terms of this Section 7.7(g). For an EP Window Benefit Election to be valid, the EP Window Benefit

Election by any Eligible Person who is a Participant must satisfy the requirements for spousal consent, if otherwise

applicable under Section 7.6, and the completed EP Window Benefit Election form must be signed, dated and received

in good form by the Administrator or its delegate within the EP Window Election Period. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, any Eligible Person who makes an election to receive payment or commence to receive payment pursuant to

this Section 7.7(g) shall have the ability to revoke any such election by contacting the Administrator or its delegate on

or before the EP Window Commencement Date applicable to that Eligible Person in the means described in

communications provided to the Eligible Person.

(D)    The term “EP Window Commencement Date” shall mean the future permissible date elected by an Eligible Person to

commence payment under this Section 7.7(g), although the date of actual payment may be delayed for administrative

reasons. The EP Window Commencement Date for any given Eligible Person shall be the first day of a month that both

(1) is a month that begins within the EP Window Election Period or is the month next following the close of the EP

Window Election Period and (2) follows the date the Administrator or its delegate furnishes the Eligible Person with

the election materials described in Section 7.5.



(E)    The term “EP Window Election Period” shall mean the special election period during which an Eligible Person may

elect to receive payment or commence to receive payment of the Plan interest maintained on his behalf as of an EP

Window Commencement Date, even if such Eligible Person has not satisfied the eligibility conditions that otherwise

would be required to commence payment of such Plan interest (determined without regard to this Section 7.7(g)). The

EP Window Election Period for any given Eligible Person shall begin on the date the Administrator or its delegate

issues a Plan benefit statement or notice to the Eligible Person and shall end on the 180  day following the date such

statement is issued or such later date established by the Administrator in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner.

(F)    The term “Present Value Determination Date” shall mean the date the Administrator or its delegate determines the

actuarial equivalent present value of an Eligible Person’s Plan interest pursuant to a nondiscriminatory and uniform

procedure adopted by the Administrator.

(G)    The term “Section 417(e) Assumptions” shall mean the applicable interest rate promulgated by the Secretary of the

Treasury under Section 417(e)(3)(C) of the Code for the fourth calendar month preceding the first day of the Plan Year

in which the distribution is payable and the mortality assumptions prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury for such

Plan Year pursuant to Section 417(e)(3)(B) of the Code.

(ii)    Lump Sum Payment Determination. For any Eligible Person who makes a valid EP Window Benefit Election and elects to

receive payment of the Plan interest maintained on his behalf in the form of a lump sum, the lump sum payment shall be determined

as follows:

(A)    Participants Otherwise Eligible for Immediate Commencement. With respect to an Eligible Person who is a Participant

and who is eligible for immediate commencement of payment as of the EP Window Commencement Date under the

provisions of the Plan other than this Section 7.7(g), the lump sum payment shall be the greater of the actuarial

equivalent present values of the following amounts, each determined by using the Section 417(e) Assumptions:

(1)    the Eligible Person’s Plan interest, payable in the form of a single life annuity for the Eligible Person’s life,

commencing as of the Normal Retirement Date of the Participant who is the Eligible Person; and

th



(2) the Eligible Person’s Plan interest, payable in the form of a single life annuity for the Eligible Person’s life

commencing as of the EP Window Commencement Date.

(B)    Participants Not Otherwise Eligible for Immediate Commencement. With respect to an Eligible Person who is a

Participant and who is not eligible for immediate commencement of payment as of the EP Window Commencement

Date under the provisions of the Plan other than this Section 7.7(g), the lump sum payment shall be the actuarial

equivalent present value of the Eligible Person’s Plan interest, payable in the form of a single life annuity for the

Eligible Person’s life, commencing as of the Normal Retirement Date of the Participant who is the Eligible Person,

determined by using the Section 417(e) Assumptions.

(C)    Eligible Persons Who are Not Participants. The following provisions shall apply with respect to an Eligible Person who

is not a Participant:

1)    Surviving Spouse. With respect to an Eligible Person who is a surviving Spouse, the lump sum payment shall be

the actuarial equivalent present value of such Eligible Person’s Plan interest, payable in the form of a survivor

annuity commencing as of the earliest date commencement is permitted under Article VIII, determined by using

the Section 417(e) Assumptions.

2)    Alternate Payees. With respect to an Eligible Person who is an Alternate Payee, the lump sum payment shall be

the actuarial equivalent present value of such Eligible Person’s Plan interest, payable in the form of a life

annuity payable over such Eligible Person’s lifetime only, commencing as of the earliest retirement age (as

defined in Section 414(p) of the Code) of the Participant with respect to whom the Alternate Payee has a Plan

interest, determined by using the Section 417(e) Assumptions.

Any lump sum payment pursuant to this Section 7.7(g) shall fully settle the Plan’s liability with respect to an Eligible

Person and no further benefit of any type shall be payable to, or on behalf of, such Eligible Person hereunder with

respect to the Plan interest paid as a lump sum.

(iii)    Immediate Annuity Payment. For any Eligible Person who makes a valid EP Window Benefit Election and elects to receive

payment of the Plan interest maintained on his behalf in a form other than a lump sum payment, the Eligible Person shall be entitled

to elect payment in an



immediately commencing annuity in the following optional forms and determined in accordance with the following provisions:

(A)    Participants Otherwise Eligible for Immediate Commencement. With respect to an Eligible Person who is a Participant

and who is eligible for immediate commencement of payment as of the EP Window Commencement Date under the

provisions of the Plan other than this Section 7.7(g), such Eligible Person’s Plan interest shall be payable in one of the

following optional annuity forms as such Eligible Person may elect, and the following early reduction factors and

actuarial factors shall apply in the determination of such payment:

(1)    Forms. The optional forms from which such Eligible Person may elect payment of his immediately commencing

annuity shall be all of the annuity payment forms that would otherwise have been available to such Eligible

Person under the Plan had he made a valid election to commence payment of his Plan interest as of the EP

Window Commencement Date (determined without regard to this Section 7.7(g)).

(2)    Reduction for Early Commencement, Increase for Late Commencement and Actuarial Factors. To the extent

otherwise applicable under the Plan, actuarial factors for determining the reduction of such Eligible Person’s

Plan interest due to early commencement, any increase of such Eligible Person’s Plan interest due to late

commencement and for determining actuarial equivalent benefits between available forms of annuity, shall be

the factors that would have applied if such Eligible Person had made a valid election to commence payment of

his Plan interest, with a benefit commencement date of the EP Window Commencement Date, and had elected

the same form of immediately commencing annuity elected by such Eligible Person in his EP Window Benefit

Election (all determined without regard to this Section 7.7(g)).

(B)    Participants Not Otherwise Eligible for Immediate Commencement. With respect to an Eligible Person who is a

Participant and who is not eligible for immediate commencement of payment as of the EP Window Commencement

Date under the provisions of the Plan other than this Section 7.7(g), such Eligible Person’s Plan interest shall be

payable in one of the following optional annuity forms as such Eligible Person may elect, and the following early

reduction factors and actuarial factors shall apply in the determination of such payment:



(1)    Forms. The optional forms from which such Eligible Person may elect payment of his immediately commencing

annuity shall be the Automatic Surviving Spouse’s Pension described in Section 7.5 of the Plan, the 75% Joint

and Survivor Option described in Section 7.7 with his Spouse as Beneficiary (provided, for both such options,

such Eligible Participant is married to a Spouse as of the EP Window Commencement Date) and the single life

annuity described in Section 7.3 of the Plan.

(2)    Early Reduction and Actuarial Factors. Actuarial factors for determining the reduction to be applied to such

Eligible Person’s Plan interest payable at Normal Retirement Date to reflect early commencement, and for

determining actuarial equivalent benefits between available forms of annuity, shall be based on the Section

417(e) Assumptions.

(C)    Eligible Persons Who are Not Participants. The following provisions shall apply with respect to an Eligible Person who

is not a Participant:

1)    Surviving Spouse. With respect to an Eligible Person who is a surviving Spouse, such Eligible Person may elect,

in lieu of the lump sum benefit provided under subparagraph (ii)(C)(1) above, to receive payment as a survivor

annuity determined in accordance with Article VIII. If such Eligible Person is not otherwise eligible to

commence a survivor annuity under Article VIII as of the EP Window Commencement Date, such Eligible

Person may elect under this Section 7.7(g) to receive a survivor annuity payable over such Eligible Person’s

lifetime only, commencing as of the EP Window Commencement Date, which shall be the actuarial equivalent

of such lump sum benefit determined by using the Section 417(e) Assumptions.

(2)    Alternate Payees. With respect to an Eligible Person who is an Alternate Payee, such Eligible Person may elect,

in lieu of the lump sum benefit provided under subparagraph (ii)(C)(2) above, to receive payment at such time

and in such form of benefit as otherwise provided in the qualified domestic relations order that has assigned a

Plan interest to the Alternate Payee. If such Eligible Person is not otherwise eligible to commence his Plan

interest as of the EP Window Commencement Date under the terms of the applicable qualified domestic

relations order, such Eligible Person may elect under this Section 7.7(g) to receive his Plan interest as an

annuity



payable over such Eligible Person’s lifetime only, commencing as of the EP Window Commencement Date,

which shall be the actuarial equivalent of such lump sum benefit determined by using the Section 417(e)

Assumptions.

(iv)    Form and Validity of Elections. All EP Window Benefit Elections must be made in writing on a form and in a manner provided

by the Administrator as set forth on such form and must be received in good form by the Administrator or its delegate within an

administratively feasible time period prior to the end of the EP Window Election Period, as determined by the Administrator. The

Administrator shall have the authority to determine the validity and sufficiency of any EP Window Benefit Election.

(v)    Death of Eligible Person After Valid Election and Before Commencement. Subject to the provisions of Article VIII, in the event

an Eligible Person who is a Participant and who has made a valid EP Window Benefit Election to receive a lump sum payment dies

before the EP Window Commencement Date, the Participant’s surviving Spouse shall be paid the lump sum to which such

Participant was otherwise eligible under this Section 7.7(g) or, in lieu thereof, such Spouse may elect to receive a survivor annuity

payable over such Spouse’s lifetime only, commencing as of the EP Window Commencement Date, which shall be the actuarial

equivalent of such lump sum benefit using the Section 417(e) Assumptions. If such deceased Participant has no surviving Spouse, the

lump sum shall be paid to such Participant’s estate. Any such payment shall be made as soon as administratively practicable

following such Participant’s EP Window Commencement Date. In the event an Eligible Person who is a not Participant and who has

made a valid EP Window Benefit Election dies before the EP Window Commencement Date, the Eligible Person’s EP Window

Benefit Election shall become null and void and such Eligible Person shall be entitled to such Plan interest as may be provided under

the provisions of the Plan other than this Section 7.7(g), if any.

(vif) Administration. The Administrator shall have the authority to make and enforce all such rules and procedures as it deems

necessary or proper for the administration of this Section 7.7(g).



Exhibit 19.1

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY
POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO

SECURITIES TRADES BY INSIDERS

Securities Trades by Erie Indemnity Company Personnel and Others

It is the policy of Erie Indemnity Company (the “Company”) that no director, officer or other employee of the Company
who is aware of material  nonpublic information relating to the Company (a “Covered Person”) may, directly or through family
members or other persons or entities, (a) buy or sell securities of the Company (other than pursuant to a pre-approved trading
plan that complies with SEC Rule 10b5-1), or engage in any other action to take personal advantage of that information
(commonly referred to as “insider trading”), or (b) pass that information on to others outside the Company, including family and
friends (commonly referred to as “tipping”). This policy applies to all transactions in the Company’s securities (collectively
referred to in this Policy as “Company securities”), including the Company’s common stock, options to purchase common stock,
or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but not limited to) preferred stock, convertible debentures
and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as exchange-traded put or call options or
swaps relating to the Company’s securities.

In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee of the Company who, in the course
of working for the Company, learns of material nonpublic information about a company with which the Company does business,
including a customer or supplier of the Company, may trade in that company's securities or disclose or “tip” any such information
until the information becomes public or is no longer material.

Material nonpublic information, whether positive or negative, includes, but is not limited to, quarterly or annual earnings
results; mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, joint ventures, divestitures or other changes in assets; increases or reductions in
dividends; entry into or termination of a significant contract; management changes or changes in control; significant events that
impact the Erie Insurance Exchange for which the Company acts as attorney-in-fact, such as proposed rate increases or the
financial impact of catastrophic events; major litigation; establishment or modification of a program to buy the Company's own
shares; new services, products, developments or geographic expansion; change in auditors or disagreements with auditors;
deterioration in the Company’s credit status or industry ratings; changes in applicable insurance laws, rules or regulations;
significant changes in the value or liquidity of the Company’s securities; and the investigation or occurrence of a cybersecurity
incident. When in doubt,

 Information is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would (i) consider it important in making an investment
decision and (ii) view the fact as having significantly altered the total mix of information available.
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information obtained as an employee of the Company should be presumed to be material and not public.

Any written or verbal statement that would be prohibited under the law or under this policy is equally prohibited if made
on social media platforms like Facebook, Twitter, Snapchat or Instagram, or if made on electronic bulletin boards, chat rooms,
blogs or websites, including the disclosure or “tipping” of material non-public information about the Company or any company
with which the Company does business.

The insider trading policy also applies to family members and anyone else who lives in the same household as a Covered
Person. Family members who do not live in the same household as a Covered Person, but whose transactions in Company
securities are directed by or subject to the influence or control of a Covered Person (e.g. parents or children who consult with a
Covered Person before they trade in Company securities), are also subject to the terms of this insider trading policy. Covered
Persons are responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer
with the Covered Person before they trade in the Company's securities.

This policy also applies to any entities influenced or controlled by Covered Persons and transactions by these entities are
treated for purposes of this policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for the account of the Covered Person. In
addition, this policy applies to independent insurance agents, contractors or consultants of the Company who have access to
material nonpublic information.

Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for personal reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency
expenditure) are not excepted from this policy and the securities laws do not recognize such mitigating circumstances. This
policy continues to apply to a Covered Person’s transactions in Company securities even after such person has terminated
employment or board service. A Covered Person who is in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company
when his or her employment or board service terminates may not trade in Company securities until that information has become
public or is no longer material.

Prohibition on Margin Accounts and Pledging

Company securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral for a loan may be sold without the consent of the
holder of the Company securities by the broker if the holder fails to meet a margin call or by the lender in foreclosure if the
holder defaults on the loan. A margin or foreclosure sale that occurs when a person subject to this policy is aware of material
nonpublic information may, under some circumstances, result in unlawful insider trading. Because of this risk, such persons are
prohibited from pledging Company securities as collateral for a loan and are also prohibited from holding Company securities in
a margin account unless (i) no security in such account is purchased on margin or (ii) such account permits the holder to exclude
the Company securities from being pledged as collateral for such margin account.
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Pre-Clearance Procedures

To help prevent inadvertent violations of the federal securities laws and to avoid even the appearance of trading on inside
information, directors and certain officers of the Company and any other persons designated by the Company as being subject to
the Company's pre-clearance procedures, together with their family members, may not engage in any transaction in the
Company's securities (including a gift, contribution to a trust, or similar transfer) or make, change or terminate an election under
any Company plan without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from either the Company's General Counsel or his or
her designee (the "Designated Corporate Official"). A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to the Designated Corporate
Official at least two days in advance of the proposed transaction. If a request for pre-clearance is approved, the transaction must
be effected within five business days (or, if sooner, before commencement of a quarterly or event-specific blackout period). The
Designated Corporate Official is under no obligation to approve a trade submitted for pre-clearance, may determine not to permit
a trade and may revoke his or her approval at any time by oral, email or written notice.

Pre-clearance is not required for purchases and sales of securities under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan (see below) once the
applicable cooling-off period has expired. No trades may be made under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan until expiration of the
applicable cooling-off period. With respect to any purchase or sale under an Approved 10b5-1 Plan, the Covered Person should
direct the third-party affecting transactions on their behalf to send duplicate confirmations of all such transactions to the
Company's General Counsel or the Designated Corporate Official.

Blackout Periods

Quarterly Blackout Periods. The Company's announcement of its quarterly financial results has the potential to have a material
effect on the market for the Company's securities. Therefore, persons who are or may be expected to be aware of the Company's
quarterly financial results generally will not be pre-cleared to trade in the Company's securities during the period beginning on
the day after each of the Company's fiscal quarters ends and ending 48 hours following the Company's analyst conference call for
that fiscal quarter. Persons subject to these quarterly blackout periods include all directors and officers, all employees who are
involved with the preparation and disclosure of the Company’s financial results, and such other persons who are informed by the
Company that they are subject to the blackout periods.

The Company may on occasion issue interim earnings guidance or other potentially material information by means of a
press release, SEC filing on Form 8-K or other means designed to achieve widespread dissemination of the information. In these
situations, trades are unlikely to be pre-cleared while the Company is in the process of assembling the information to be released
and until the information has been released and fully absorbed by the market, which is typically 48 hours after the release.
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Event-specific Blackout Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a
few directors or officers. So long as the event remains material and non-public, directors, officers, and such other persons as are
designated by the Company may not trade in the Company's securities. The existence of an event-specific blackout will not be
announced, other than to those who are aware of the event giving rise to the blackout. If, however, a person whose trades are
subject to pre-clearance requests permission to trade in the Company's securities during an event-specific blackout, the
Designated Corporate Official shall inform the requester of the existence of a blackout period, without disclosing the reason for
the blackout. Any person made aware of the existence of an event-specific blackout should not disclose the existence of the
blackout to any other person. The failure of the Designated Corporate Official to designate a person as being subject to an event-
specific blackout will not relieve that person of the obligation not to trade while aware of material non-public information.

Quarterly and Event-specific Blackout Periods do not apply to transactions under a pre-existing written plan, contract,
instruction, or arrangement under Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (an "Approved 10b5-1 Plan") that meet
the following requirements:

(i) it has been reviewed and approved by the Company's General Counsel or Designated Corporate Official at least five
days in advance of being entered into (or, if revised or amended, such proposed revisions or amendments have been reviewed and
approved by the Compliance Officer or the Designated Corporate Official at least five days in advance of being entered into);

(ii) it provides that no trades may occur thereunder until expiration of the applicable cooling-off period specified in Rule
10b5-1(c)(ii)(B), and no trades occur until after that time. The appropriate cooling-off period will vary based on the status of the
Covered Person entering into the plan. For directors and officers, the cooling-off period ends on the later of (x) ninety days after
adoption or certain modifications of the 10b5-1 plan; or (y) two business days following disclosure of the Company's financial
results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the quarter in which the 10b5-1 plan was adopted. For all other Covered Persons, the
cooling-off period ends 30 days after adoption or modification of the 10b5-1 plan. This required cooling-off period will apply to
the entry into a new 10b5-1 plan and any revision or modification of a 10b5-1 plan;

(iii) it is entered into in good faith, and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1, at a time
when the Covered Person is not in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company; and, if the Covered Person
is a director or officer, the 10b5-1 plan must include representations by person certifying to that effect;

(iv) it gives a third party the discretionary authority to execute such purchases and sales, outside the control of the
Covered Person, so long as such third party does not possess any material nonpublic information about the Company; or
explicitly specifies the security or securities to be
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purchased or sold, the number of shares, the prices and/or dates of transactions, or other formula(s) describing such transactions;
(v) it is the only outstanding Approved 10b5-1 Plan entered into by the Covered Person (subject to the exceptions set out

in Rule 10b5-1(c)(ii)(D)); and

(vi) no approved 10b5-1 Plan may be adopted during a blackout period. Covered Persons considering entering,
modifying, or terminating an Approved 10b5-1 Plan or with any questions regarding Approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans should contact
the Company's General Counsel or the Designated Corporate Official. Covered Persons should consult their own legal and tax
advisors before entering into, or modifying or terminating, an Approved 10b5-1 Plan. A trading plan, contract, instruction or
arrangement will not qualify as an Approved 10b5-1 Plan without the prior review and approval of the Company's General
Counsel or the Designated Corporate Official as described above.

Hardship Exceptions. A person who is subject to a quarterly earnings blackout period and who has an unexpected and urgent
need to sell Company stock in order to generate cash may, in appropriate circumstances, be permitted to sell Company stock even
during the blackout period. Hardship exceptions may be granted only by the Designated Corporate Official and must be requested
at least two days in advance of the proposed trade. A hardship exception may be granted only if the Designated Corporate
Official concludes that the Company's earnings information for the applicable quarter does not constitute material non-public
information. Under no circumstances will a hardship exception be granted during an event-specific blackout period.

Post-Termination Transactions. An individual who is aware of material non-public information when terminating his or her
service as a director, officer or other employee of the Company may not trade in the Company's securities until that information
has become public or is no longer material. In all other respects, the procedures set forth above will cease to apply to such
person’s transactions in Company securities upon the expiration of any "blackout period" that is applicable to any transactions at
the time of termination of service.

Section 16 Compliance

Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires directors and certain officers of the Company to file
reports of their transactions in Company stock with the SEC. Reportable transactions include all acquisitions and dispositions of
Company stock (e.g. purchases or sales in the open market or in the Company’s 401(k) Plan, gifts made or received, distributions
of stock from the Company under an equity compensation plan, etc.). These reporting requirements may also extend to family
members of a director or officer.

Compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 16 is the obligation of the director or officer who trades in
Company securities. However, the Company will provide assistance with filing such reports. A Form 4 (Statement of Changes in
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Beneficial Ownership) must be filed by the end of the second business day after the transaction. In order to meet this filing
deadline, directors and officers must supply the following trade information immediately following the execution of a transaction:

• Transaction date (e.g. the trade date for brokerage transactions or the date of exercise for options);
• Number of securities acquired or disposed of;
• Whether the transaction involved a direct holding or an indirect holding (e.g. through an IRA account, a trust or an

affiliated company);
• Purchase or sale price per unit; and
• Any additional information requested by the Company.

This information must be sent by facsimile or email to the Company's Stock Transfer/Compliance Administrator. The Company
will then prepare the necessary documents and file the same with the SEC.

Consequences of Non-Compliance

Persons subject to this policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the
Company and to not engage in transactions in Company securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each
individual is responsible for making sure that he or she complies with this policy, and that any family member, household
member or entity whose transactions are subject to this policy also comply with this policy. In all cases, the responsibility for
determining whether an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that individual, and any action on
the part of the Company, the Designated Corporate Official or any other employee or director pursuant to this policy (or
otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws.

Violations of the insider trading laws can result in severe civil and criminal sanctions. Failure to comply with this policy
may also subject an individual to sanctions imposed by the Company, up to and including termination of employment, whether or
not the failure to comply with this policy results in a violation of law.

Any questions about this policy, its application to a proposed transaction, or the requirements of applicable laws should be
directed to the Corporate Secretary or General Counsel.

This Policy approved by the Board of
Directors of Erie Indemnity Company
on December 5, 2023.
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Exhibit 23
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-218739) pertaining to the Erie Indemnity Company Incentive Compensation Deferral Plan,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-188244) pertaining to the Erie Indemnity Company Equity Compensation Plan,
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-148705) pertaining to the Erie Indemnity Company 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan, Erie Indemnity

Company 1997 Long-Term Incentive Plan, and Erie Indemnity Company Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors,
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-82062) pertaining to the Erie Indemnity Company Long-Term Incentive Plan,
(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-53318) pertaining to the Erie Indemnity Company Long-Term Incentive Plan

of our reports dated February 26, 2024, with respect to the financial statements of Erie Indemnity Company and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Erie Indemnity Company included in this Annual Report (Form
10-K) of Erie Indemnity Company for the year ended December 31, 2023.

 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
Indianapolis, Indiana
February 26, 2024



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I, Timothy G. NeCastro, certify that:
 

1.              I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Erie Indemnity Company;
 
2.              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.              The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a.              Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b.             Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c.              Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d.             Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's fourth

fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

 
5.              The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
 

a.              All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.             Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 26, 2024
 

   
 

/s/ Timothy G. NeCastro
 

Timothy G. NeCastro
 

President & CEO



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I, Julie M. Pelkowski, certify that:
 

1.              I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Erie Indemnity Company;
 
2.              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.              The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a.              Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b.             Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c.              Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d.             Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's fourth

fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

 
5.              The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
 

a.              All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b.             Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 26, 2024
 

   
 

/s/ Julie M. Pelkowski
 

Julie M. Pelkowski
 

Executive Vice President & CFO



Exhibit 32
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
We, Timothy G. NeCastro, Chief Executive Officer of the Erie Indemnity Company (the "Company"), and Julie M. Pelkowski, Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. § 1350, that:
 

(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2023 (the "Report") fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Timothy G. NeCastro
 

Timothy G. NeCastro
 

President & CEO
 

   
/s/ Julie M. Pelkowski

 

Julie M. Pelkowski
 

Executive Vice President & CFO
 

   
   
February 26, 2024

 

 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 97.1

ERIE INDEMNITY COMPANY

POLICY ON RECOUPMENT OF
OFFICER BONUSES IN CERTAIN SITUATIONS

(As Amended and Restated July 25, 2023)

1. Introduction

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Erie Indemnity Company, a Pennsylvania corporation (the “Company”), hereby amends
and restates this Policy on Recoupment of Officer Bonuses in Certain Situations (“Policy”) to incorporate the requirements of Rule 5608
of the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) Listing Rules (“Rule 5608”) to its pre-existing written policy for the recoupment of certain
bonuses. This Policy was originally effective December 9, 2008 and the amended and restated version takes effect July 25, 2023 (the
“Effective Date”).

2. Definitions

For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have their respective meanings set forth below:

(a)      “AIP” means the Company’s Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and/or restated from time to time, including any
successor annual incentive plan thereto.

(b)      “Bonus” means and includes a payment of cash under the AIP, the payment of restricted shares, restricted share
units, or other share based awards under the ECP, the payment of cash or shares of common stock of the Company under the LTIP,
including any deferrals of a Bonus under an officer’s deferred compensation plan, and/or any other incentive-based compensation,
including any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting
Measure. For purposes of this Policy and the definition of the term “Bonus”, a financial reporting measure is one that is determined and
presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, as well as any measure
that is derived wholly or in part from such measures. For purposes of this Policy and the definition of the term “Bonus”, financial
reporting measures may also include the Company’s stock price and total shareholder return.

(c)        “Cause” means termination of employment of an Officer as a result of the Officer's fraud, gross misconduct,
repeated insubordination, conviction of a crime (felony or misdemeanor) involving moral turpitude or financial misconduct, or entry of a
plea of nolo contendere to any such crime, all as determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board or the Executive
Compensation and Development Committee of the Board of Directors of Erie Indemnity Company (the “Committee”).

(d)    “ECP” means the Company’s Equity Compensation Plan, as amended and/or restated from time to time, including
any successor equity compensation plan thereto.
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(e)    “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of incentive-based compensation received that exceeds
the amount of incentive-based compensation that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on the restated
amounts, computed without regard to any taxes paid.

(f)       “LTIP” means the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and/or restated from time to time, including
any successor long-term incentive plan thereto.

(g)        “Officer” or “Executive Officer” means an officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who is eligible for
participation in the AIP and/or LTIP. This includes but is not limited to the current or former president, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer (or if no principal accounting officer, the controller), any vice president of the Company in charge of a principal
business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who preforms a policy-making function,
or any other person who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company.

(h)        “Recovery Period” means the three (3) completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the
Restatement Date and any transaction period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) of less than nine (9) months
within or immediately following those three (3) completed fiscal years.

(i)       “Restatement Date” means the earlier of (i) the date that the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or
officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded,
that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement, and (ii) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body
directs the Company to prepare an accounting restatement.

3. Recoupment for Restatements

The Company will, to the extent permitted by governing law, require reimbursement of all or a portion of any incentive-based
Bonus paid to any Officer where: (a) the payment was erroneously awarded based on an accounting error resulting in restatement of the
Company’s financial results, and (b) a lower payment would have been made to the Officer based upon the restated financial results.

An accounting restatement requiring recoupment of Officer Bonuses under this Policy includes restatement of the Company’s
financial statement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities
laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements of the Company that is
material to the previously issued financial statements of the Company (commonly referred to as “Big R” restatements), and restatement
that corrects an error that is not material to previously issued financial statements of the Company, but would result in a material
misstatement if the error were not corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (commonly referred to as
“little r” restatements). For the avoidance of
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doubt, an accounting restatement shall not relate to any accounting restatement of a financial statement of Erie Insurance Exchange or
of any subsidiary of Erie Insurance Exchange.

Where a payment was erroneously awarded based on an accounting error resulting in restatement of the Company’s financials
and a lower payment would have been made to the Officer based upon the restated financial results, the Company will require
repayment by the Officer of the amount by which the individual Officer's Bonus for the relevant period exceeded the lower payment that
would have been made based on the restated financial results; provided that the Company will not require repayment of Bonuses under
this Policy paid more than three (3) years prior to the date that the Board and/or the Committee was first made aware of the need to
restate the Company's financial statements.

4. Recoupment for Terminations for Cause

The Company will, to the extent permitted by governing law, require reimbursement or cancellation of the full amount of any
Bonus paid to any Officer where the Officer's employment with the Company has been terminated for Cause either prior to the payment
of the Bonus or within six (6) months thereafter.

5. Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to
make all determinations necessary, appropriate or advisable for the administration of this Policy. Any determination made by the
Committee shall be final and binding on all persons.

In the event of an accounting restatement, the Committee shall reasonably promptly determine the amount of any Erroneously
Awarded Compensation received by each Officer during the recovery period in connection with the accounting restatement. The
Company’s obligation to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to the Policy is not dependent on whether or when the
restated financial statements are filed. In addition, the recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is required without regard to
whether any misconduct occurred or an Officer’s responsibility for the erroneous financial statements.

The Committee shall have broad discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovery of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation based on all applicable facts and circumstances.

6. Determination of Erroneously Awarded Compensation

The amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be determined by the Committee based on the particular facts and
circumstances and consistent with the principles of Rule 5608.

For incentive-based compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the accounting restatement, the Committee
shall
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determine the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the accounting
restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the incentive-based compensation was received. The Company
must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to Nasdaq.

7. Determination of Impracticable Recoupment

Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation and recovery for termination for cause under Section 4 shall not be required to
the extent that the Committee determines that recovery would be impracticable because of one or more of the following conditions:

(a)    The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered.
Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of
enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such
reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that documentation to Nasdaq.

(b)        Recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022. Before
concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home
country law, the Company must obtain an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to Nasdaq, that recovery would result in such a
violation, and must provide such opinion to Nasdaq.

(c)    Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available
to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the regulations thereunder.

8. Prohibition on Indemnification

The Company and its subsidiaries are prohibited from indemnifying any current or former Executive Officer (or other person)
against the loss of Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Policy and from paying the premiums on any insurance policy
protecting against the recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation. Neither the Company nor any subsidiary shall enter into any
agreement with any Executive Officer (or other person) that exempts any incentive-based compensation from the application of this
Policy or that waives the Company’s right to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and this Policy shall supersede any such
agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date).

9. Miscellaneous
(a)    Amendment and Termination. The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend

this Policy as it deems necessary. The Board may
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terminate this Policy at any time in favor of another policy that satisfies Rule 5608 or other legal requirements for the recoupment of
compensation. The Company’s Executive Vice President, Secretary & General Counsel, is authorized to amend or restate this Policy to
reflect any changes to this Policy approved by the Board.The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall
amend this Policy as it deems necessary. The Board may terminate this Policy at any time in favor of another policy that satisfies Rule
5608 or other legal requirements for the recoupment of compensation.

(b)    Application. The Board intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Board may require
that any employment agreement, Bonus award agreement, or any other agreement entered into on or after the Effective Date shall, as a
condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require an Officer to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy.

(c)    Offset. To the extent permitted by governing law, and notwithstanding any contrary provision in any plan, program
or agreement of the Company, the Company may offset any amounts an Officer is required to reimburse to the Company under this
Policy against any future payments owed to such Officer.

(d)    Other Recoupment Rights. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other
remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company or its subsidiaries under applicable law, regulation or rule, or
pursuant to the terms of any policy or in any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal
remedies available to the Company and its subsidiaries.

(e)    Successors. This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Officers and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors,
administrators or other legal representatives.
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